# Defining *Staphylococcus aureus* Virulence Factors in Bacterial Pneumonia and Influenza Super-infection

by

# Jennifer Anne Grousd

B.S., Grand Valley State University, 2016

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the School of Medicine in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

University of Pittsburgh

2022

## UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

## SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

This dissertation was presented

by

# Jennifer Anne Grousd

It was defended on

July 14, 2022

and approved by

Jennifer M. Bomberger, Associate Professor, Department of Microbiology & Molecular Genetics

Vaughn S. Cooper, Professor, Department of Microbiology & Molecular Genetics

John V. Williams, Professor, Department of Pediatrics

Anthony Richardson, Associate Professor, Department of Microbiology & Molecular Genetics

Dissertation Director: John F. Alcorn, Professor, Department of Pediatrics

Copyright © by Jennifer Anne Grousd

2022

# Defining *Staphylococcus aureus* Virulence Factors in Bacterial Pneumonia and Influenza Super-infection

Jennifer Anne Grousd, PhD

University of Pittsburgh, 2022

Staphylococcus aureus is an important pulmonary pathogen that can cause severe pneumonia and often complicates influenza infections. The emergence of methicillin-resistant S. aureus (MRSA) over the past few decades has made treatment more difficult in staphylococcal pneumonia and super-infection, due to antibiotic resistance and increased virulence compared to methicillinsensitive strains. Understanding how this pathogen can invade and establish infection in the lung is important for the development of future therapeutics. To understand the bacterial genetic requirements in both infection contexts, I established methods for S. aureus transposon sequencing in the lung. Successful establishment of infection by bacterial pathogens requires adhesion to host components. Staphylococcal species express a broad range of cell wall-anchored proteins (CWAs) that are involved in adhesion to host cells, extracellular matrix proteins, and bacterial biofilms as well as nutrient acquisition and immune evasion. CWAs have known roles in upper respiratory tract colonization; however, their role in the lung is unknown. Thus, I screened several CWA family members in the context of S. aureus pneumonia and influenza, S. aureus super-infection. Lacking individual CWAs during bacterial pneumonia had variable effects on bacterial burden, immune infiltrate, and acute lung injury. However, influenza was the main driver of superinfection susceptibility regardless of CWA mutant. CWAs did influence inflammatory signaling in both settings, suggesting that they maintain an impact on the immune system in the lung. To understand inflammation in the context of *S. aureus* pneumonia alone, I characterized the role of a cell membrane associated protein, second immunoglobulin-binding protein (Sbi). Sbi induced inflammation in the lung differently than the structurally related protein, staphylococcal protein A. Induction of inflammation was independent of Sbi antibody binding and may be due to its role in complement evasion. I then characterized a novel CWA, *S. aureus* surface protein D (SasD) in the context of pneumonia. Mice infected with a SasD mutant had decreased bacterial burden, inflammatory responses, and mortality compared to wildtype *S. aureus*. These data suggest that cell surface exposed proteins are important factors to investigate further in the context of *S. aureus* pulmonary infections and may be future therapeutic or vaccine targets.

# **Table of Contents**

List of Abbreviations xiv
Prefacexviii
1.0 Introduction1
1.1 Staphylococcus aureus 1
1.1.1 Emergence of Methicillin-resistant S. aureus (MRSA)2
1.1.1.1 Genetic Differences of MRSA3
1.2 Staphylococcal Cell-wall Anchored Proteins5
1.2.1 CWA Classification6
1.2.1.1 The MSCRAMM family9
1.2.1.2 The NEAT motif family10
1.2.1.3 Three-helical Bundle family11
1.2.1.4 The G5-E repeat family12
1.2.2 CWAs as Virulence Factors12
1.2.2.1 MSCRAMM 13
1.2.2.2 NEAT
1.2.2.3 Three Helical Bundle22
1.2.2.4 G5-Е 25
1.2.2.5 Unknown
1.3 S. aureus Host-Pathogen Interactions
1.3.1 Opsonization45
1.3.2 Phagocytosis47

1.3.3 Phagocyte-mediated Killing49
1.3.3.1 Neutrophils 49
1.3.3.2 Macrophages 51
1.3.4 Killing of Phagocytes53
1.4 Staphylococcal Bacterial Pneumonia54
1.4.1 Epidemiology54
1.4.2 Staphylococcal Virulence56
1.4.3 Immune Responses to Staphylococcal Pneumonia62
1.5 Influenza Super-infection67
1.5.1 Influenza67
1.5.2 Influenza Bacterial Super-infection70
1.5.3 Lung and Immune Changes During Super-infection73
1.6 Gap of Knowledge77
2.0 Developing Methods for <i>S. aureus</i> Transposon Sequencing (Tn-seq) in the Lung 80
2.1 Introduction
2.2 Materials and Methods82
2.2.1 Mice
2.2.2 Infections
2.2.3 Tn-seq Library Preparation and Sequencing83
2.2.4 Statistics
2.3 Results
2.3.1 Transposon Sequencing (Tn-seq) Methodology Background

2.3.2 Determining Dosage of TnMRSA in Staphylococcal Pneumonia and
Influenza Super-infection87
2.3.3 TnMRSA Infection During Pneumonia and Super-infection
2.4 Discussion
3.0 Screening S. aureus Mutants in Bacterial Pneumonia and Influenza Super-
infection
3.1 Summary
3.2 Introduction
3.3 Materials and Methods
3.3.1 Mice
3.3.2 <i>S. aureus</i> strains
3.3.3 Murine Models100
3.3.4 Biofilm Assay101
3.3.5 Macrophage experiments101
3.3.6 RNA extraction and qPCR101
3.3.7 Multiplex and Heatmap analysis102
3.3.8 Statistical Analysis102
3.4 Results
3.5 Discussion 110
4.0 Investigating the Role of Sbi in the Lung116
4.1 Summary 116
4.2 Introduction 116
4.3 Materials and Methods 118

4.3.1 Mice
4.3.2 <i>S. aureus</i> strains119
4.3.3 Murine Models119
4.3.4 Macrophage experiments120
4.3.5 RNA extraction and qPCR120
4.3.6 Statistical Analysis121
4.4 Results 121
4.5 Discussion 128
5.0 Characterization of a Novel CWA, SasD
5.1 Summary 131
5.2 Introduction
5.3 Materials and Methods133
5.3.1 Mice
5.3.2 <i>S. aureus</i> strains133
5.3.3 Murine Models134
5.3.4 Macrophage experiments135
5.3.5 RNA extraction and qPCR136
5.3.6 Statistical Analysis136
5.4 Results
5.5 Discussion 145
6.0 Conclusions and Future Directions148
Appendix A Supplemental Figures156
Appendix B Supplemental Materials and Methods162

graphy
--------

# List of Tables

Table 1: Ligands and Binding Mechanisms of Staphylococcal CWAs	
Table 2: Tn-seq Primers	
Table 3: S. aureus Strains Used	
Table 4: S. aureus Primers Used	
Table 5: TaqMan Primer-Probes Used	

# List of Figures

Figure 1: Structure of Cell Wall-anchored Protein Families
Figure 2: Main Roles of Cell Wall-anchored Proteins15
Figure 3: <i>S. aureus</i> is the Main Super-infecting Bacteria72
Figure 4: Transposon Sequencing (Tn-seq) Methodology
Figure 5: Tn-seq Library Preparation
Figure 6 Determining TnMRSA Dosage for Lung Tn-seq
Figure 7: Tn-seq Studies in the Lung91
Figure 8: Tn-seq Sequencing Failed Due to Lack of DNA Binding
Figure 9: Differential Impact of S. aureus CWA Mutants in Bacterial Pneumonia and
Influenza Super-Infection105
Figure 10: CWA Mutant Induced Cytokine Expression in Bacterial Pneumonia and
Influenza Super-Infection106
Figure 11: CWA Mutant Interactions with Macrophage Cell Line RAW264.7 109
Figure 12: Influenza Drives Super-infection Regardless of CWA Mutant
Figure 13: Sbi Induces Inflammatory Changes in the Lung
Figure 14: Sbi Induces Changes at 6 hours post Infection123
Figure 15: Sbi Induces Inflammatory Changes in RAW264.7 Macrophages 125
Figure 16: Mice Infected with sbi A100.2 have Decreased Inflammation 126
Figure 17: RAW264.7 Infection with sbi A100.2 Induces Some Changes in Inflammation

Figure 18: Mortality Difference in sbi A100.2 is Not Dependent on the Presence of Antibodies
Figure 19: SasD Impacts S. aureus Bacterial Pneumonia Outcomes
Figure 20: SasD Increases Inflammation in Mice Infected with MRSA 140
Figure 21: SasD Impacts Initiation of Host Defense against MRSA in Bacterial Pneumonia
Figure 22: SasD is Required for Early Inflammation During Infection with MRSA 143
Figure 23: SasD Increases Macrophage Inflammation and Decreases Survival
Figure 24: Bacterial Growth and Viral Burden156
Figure 25: Survival of CWA Mutants with RAW264.7 Macrophages 157
Figure 26: Supplemental Data for Sbi 158
Figure 27: SasD Increases Inflammatory Cytokines and Decreases Lung Homeostatic Gene
Expression159
Figure 28: Characterization of SasD During Pneumonia160
Figure 29: Characterization of Early SasD Infection

# List of Abbreviations

Listed in alphabetical order:

ACME: arginine catabolic mobile element

ADAM10: a disintegrin and metalloproteinase domain-containing protein 10

*Agr*: accessory gene regulator

AM: alveolar macrophage

AMP: antimicrobial peptide

C5aR: complement component C5a receptor

C5L2: C5a anaphylatoxin chemotactic receptor or complement component C5a receptor 2

CA-MRSA: community-associated MRSA

CAP: community-acquired pneumonia

CCN1: cellular communication network factor 1

CDC: centers for disease control and prevention

CFU: colony forming unit

CHIPs: chemotaxis inhibiting protein of S. aureus

CR: complement receptor

CWA: cell wall-anchored protein

DD1a: D-alanyl-alanine ligase

Eap: extracellular adherence protein

ECM: extracellular matrix

Efb: extracellular fibrinogen-binding protein

EGFR: epidermal growth factor receptor

Ehp: Efb homologous protein Fab: fragment antigen binding region of immunoglobulin Fc: fragment crystallizable region of immunoglobulin FcR: Fc receptor G-CSF: granulocyte colony-stimulating factor HA-MRSA: hospital-associated MRSA HAP: Hospital-acquired pneumonia Hla: alpha-hemolysin, also known as alpha-toxin or  $\alpha$ -toxin Hlg: gamma-hemolysin or  $\gamma$ -hemolysin IFN: interferon IFNAR: IFNa receptor, also known as type I IFN receptor IFNLR: interferon lambda receptor, also known as IL-28 receptor IFNα: interferon alpha (type I IFN) IFNβ: interferon beta (type I IFN) IFNγ: interferon gamma (type II IFN) IFNλ: interferon lambda (type III IFN) Ig: Immunoglobulin IL-: interleukin-IRF: interferon-regulatory factor JAK: Janus kinase LTA: lipoteichoic acid Luk: leukocidin MAC: membrane attack complex

MARCO: macrophage receptor with collagenous structure

MGEs: mobile genetic elements

MPO: myeloperoxidase

MRSA: methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* 

MSSA: methicillin-sensitive S. aureus

NET: neutrophil extracellular trap

NLRC4: NLR family CARD domain-containing protein 4

NLRP3: NOD-, LRR- and pyrin domain-containing protein 3

PAMPs: Pathogen-associated molecular patterns

PhnD: Phosphonate-ABC transporter periplasmic binding protein

PIA: polysaccharide intercellular adhesin

PRRs: PAMP recognition receptors

PSMs: Phenol-soluble modulins

PVL: Panton-Valentine Leukocidin

RNS: reactive nitrogen species

ROS: reactive oxygen species

*Rot*: repressor of toxins

Sae: S. aureus exoprotein expression or staphylococcal accessory element

SAK: staphylokinase

SCCmec: staphylococcal cassette chromosome mec

SCIN: staphylococcal complement inhibitor

ScpA: staphopain A

SEIX: staphylococcal enterotoxin-like toxin X

SEO: staphylococcal enterotoxin O

SplA: serine protease-like protein A

SR: scavenger receptor

SSTIs: skin and soft tissue infections

STAT: signal transducer and activator of transcription

STING: stimulator of interferon genes

TACE: tumor necrosis factor-alpha converting enzyme

Th1: type 1 immunity

Th17: type 17 immunity

Th2: type 2 immunity

TLR: toll-like receptor

TNFR1: tumor necrosis factor receptor 1

VAP: ventilator-associated pneumonia

vWbp: vWF binding protein

vWF: von Willebrand factor

WT: wildtype

 $\beta$ -toxin: beta-toxin, also known as beta-hemolysin

 $\gamma\delta$  T: gamma delta T cell

 $\delta$ -toxin: delta-toxin

#### Preface

I would like to take the time to thank those who have helped me along my graduate career and made this work possible. First, I would like to thank my advisor Dr. John Alcorn for his support and trust in pursuing a microbiology focused project. This is a new direction for his laboratory and myself, and there were many stumbling blocks along the way. However, his belief in me (and his extraordinary letter of recommendation writing skills) helped me continue the pursuit of this project even when it appeared to not have any direction. Your grounding energy has been helpful on so many occasions when anxiety and stress got the best of me; reminding me to pursue hobbies outside of the lab has been greatly beneficial for my well-being. Thank you for giving me the room to grow as a scientist, speaker, and mentor throughout my time in your laboratory.

Much of the work here would not have been possible without my amazing undergraduate and master's students I have had over the years: Sharon, Abigail, Sarah, Olivia, Emily, and Caroline. Thank you for helping me grow as a mentor and educator as well as your work on my projects. Those experiences helped to solidify my career trajectory and I will be forever grateful that you gave me the opportunity to teach you about science.

I would also like to thank my thesis committee for their insight over the years. Not having any previous formal training in microbiology at times was difficult but having extraordinary microbiologists on my committee helped me problem solve, see things from a different perspective, switch project directions, and learn to read primarily literature on a more regular basis. I want to thank Dr. Tony Richardson for being my committee chair as well as for his insight and continuing help in all things related to *S. aureus*. I would like to thank Dr. John Williams for his continuing positivity in all of my thesis committee meetings, especially early on when I thought they had gone so badly and I felt lost. I will miss saying hello to you in the halls of Rangos and your wonderful homemade banana bread. I want to thank Dr. Vaughn Cooper for his insight and constructive criticism throughout the years; thank you for pushing me to become a better scientist and to pay better attention to my statistical analyses. I also want to thank him for his insight into teaching and education, which was a great help as I focused on my career development as an educator. I want to thank Dr. Jen Bomberger for her support, continuously reminding me that you and the rest of my committee were here to help. I also want to thank Jen as the former director of the PMI program. I still appreciate the time you took to meet with all the PMI students to make sure we were doing okay in and out of the lab, as well your work in making the PMI program more comprehensive in terms of career exploration/development.

None of the work would have been possible without past and present members of the Alcorn laboratory. First, thank you to Dr. Helen Rich, whose insight into science, work-life balance, and personal life has been greatly impactful on my life. They were my roommate at conferences, answered all my questions, helped me with much of my science as the graduate student above me, and let me vent on their couch when things got rough. I want to thank the current graduate students in the lab both as colleagues and friends. Especially to Ellyse Cipolla and Dani Antos, thank you for your friendship, positivity, and support throughout the years. Thank you for helping me believe that I could do this and that I was smart enough to always answer your questions. Thank you to previous lab member Kara Nickolich for our never-ending conversations and their support during long days and weekends in lab. And to Dr. Michelle Manni, who helped me greatly in the beginning years of my PhD become a more rigorous and consistent scientist.

Additionally, I would like to thank other graduate students in the PMI program. Thank you to Pam Brigleb for her support, friendship, and scientific assistance. Thank you to Amie Stephens for answering all of my questions throughout the years. To my original IBGP and later PMI cohorts for help with coursework, studying, and general support throughout graduate school.

I would also like to thank all the staff who have helped me along the way, including the DLAR and administrative assistants without whom our institutions would not function.

A special thanks to the Department of Biological Sciences laboratory faculty and students in the Kenneth P. Dietrich School of Arts and Sciences. Thank you for the opportunity to teach during my time as a graduate student, that experience has been very impactful on my life in so many ways. To the lecturers and instructors I worked with, thank you for your insight into best practices, worklife balance, navigating difficult situations, and that it is okay to not have all the answers. To the students I have taught over the years, thank you for allowing me to see you discover the awesomeness of science in your first laboratory experience, it reminds me of my own discovery as an undergraduate. Even through the COVID19 pandemic and some completely remote semesters, these students gave me the motivation to continue in graduate school as well as improve my teaching skills. Thank you for giving me support and great teaching reviews so that I could pursue a full-time position within the department. Last but not least, thank you to my friends and family. Moving away from home and my friends was difficult at first, but my friends are great cheerleaders from afar. To Sara, thank you for always coming to visit me and to force me to do all the tourist things in Pittsburgh. To Jenna, thank you for our 3-4 hour long phone conversations about anything and everything and for your amazing encouragement. To Mikenna and Mary, thank you for your continuous support and conversations. To my sister Nicole who has always supported me from afar. Finally, thank you to Anna for being the most supportive partner imaginable and an amazing person in my life. Thank you for your ever continuing love and support, your interest in my scientific info dumping, and reminding me to always take care of myself.

Thank you all, from the bottom of my heart.

#### **1.0 Introduction**

## 1.1 Staphylococcus aureus

*Staphylococcus aureus* is a Gram-positive bacterium in the family *Staphylococcaceae*, characterized by its spherical shape and grape-like clusters<sup>1</sup>. *S. aureus* is one of the first pathogens described and continues to be a common pathogen today. It has the ability to cause a wide variety of infections, ranging from asymptomatic carriage to invasive diseases such as endocarditis, pneumonia, and bacteremia<sup>2, 3</sup>.

*S. aureus* was first described in 1881 by Alexander Ogston as the sole microorganism isolated from abscesses capable of producing new abscesses when injected into rodents<sup>4</sup>. In 1882, Ogston coined the term *Staphylococcus* for the genus based on his microscopic observations<sup>5</sup>. In 1884, Friedrich Julius Rosenbach divided the genus into two species based on colony coloring, the yellow *S. aureus* ("aureus" golden) and white *S. albus* (now known as *S. epidermidis*)<sup>6,7</sup>.

Approximately 10-30% of the population is colonized with *S. aureus* on some part of their body<sup>8, 9</sup>. The primary reservoir for *S. aureus* is the anterior nares, with approximately 30% of individuals colonized at any given time, ranging from 10<sup>4</sup>-10<sup>5</sup> CFU/ml in persistent colonizers<sup>10, 11</sup>. Nasal carriage is a significant risk for staphylococcal infection, with 50-80% of infecting isolates originating from the patient<sup>12, 13</sup>. While the nares are the most regarded site of colonization, *S. aureus* can also colonize the skin as well as the intestines<sup>9</sup>. Colonization of different body parts

is highly correlated within an individual, likely from frequent touching and nose picking and subsequent redistribution on the body<sup>9</sup>.

#### 1.1.1 Emergence of Methicillin-resistant S. aureus (MRSA)

*S. aureus*' ability to acquire antibiotic resistance has complicated efforts to control staphylococcal infections. Antibiotic resistance to penicillin occurred rapidly after it was introduced into clinical use in the mid 1940s due to penicillinase-containing strains<sup>3, 14</sup>. A penicillinase-resistant penicillin derivative, methicillin, was introduced in 1959 to counteract these strains, however, resistance was found within a year<sup>14</sup>. Known as methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* (MRSA), these strains contain the gene *mecA*, which encodes an alternative penicillin binding protein 2a (PBP2a) that is resistant to nearly all beta-lactam antibiotics<sup>14, 15</sup>.

From the 1960s-1990s, MRSA strains were confined to hospitals and other health care centers in the United States<sup>15</sup>. Known collectively as hospital-associated MRSA (HA-MRSA), these strains became endemic in larger urban hospitals where affected patients were more susceptible to infection due to age or comorbid conditions<sup>3, 14</sup>. These strains tended to cause invasive infections such as pneumonia or bacteremia<sup>15</sup>.

However, since the mid 1990s, MRSA has become increasingly prevalent in the community, leading to new community associated (CA-MRSA) strains<sup>14, 15</sup>. CA-MRSA strains tend to infect younger healthier patients as well as manifest predominantly as skin and soft tissue infections (SSTIs)<sup>14</sup>. HA- and CA-MRSA strains are typically distinguished molecularly, with the main difference being by staphylococcal cassette chromosome *mec* (SCC*mec*) type. HA-MRSA strains

carry relatively large SCC*mec* types, which may contain resistance to other antibiotics, while CA-MRSA strains contain smaller SCC*mec* types that can carry other virulence factors, such as Panton-Valentine leukocidin (PVL)<sup>15</sup>. Because CA-MRSA strains have the capacity to infect otherwise healthy younger individuals, it is thought that they have enhanced virulence compared to HA-MRSA strains<sup>2, 14</sup>. The CDC put forth a formal definition of CA-MRSA disease, which is contracted within 48 hours of hospital admission by patients not undergoing surgery, prolonged hospitalization, catheterization, or hemodialysis<sup>16</sup>. However, most MRSA infections are now acquired outside of hospital settings, and distinction between HA- and CA-MRSA strains is very blurred. Initially in the United States there were 8 distinct clusters based on pulsed-field gel electrophoresis (PFGE), designated USA100-800 with USA300 and USA400 being CA-MRSA strains<sup>17</sup>. The most prevalent MRSA strain in the United States is now USA300<sup>2, 15, 18</sup>. USA300 has also become increasingly common as an asymptomatic colonizing strain<sup>15</sup> and accounts for both CA-MRSA and HA-MRSA cases<sup>2</sup>.

# 1.1.1.1 Genetic Differences of MRSA

Most of the genetic diversity of MRSA occurs within the accessory genome, where virulence mediators, immune evasion, and antibiotic resistance products are located<sup>19</sup>. The accessory components compromise ~25% of the *S. aureus* genome and consists of mobile genetic elements (MGEs) such as pathogenicity islands, chromosomal cassettes, transposons, plasmids, and bacteriophages, acquired by horizontal gene transfer between strains, which leads to a large variety in virulence expression depending on the strain<sup>19</sup>. This is one of the challenges in analyzing strains, as successful MRSA lineages will often differ from their predecessors at multiple loci<sup>19</sup>.

Aside from methicillin-resistance, there are other differences between MRSA and methicillin-sensitive (MSSA) strains. For example, *mecA* is carried within a larger MGE known as SCC*mec*, which may carry other resistance or virulence genes<sup>3, 15</sup>. While the exact differences between MSSA and MRSA will vary depending on what strains are used in comparison, most of the MRSA characterization has occurred in USA300. Additional MGEs found in USA300 include the arginine catabolic mobile element (ACME), which may play a role in pathogenesis by helping MRSA colonize the skin, and PVL, a toxin with controversial function<sup>15, 19</sup>. MGEs can also include factors such as superantigens, proteases, lipoproteins, hemolysins, leukocidins, and phenol-soluble modulins (PSMs)<sup>15, 19</sup>.

While MGEs play a predominant role in MRSA pathogenicity, there are also core genome differences that have been characterized. Most of these differences lead to increased expression of key virulence factors such as the alpha-toxin, PSMs, and proteases<sup>2, 15, 19</sup>. Differential expression of global gene regulators *Agr*, *SarA*, and SaeRS likely explain many of the differences in expression seen between MSSA and MRSA<sup>2, 15, 19</sup>.

The most well studied, Agr (accessory gene regulator) is a peptide-based quorum sensing system that up-regulates many toxins and virulence factors when cell density reaches a certain threshold, allowing for the control of establishment versus virulence<sup>20</sup>. The Agr system regulates expression of virulence factors such as the alpha-toxin, delta-toxin, PSMs, and protein A<sup>2, 9, 19</sup>. USA300 is known to have a hyperactive Agr system, which likely influences the increased level of toxin expression seen in this strain<sup>2</sup>. Indeed,  $\Delta agr$  mutants are highly attenuated in several animal models of infection including sepsis, pneumonia and skin abscess models<sup>2</sup>. *S. aureus*  exoprotein expression (sae) drives expression via a two-component system relying on a histidine kinase (SaeS) and response regulator (SaeR)<sup>21</sup>. This system regulates virulence factors such as coagulase, alpha-toxin, beta- and gamma-hemolysins, PVL, and nuclease<sup>21</sup>. SarA is known to regulate the *Agr* system as well as exert post-transcriptional regulation of targets by binding and altering mRNA turnover rates<sup>21</sup>. Additionally, SarA is a repressor of protease production, which can have several effects on phenotype such as biofilm formation and accumulation of virulence proteins.

#### **1.2 Staphylococcal Cell-wall Anchored Proteins**

*S. aureus* expresses surface proteins that are covalently attached to the cell wall, collectively known as the cell-wall anchored proteins (CWAs). These CWAs are crucial to the success of *S. aureus*, both as a pathogen and commensal. *S. aureus* can express up to 24 different CWAs, but the precise combination of CWAs depends on the strain and growth conditions<sup>22</sup>. Because of the limited repertoire of CWA proteins expressed, many of these proteins have evolved to perform several important interactions with the host. Several CWAs are multifunctional due to distinct domains binding different ligands or a single domain having several host ligands<sup>22, 23, 24</sup>. Additionally, many CWAs have evolved to have functional redundancy with other CWAs, making elucidation of mechanisms in these proteins difficult in null mutants<sup>22</sup>.

As these proteins are exposed on the cell surface of *S. aureus*, these proteins are in direct contact with the host, and unsurprisingly have evolved to carry out functions related to colonization as well as evasion of the host immune system. Originally, all were defined as MSCRAMM

(Microbial Surface Component Recognizing Adhesive Matrix Molecules) proteins due to early characterization of those CWA proteins that bind host extracellular matrix (ECM), such as fibrinogen and fibronectin. However, not all CWAs bind ECM components and have other functions such as nutrient acquisition and immune evasion.

# **1.2.1 CWA Classification**

All CWAs contain a secretory signal sequence at the N-terminus, directing the proteins to the secretory (Sec) apparatus located in the membrane<sup>22, 25</sup>. The Sec translocon is a complex formed in the membrane by SecY, SecE, and SecG. Protein translocation requires SecA, a cytoplasmic ATPase that pushes unfolded precursors through the translocon. SecDF, a chaperone powered by the proton motive force, assists in folding the translocated proteins. The signal peptide of the translocated precursor protein is cleaved by a signal peptidase (SpsB)<sup>25</sup>.

After translocation, CWAs are covalently linked to peptidoglycan. The C-terminal end of CWAs contains a characteristic sorting signal motif, LPXTG (Leu-Pro-X-Thr-Gly; where X is any amino acid), which is recognized by the transpeptidase Sortase A (SrtA). SrtA cleaves between the threonyl (T) and glycyl (G) residues and forms a thioester bond between its active cysteine and the carboxyl group of the threonyl residue. Nucleophilic attack by the peptidoglycan intermediate (lipid II) leads to a surface protein-lipid II intermediate that is subsequently incorporated into peptidoglycan via penicillin binding proteins<sup>22, 25</sup>.

CWAs can be classified into four subfamilies based on structural and functional motifs (Figure 1 and Table 1). These are the MSCRAMM, NEAT, three-helical bundle, and G5-E subfamilies and are described below.



#### Figure 1: Structure of Cell Wall-anchored Protein Families

Staphylococcal CWAs are divided into four families based on structural motifs. These families follow the same translation product pattern with a Sec signal sequence at the N-terminus and a wall-spanning region (W) and sorting signal (SS) at the C-terminus. The MSCRAMM family is defined by tandemly linked IgG-like folded domains (N) known as the A domain. The R domain in made up of either fibronectin binding domains (FnBPs) or serine-aspartate repeats (Clfs +Sdrs). Sdr proteins also contain 2-5 B repeats located between the A and R domains. Cna contains an A domain and B domains but lacks the unstructured R domain. The NEAT (near-iron transporter) motif family contains the iron-regulated surface determinants (IsdABH). The NEAT domain has a similar structure to the Ig-like beta-sandwich. IsdA, IsdB, and IsdH, contain one, two, or three NEAT domains, respectively. The three-helical bundle motif family contains five tandemly linked triple-helical bundle domains (EABCD) that bind to IgG. This family also contains a variable length region (Xr) and a constant (Xc) region that contains the wall-spanning region (W). The G5-E repeat family contains alternating repeats of G5 and E domains. Member SasG contains an A domain, however, this is cleaved to facilitate biofilm formation. Figure made with Biorender.com.

#### 1.2.1.1 The MSCRAMM family

The most prevalent and well-studied subfamily of CWAs is the MSCRAMM family (Table 1). This term previously applied to all CWAs that mediate binding to host ECM, but now is used to define those proteins that share structural similarities and common mechanisms for binding<sup>22</sup>. MSCRAMMs are also found in many other Gram-positive bacteria such as *S. epidermidis*, coagulase-negative staphylococci, enterococci, and streptococci<sup>22, 23</sup>.

All MSCRAMM proteins contain at least two adjacent subdomains containing IgG-like folds in the N-terminal ligand binding A domain. The A region contains three separately folded subdomains: N1, N2, and N3, with N2 and N3 being IgG-like folds. The A domain is separated from the cell wall anchoring region by unstructured repeats that form flexible stalks, known as the R domain. The R domain is composed of either serine-aspartate dipeptide repeats (SD repeats) or ~29 residue fibronectin-binding repeats. These linker regions connect via proline-rich domain that spans from the cell wall to the peptidoglycan-binding sorting signal. Some MSCRAMM proteins (SdrC, SdrD, SdrE and Bbp) contain between two and five 110-113 residue B repeats, located between the A and R domains. These repeats are folded separately and form a rigid rod that projects the A domain away from the cell and are dependent on  $Ca^{2+}$  for structural integrity. Some B domains may have ligand-binding abilities or influence ligand binding of the A domain<sup>23</sup>. Another MSCRAMM protein, Cna, has a modified A domain, with N1 and N2 being the IgG-like folded subdomains. Cna also has B repeats, which lack sequence similarity to other family members, and lacks the unstructured R region<sup>22, 23</sup>.

These proteins bind through the 'dock, lock and latch' (DLL) mechanism. Ligands can dock to the open apo form of the protein, leading to conformational changes that create a closed form, which locks ligands in place. The N2 and N3 domains are folded in a variant form of the IgG fold (known as DEv-IgG), which is composed to two beta sheets that contain nine individual beta strands. These two subdomains are arranged in a specific manner that creates a trench between N2 and N3, where ligands will dock. First, a ligand will bind ('dock') to the trench between N2 and N3 subdomains. This leads to a disordered portion of N3 binding the ligand and undergoing a conformational change to create two additional beta strands, one to 'lock' the ligand in place in the trench, and another to 'latch' to the N2 domain<sup>22, 23</sup>. This leads to strong ligand binding after DLL completion, where forces to separate the MSCRAMM protein and ligand are equivalent to those needed to break a covalent bond<sup>26, 27</sup>. Additionally, these bonds are potentiated by shear stress, allowing for bacteria to be tethered to surfaces in the presence of moving fluids, such as the blood stream<sup>28</sup>. Within the family, there are slight modifications to this binding mechanism, typically in the orientation of the N1 and N2 beta sheets, changing the shape of the ligand binding trench. Some MSCRAMM members can bind ligands only in their apo form, while others can bind ligands in both the apo and closed form, such as ClfA binding the C-terminus of fibrinogen<sup>29</sup>. Cna uses a modified DLL mechanism known as the 'collagen hug' where N1 and N2 are the IgG-like folds with a longer linker between the domains creating a hole rather than a trench to accommodate a collagen triple-helix rod<sup>22, 23</sup>.

## 1.2.1.2 The NEAT motif family

Near iron transporter (NEAT) motif proteins are involved in heme capture from hemoglobin and help bacteria survive in the host, where iron is limited. NEAT domains are 125 residues and are conserved with neighbor putative iron transporters<sup>30</sup> and have a structure similar to the Ig-like beta-sandwich fold<sup>31</sup>. Because the NEAT domain is tied to iron capture, these proteins are collectively known as iron-regulated surface (Isd) proteins<sup>22</sup>. However, the Isd family refers more to the genomic area in which these proteins are found, rather than being a CWA specific family; there are Isd proteins that are not attached to the cell wall via sortase A as well as members that are not found in the cell wall<sup>30</sup>. The three Isd family members that are canonical CWAs are IsdA, IsdB, and IsdH, which all contain the LPXTG motif and contain one, two, or three NEAT domains, respectively. IsdC is bound in the cell wall, but through a different transpeptidase, Sortase B, which recognizes NPTQN motif and is embedded in the cell wall and not surface exposed<sup>30</sup>. Each NEAT domain binds one heme molecule within a hydrophobic pocket. In most Isd family members, the binding and transfer of heme is unidirectional, eventually leading to heme binding to the membrane receptor, IsdE.

## 1.2.1.3 Three-helical Bundle family

This family only contains one CWA, staphylococcal protein A (SpA). SpA is a multifunctional protein that is ubiquitous in *S. aureus* and is often used in strain typing due to its variation in the Xr region<sup>22, 23</sup>. At the N-terminus, SpA contains five separately folded three helical bundles in tandem (EABCD), each of which can bind to several different ligands. Each three-helical bundle can exist in a slightly different conformation, allowing for plasticity needed to bind structurally diverse ligands. Located between the EABCD modules and the cell surface is the region Xr, which is composed of octapeptide repeats that are highly variable number, followed by a conserved region Xc, which contains the wall-spanning region<sup>22</sup>.

While SpA is the only CWA in this family, there other staphylococcal secreted proteins that share similar structures. Second immunoglobulin-binding protein (Sbi) is non-covalently associated with lipoteichoic acid (LTA) in the cell wall, contains four three-helical bundles, two of which are similar to protein A. Additional small, secreted proteins SCIN and Efb also contain single three-helical bundles<sup>22</sup>.

# 1.2.1.4 The G5-E repeat family

This family contains G5 domains, which are characterized by five conserved glycine residues that adopt a  $\beta$ -triple helix- $\beta$ -like fold. These G5 repeats are in tandem and are separated by 50 residue sequences known as E regions<sup>22</sup>. Both the G5 and E domains are comprised of two triplestranded beta sheets with a central collagen-like helical region<sup>24</sup>. While a single G5 and E repeat will be intrinsically disordered and unfolded, G5<sub>1</sub>-E-G5<sub>2</sub> moieties will fold into an elongated structure, where G5<sub>2</sub> triggers folding of the central E domain, which in turn will promote folding of G5<sub>1</sub> <sup>32</sup>. Proteins in this family form highly extended fibrillar structures and can have the ability to mask shorter adhesions, which may help control different outcomes such as adhesion, invasion, or biofilm formation<sup>24</sup>.

# 1.2.2 CWAs as Virulence Factors

It is known that CWAs can have a variety of functions, such as host adhesion, self/biofilm adhesion, nutrient acquisition, and immune evasion. There are also several CWAs that have unknown functions, but likely play a role in at least one of those categories listed.

For testing, isogenic mutants along with complemented controls are tested for virulence in models of infection. However, functional redundancy can make it difficult to detect reductions in virulence based on deletion of one factor. To overcome this problem, single CWAs can be expressed in surrogate hosts, such as *Lactococcus lactis* or *S. carnosus*<sup>22</sup>. Additionally, the background strain can have an influence on elucidating CWA functions, as differences in CWA repertoire or expression of global regulators such as *Agr* could affect phenotypes seen during infection. Furthermore, other differences between laboratory-adapted and clinical strains can also complicate function elucidation and many staphylococcal virulence factors are specific or preferential to human ligands.

Here the focus will be on the CWAs studied herein, listed in by alphabetical order in each subfamily. For summary of CWA functions see Figure 2. See Table 1 for more details on CWAs not covered here as well as reviews<sup>22, 23, 24, 33, 34, 35</sup>.

#### **1.2.2.1 MSCRAMM**

**ClfA.** ClfA was first characterized as a fibrinogen binding protein and was termed 'clumping factor' due to mutants failing to form clumps in soluble fibrinogen or adhere to immobilized fibrinogen<sup>36</sup>. It was later discovered that this binding occurred at the C-terminal end of the fibrinogen  $\gamma$  chain<sup>37, 38</sup> through the DLL mechanism<sup>29</sup>.

ClfA is a major virulence factor in bacteremia, sepsis, and infective endocarditis<sup>39, 40, 41, 42, 43</sup>. ClfA has been characterized to bind to human platelets<sup>44</sup> later attributed to ClfA's ability to bind fibrinogen, which can then bind the integrin complex GPIIb/IIIa (also known as  $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ ) on platelets<sup>45</sup>. This can lead to platelet activation and aggregation with additional signals through complement (IgG + Fc $\gamma$ RIIa or complement + CR)<sup>46</sup>. Additionally, ClfA mediates adhesion to endothelial cells through a similar mechanism with integrin  $\alpha_V\beta_3$ , leading to endothelial apoptosis and increased permeability of vessels<sup>47</sup>. Damage to the endothelium will trigger release of von Willebrand factor (vWF), which can also be exploited as an attachment site. ClfA binds the secreted bacterial factor vWbp (vWF binding protein), which in turn will bind vWF and anchor *S. aureus* to the vascular endothelium under shear stress<sup>48</sup>. As ClfA promotes bacterial survival in the blood, this allows for more opportunity to disseminate to other organs, where ClfA also plays a role such as the kidneys<sup>49</sup>, joints<sup>50</sup>, bones<sup>51</sup> and skin<sup>52</sup>.

Additionally, ClfA has also been shown to inhibit phagocytosis via fibrinogen-dependent and -independent mechanisms<sup>53</sup>. ClfA binds complement factor I in a fibrinogen-dependent manner<sup>54</sup>, acting as a cofactor for factor I, leading to increased cleavage of C3b into iC3b and reduced deposition of C3b on the bacterial surface<sup>55</sup>. It was also recently discovered that ClfA can also bind complement factor H independent of fibrinogen, also contributing to preventing opsonization<sup>56</sup>.



Figure 2: Main Roles of Cell Wall-anchored Proteins

Staphylococcal CWAs can perform many various functions that can be divided into five main categories: opsonization inhibition, platelet aggregation, adhesion and/or colonization, internalization into nonprofessional phagocytes, and biofilm. Opsonization inhibition primarily occurs through binding and inhabiting various components of the complement system or binding the Fc region of IgG. Platelet aggregation requires both binding and a secondary signal (complement or IgG) to induce activation of platelets and the formation of a clot. The main role of CWAs is adhesion to host components or epithelial or endothelial cells. Some CWAs can also facilitate binding and internalization into nonprofessional phagocytes, which is dependent on integrins. CWAs can also promote biofilm formation through homophilic interactions on nearby cells or through unknown mechanisms. ? Denotes a CWA that is presumed to have this function and/or it has not been directly tested. Abbreviations: C3b: complement component C3b, IgG: immunoglobulin G, fl: Factor I, fH: Factor H, C4BP: complement C4b binding protien, Fn: fibronectin, Fg: fibrinogen, Eln: elastin, Cn: collagen, K8: keratin 8, K10: keratin 10, Dsg1: desmoglein 1. Figure made with Biorender.com.
**ClfB.** ClfB was discovered after ClfA due to its ability to also bind Southern Blot probes specific to the dipeptide repeat R domain and mediates similar clumping in soluble fibrinogen<sup>57, 58, 59</sup>. ClfB can also bind fibrinogen but binds the fifth repeat of the  $\alpha$  chain<sup>60</sup>. ClfB can also bind and aggregate platelets similar to ClfA but with a longer lag time<sup>61</sup>. However, the A domain of ClfB is cleaved by the metalloprotease aureolysin, resulting in loss of binding at the end of exponential growth<sup>59</sup>. Similar to ClfA, ClfB is implicated in endocarditis and kidney abscesses<sup>49, 62</sup>.

ClfB's major function appears to be related to adhesion and colonization of the nose<sup>63, 64, 65, 66</sup>. Immunization with ClfB leads to reduced nasal colonization in mice<sup>67</sup> and a mutant ( $\Delta clfB$ ) strain leads to reduced experimental colonization in humans<sup>64</sup>. ClfB was first characterized to facilitate binding to human desquamated stratified squamous nasal epithelial cells through a type I cytokeratin, keratin 10 (K10)<sup>68</sup>. The binding site was later found to be in the glycine loop region of the C-terminus tail of K10<sup>69</sup>. An additional ligand found was loricrin, an abundant protein that makes up the cornified envelope of squamous epithelial cells. This is presumed to be the major ligand for nasal colonization by ClfB due to the abundance in the nose, and that lacking loricrin leads to an 80% reduction in colonization<sup>63</sup>. ClfB can also bind a type II cytokeratin, keratin 8 (K8), at the tail region similar to K10<sup>70</sup>. However, K8 is not found in the skin and is expressed in simple epithelium<sup>71</sup>, but the relevance of this has not been investigated.

ClfB has also been implicated in colonization and infection of the skin. *S. aureus* strains associated with patients of Atopic Dermatitis (AD) bind ClfB ligand loricrin more strongly than those from healthy controls<sup>65</sup>. Binding of ClfB binding in AD is also influenced by the level of

NMF (natural moisturizing factor) found, potentially due to altered cell surface morphology which could mask ClfB ligands<sup>66</sup>. ClfB plays a critical role in initial abscess formation through the ligand loricrin. Loricrin is expressed within the wall of a skin abscess, facilitating the binding of ClfB, and in turn promoting the development of an abscess<sup>72</sup>.

**FnbBPs.** Binding to fibronectin was one of the first adhesion phenotypes described in *S. aureus*<sup>73, 74</sup> and was initially thought to be mediated through one protein, named fibronectinbinding protein<sup>75, 76</sup>. *S. aureus* was found to bind the N-terminal region as well as heparin-binding domain of fibronectin<sup>77</sup>. This protein was renamed fibronectin-binding protein A (FnbA) after the discovery of a second fibronectin-binding protein, FnbB<sup>78</sup>. These two proteins (collectively known as fibronectin binding proteins, FnBPs) share high homology with each other and are both found in 60-70% of *S. aureus* strains<sup>79</sup>. Protein expression on surface is inversely correlated with protease V8 levels (more V8, less FnBPs)<sup>79</sup>. Due to their similarity, these two proteins have many overlapping ligands and are described together below.

One of the more interesting roles of the FnBPs is the invasion into nonphagocytic cells<sup>35, 80, 81</sup>. This is a passive process on the side of the bacterium and requires binding the integrin  $\alpha_5\beta_1$  with fibronectin acting as a bridge<sup>80</sup>. On the host side, it requires activation of signal transduction pathways as well as host cell cytoskeleton involvement<sup>82</sup>. This phenomenon can occur with either FnBP, and expression of only one is required for invasion to occur. Internalization into nonphagocytic cells has been seen for human endothelial cells<sup>83</sup>, bovine cell lines<sup>84, 85</sup>, murine fibroblasts<sup>86</sup>, human keratinocytes<sup>87</sup>, and lung epithelial cells<sup>88, 89</sup>. This uptake into cells may provide a safe harbor for the bacteria away from antimicrobials and immune cells as well as help

explain recurrent infections<sup>35, 81</sup>. Indeed, small colony variants express FnBPs at high levels, which may help facilitate their uptake into surrounding cells when they are released<sup>90</sup>.

In addition to fibronectin binding, FnBPs can also bind fibrinogen and elastin using their A domain<sup>91, 92, 93, 94, 95</sup>. Binding to fibrinogen occurs at the same site as ClfA, the C-terminal region of the  $\gamma$  chain<sup>91, 92</sup>. Elastin binding uses the same region of the A domain as fibrinogen, although competitive binding between fibrinogen and elastin may depend on the specific isoform used<sup>94, 95</sup>. FnBPs can also bind plasminogen in a different region of the A domain and these proteins can bind both fibrinogen and plasminogen at the same time<sup>96</sup>. This was shown to be a combination of strong fibrinogen-plasminogen interactions and weak plasminogen-FnBP interactions<sup>97</sup>. This likely helps to contribute to activation of the zymogen, leading to reduced opsonization, dissemination into tissues, and/or biofilm formation<sup>96, 97</sup>. FnBPs are also implicated in biofilm formation in HA-MRSA strains, potentially due to differences in expression between MSSA and MRSA strains<sup>98,</sup> <sup>99</sup>. FnBPs also have the ability to form homophilic interactions between A domains on adjacent cells similar to SdrC<sup>100</sup>. Recently, FnbB was described as the receptor for H3 histones<sup>101</sup>. Histones are a component of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) and H3 is known to have antistaphylococcal activity<sup>102</sup>. This study showed that FnbB binds H3 likely for 2 main reasons: 1) to prevent histone interaction with the bacterial membrane, and 2) to promote the degradation through its ability to bind and activate plasminogen<sup>101</sup>. FnBPs have been implicated in many infections such as endocarditis<sup>41, 103</sup>, indwelling medical device/foreign body infections<sup>104, 105, 106, 107</sup>, and skin infections<sup>108</sup>. However, FnbB is more associated with invasive infections such as endocarditis or osteomyelitis compared to FnbA<sup>109</sup>.

**SdrC.** Similar to the discovery of ClfB, the Sdr (Serine Aspartate repeat) family members (SdrC, SdrD, SdrE) were discovered by Southern Blot probe binding to the R domain composed of SD (serine aspartate) repeats<sup>110</sup>. These proteins carried additional repeated B motifs, which are not present in ClfA and ClfB. SdrC is found in all *S. aureus* strains and containing only SdrC is correlated with MSSA strains<sup>111, 112</sup>. SdrC has been implicated in nasal colonization, as it promotes adhesion to human desquamated nasal epithelial cells<sup>111</sup> but the mechanism is unknown.

SdrC's role appears to be primarily through mediating adhesion. The first ligand of SdrC was discovered to be  $\beta$ -neurexin 1 $\beta$  through a phage display library<sup>113</sup>. As this protein is expressed in neuronal cells, it is unclear how this ligand interaction facilitates colonization or infection. SdrC has also been shown to promote homophilic interactions with additional SdrC proteins<sup>114</sup>. The N2 domain of SdrC contains a region that promotes self-dimerization with another SdrC protein, promoting biofilm expansion. This SdrC-SdrC interaction is weak and low affinity<sup>115</sup> and authors suggest that this may favor detachment and dissemination. Recently, homophilic interactions were discovered to be mediated by metal chelating residues binding Ca<sup>2+</sup> between two N2 domains<sup>116</sup>. Additionally, SdrC also engages in hydrophobic interactions with abiotic surfaces, which may be due to the protein's high percentage of hydrophobic residues<sup>115</sup>. These interactions are stronger than the self-dimerization, and likely contribute to initiation of biofilms on abiotic surfaces. Interestingly, using a peptide of  $\beta$ -neurexin 1 $\beta$  blocks adhesion to abiotic surfaces as well as biofilm formation<sup>115</sup>.

**SdrD.** Unlike SdrC, SdrD is associated with MRSA strains<sup>112</sup>. SdrD has also been implicated in nasal colonization by binding to desquamated nasal epithelial cells<sup>117</sup>. SdrD can facilitate

binding to human keratinocytes through its interaction with desmoglein 1 (Dsg1)<sup>118</sup>. Dsg1 is a cadherin found in intercellular junctions known as desmosomes which are abundant in tissues exposed to mechanical stress (i.e. skin or heart)<sup>119</sup>. However, it is unclear if this interaction promotes nasal colonization as well.

SdrD likely contributes to virulence *in vivo*, however, those mechanisms are not clearly defined. Expression of *sdrD* is upregulated during *ex vivo* incubation with blood<sup>120</sup>, likely due to interactions with neutrophils<sup>121</sup>. SdrD promotes survival in whole blood independent of C3b deposition or phagocytosis, which may or may not be related to its ability to promote neutrophil lysis<sup>121</sup>. The presence of the *sdrD* gene has been implicated in bone infections<sup>112, 122</sup> and SdrD has been shown to play a role in systemic infections and abscesses<sup>49, 121</sup>.

**SdrE.** SdrE induces platelet aggregation but with a longer lag time than ClfA and ClfB<sup>45</sup>. This interaction was dependent on plasma and the authors suggest that SdrE may be using a plasma protein as a bridge to platelets. It was later discovered that SdrE can bind to complement components Factor H and C4b-binding protein (C4BP)<sup>123, 124</sup>, however, it is unclear if either was mediating the aggregation of platelets. Factor H bound to SdrE is still active and can act as a cofactor for Factor I-mediated cleavage of C3b, resulting in less C3b deposition, C5a generation, and decreased opsonization<sup>123</sup>. C4BP is recruited to the cell surface of *S. aureus*, increasing the degradation of C3 classical convertase, cleavage of C4b, and decreased opsonization<sup>124</sup>. SdrE can recruit both Factor H and C4BP at the same time without competitive binding, suggesting that complement evasion may be the main function of this protein. The presence of SdrE is correlated

with invasiveness<sup>111</sup> and has been implicated in abscesses<sup>49</sup>. Use of SdrE as a vaccine candidate had better results than other CWAs IsdA, IsdB, and SdrD<sup>125</sup>.

An isoform of SdrE, known as bone sialoprotein-binding protein (Bbp), was discovered before the other Sdr family members through its ability to bind bone sialoprotein, an ECM component of bone<sup>126, 127</sup>. *S. aureus* strains will express neither or one of these isoforms<sup>128</sup>. *S. aureus* isolates from osteomyelitis express Bbp and patients who have suffered a bone or joint infection with *S. aureus* had anti-Bbp antibodies<sup>109, 127, 129</sup>. Despite this, only SdrE has been shown to be correlated with invasiveness of a strain<sup>111</sup>. Bbp is also known to bind human fibrinogen  $\alpha$  chain<sup>130</sup> as well as C4BP<sup>124</sup>.

#### 1.2.2.2 NEAT

**IsdB.** After the discovery of IsdA (originally called staphylococcal transferrin-binding protein A, StbA)<sup>131</sup>, additional iron-regulated genes were discovered in a locus that is regulated by iron, including IsdB<sup>132, 133</sup>. IsdB was found to bind hemoglobin and is required for *S. aureus* to use hemoglobin as the sole iron source<sup>132, 133</sup>. IsdB preferentially binds human hemoglobin but can bind murine hemoglobin as well<sup>49, 134, 135</sup>. IsdB had been implicated in organ abscesses after systemic infection<sup>49, 135</sup>. Patients who have *S. aureus* endocarditis also contain anti-IsdB antibodies<sup>136</sup>.

IsdB can also bind to several other ligands, similarly to IsdA (Table 1). IsdB can bind to the platelet integrin GPIIb/IIIa and promote aggregation<sup>137</sup>. Unlike other CWAs that can bind GPIIb/IIIa, this interaction does not require a fibrinogen bridge nor IgG-FcγRIIa binding, and IsdB binds directly with high affinity. This interaction requires the high-affinity conformation of the

integrin and occurs at a different site than hemoglobin binding<sup>138</sup>. IsdB can also bind to human cells that express other  $\beta$ 3 integrins such as 293T, HeLa, and breast cancer epithelial (MCF-7) cells<sup>138</sup>. IsdB can also mediate invasion into 293T and HeLa cells and plays a role even when FnBPs are present. However, since IsdB is iron regulated, this only occurs during iron-limiting conditions<sup>138</sup>. Binding to  $\alpha_V\beta_3$  integrin was shown to be increased under mechanical tension<sup>139</sup>. Recently, IsdB was discovered to bind vitronectin, a plasma and ECM protein<sup>140</sup>. This is thought to be an additional mechanism for binding  $\beta$ 3 containing integrins, as IsdB can mediate adhesion and internalization with or without vitronectin. IsdB can also bind vWF directly at a different site as vitronectin <sup>136</sup>. This promotes binding to endothelial cells and the interaction is likely stronger under shear stress.

#### **1.2.2.3 Three Helical Bundle**

**Sbi<sup>1</sup>.** Initially, by Western Blot it was difficult to differentiate Sbi from SpA due to their similar size, overlapping IgG specificity, and cross-reactivity with commercial anti-SpA antibodies; due to this, it was originally thought to be a breakdown product of SpA<sup>141</sup>. This explains some of the early reports of *spa*-negative strains only being slightly less virulent<sup>141, 142</sup>. Some groups found Sbi in the supernatant and not the cell-wall fraction<sup>141, 143</sup>, but others found it both in the supernatant and associated with the cell membrane potentially through its interaction with lipoteichoic acid<sup>144</sup>. These authors<sup>144</sup> showed that both the soluble and cell-wall associated forms contributed to survival of *S. aureus* but perform different roles: the IgG-binding domains are only protective when anchored to the cell surface while the complement binding domains are only

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> While Sbi is not a CWA, it was studied herein and will be covered.

protective when secreted. This was later confirmed<sup>145</sup> and that when surface bound, only the IgG binding domains are exposed, explaining this phenomenon.

Sbi was discovered as a second IgG binding protein via shotgun phage display looking for bacterial ligand binding regions to bovine calf serum<sup>146</sup>. This protein differs from SpA in that it only has two functional IgG-binding domains (domains I and II), can only bind IgG, and lacks the cell-wall anchoring sequence, but is still wall-associated <sup>141, 143, 147</sup>. Expression of Sbi in a number of strains is low in bacterial media but increases in the presence of human and mouse serum<sup>142, 148, <sup>149</sup>. Using phage display, it was also discovered that Sbi could bind other components of the serum<sup>146</sup>. This was followed up and it was discovered that Sbi can also bind  $\beta_2$ -glycoprotien I ( $\beta_2$ -GPI; also known as apolipoprotein H)<sup>142</sup>. This binding occurred outside of the IgG binding region of the protein. Similar to SpA, Sbi is also able to induce inflammatory cytokines through its IgG binding domains, which interact with the TNF $\alpha$  receptor (TNFR1) and epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR)<sup>149</sup>. This likely occurs in the same region (IgG binding domains) of Sbi as SpA, however, in this study, all four domains were used.</sup>

It was later discovered that Sbi also has two domains (III and IV) involved in complement binding <sup>143</sup>. Sbi binds to complement component C3 and preincubation of Sbi with human serum leads to inhibition of all three complement pathways<sup>143</sup>. The Sbi fragment containing domains III and IV specifically binds to C3 in the sub-fragment regions C3dg and C3a. The fourth domain can inhibit complement by 2 mechanisms: 1) independently inhibiting the alternative pathway or 2) when linked to the 3<sup>rd</sup> domain, domain IV induces futile consumption of C3 via fluid phase activation. The IV fragment was later shown to have a similar structure to other staphylococcal complement inhibitors Efb, Ehp, and SCIN<sup>150</sup>. The third domain is unfolded and may act as an acceptor for the C3d thioester bond. The proposed model<sup>143, 150</sup> is that domain III is the site for assembly of the alternative pathway C3 convertase that is transiently resistant to activation by Factor H and Factor I. The Fc binding regions of Sbi may also be involved by recruiting IgG molecules that are also targets for C3b deposition. Any C3 convertases that form on IgG are more protected from inactivation by Factor H and Factor I, leading to more consumption of C3 and subsequently reduces opsonization of the staphylococcal surface. Sbi can also bind Factor H and FHR (Factor H related protein 1) in human serum<sup>151</sup>. Factor H can bind Sbi, but binding is enhanced when C3, C3b, or C3d is present, and what C3 form is present dictates its stability. The authors propose a model where C3 binding to Sbi leads to a conformational change in C3 which exposes additional binding sites. This forms a tripartite complex where Factor H keeps functionality and may increase the amount of complement inhibition occurring at the site of infection. It could be argued that the original characterization of domains III-IV inhibition of the alternative pathway<sup>143, 150</sup> could be due to this regions ability to bind Factor H. Sbi can also bind C3/C3b simultaneously with plasminogen to enhance cleavage of C3/C3b<sup>152</sup>. Plasminogen is activated to plasmin either by staphylokinase or a host kinase to plasmin, which can degrade C3/C3b bound to Sbi. Plasminogen binding is mediated by domains III-IV, which can also degrade C3a. Sbi virulence has been implicated in skin abscesses and atopic dermatitis and likely occurs through its TNFR1 and complement binding mechanisms, although this has not been directly shown<sup>153, 154, 155</sup>.

#### 1.2.2.4 G5-Е

**SasG.** SasG was discovered in 2003 by an *in silico* analysis of *S. aureus* genomes searching for CWAs<sup>156</sup>. The sequence and structure of SasG is very similar to another *S. aureus* protein, Pls, which is only found in MRSA strains<sup>157</sup>. Patients who have recovered from *S. aureus* infections have antibodies reactive to SasG, and the presence of SasG is correlated with invasive strains versus nasal carriage isolates<sup>156</sup>. SasG is also present in most clinical isolates from humans regardless of subtypes of *Agr*, coagulase and capsules<sup>158</sup>.

Through its N-terminal A domain, SasG promotes adhesion to desquamated nasal epithelial cells but not buccal or non-differentiated keratinocytes<sup>159</sup>. SasG binding was inhibited by Pls and Aap, a related protein found in *S. epidermidis*, suggesting that these proteins share a binding site. SasG was also shown to reduce adherence to fibrinogen and fibronectin but promote bacterial aggregation. As Pls is thought to be a masking protein to prevent other CWAs from binding their ligands<sup>157</sup>, SasG could have a similar role. This was later confirmed<sup>160</sup> and SasG was shown to mask the ability of several other CWAs (SpA, ClfB, and FnBPs) to bind to their ligands. While SasG is able to mask ClfB's ability to bind K10, an important ligand in the nose, adherence is still maintained though SasG's adhesive properties. SasG has a fibrillar structure and is expressed densely across the surface of the cell as peritrichous fibrils<sup>160</sup>, which explains its ability to mask adhesion of other CWAs. The number of repeats contained in SasG affects the ability of this protein to mask other CWAs' function.

SasG's G5 domain structure has been implicated in biofilm formation<sup>161</sup> and cleavage of SasG after the A domain does promote protein-based biofilms in *S. aureus* independent of PIA<sup>160</sup>. It was

later discovered that the G5-E domain is responsible for biofilm formation and that it is dependent on  $Zn^{2+}$  binding<sup>162, 163</sup>. These domains engage in zinc dependent homophilic bonds across the stretched protein, which have been called a "zinc zipper". Five or more repeats are necessary for biofilm formation<sup>160</sup>, likely helping to contribute to the strength of self-association as well as withstanding shear forces. SasG's role in biofilm formation occurs early during the accumulation phase, but not primary attachment. The proposed model is cell-wall attached SasG is cleaved (either spontaneously or through an inhibitor resistant protease) within the repeat region leading to fragments of different lengths being released into the supernatant. Some of these fragments will reattach to newly exposed repeats in a  $Zn^{2+}$  dependent manner. Cleaved and exposed SasG B domains on neighboring cells can interact in a  $Zn^{2+}$  dependent manner, leading to cell accumulation and biofilm formation<sup>164</sup>. A second mechanism of zinc promoting biofilms through SasG is zinc will induce collapsing of other cell surface components, leading to an even greater projection of SasG on the surface to interact with SasG on other cells<sup>163</sup>. Interestingly, since SasG and Aap of *S. epidermidis* are very similar, they can promote interspecies biofilms<sup>163</sup>.

#### 1.2.2.5 Unknown

**SasD**. SasD was also discovered in 2003 by an *in silico* analysis of *S. aureus* genomes searching for CWAs<sup>156</sup>. A total of 10 LPXTG proteins were identified and were named using the convention *S. aureus* surface (Sas) protein. SasD was found to be present in all six genomes analyzed and does not appear to have any repeat domains like many other CWA proteins. SasD, along with SasF, have a modified LPXTG motif (LPXAG), but this does not appear to alter cell-wall association based on analysis of SasF in cell-wall fractions<sup>156</sup>. Another study looking at the cell wall distribution of SasD found it expressed as discrete puncta versus the canonical ring-like expression of most CWAs (along the cell wall division plane)<sup>165</sup>. The difference in distribution

was attributed to the absence of the YSIRK/GS signal motif and further explored with SasF. SasF (and SasD) do not contain this motif and are found in discrete puncta near the cell pole. However, when the motif is expressed in a complemented SasF, expression is now seen as ring-like. How this difference in distribution affects function and or virulence is unknown.

In a study looking at proteomic and transcriptomic regulation of CWAs, trypsin-cleaved SasD peptides representing 39% coverage did not map to any other CWAs, suggesting that it does not contain repetitive domains with other members, unlike the Sdr family<sup>166</sup>. SasD was shown to have bell-shape *agr*-like expression, with protein expression peaking at  $OD_{600nm}=1.8$  in tryptic soy broth (TSB) and expression was very low in the Newman *agr*- strain. Expression was increased in RPMI media, both in wildtype (WT) and *agr*- strains, which the authors contribute to iron regulation, although this increase in expression is ~15% of IsdB's increase at the same OD. Transcriptomic analysis shows that SasD mRNA peaks at OD=2.2 and is increased ~2-fold in the *agr*- strain, suggesting differences in regulation.

SasD is one of the proteins used in *sas* sequence typing of *S. aureus*<sup>167, 168</sup>. In a study looking at genetic evolution of MRSA strains, SasD was found to have variation levels similar to housekeeping genes (*arcC*, *aroE*, *glpF*, *gmk*, *pta*, *tpi*, and *yqiL*)<sup>168</sup>. There were 7 alleles found containing 11 polymorphic sites found in 147 MSSA and MRSA isolates. In a study looking at clonal diversity in animal-associated *S. aureus* strains, SasD was found to have 13 alleles containing 16 polymorphic sites in 118 strains<sup>167</sup>. This discrepancy could be due to the difference in clonal types that colonize/infect human and animals. In another study it was found that this protein appears to have little sequence variation based on comparison of 58 *S. aureus* isolates from

various lineages (ST5, CC5, ST8, CC8, ST30, CC30)<sup>169</sup>. It was also found in 55/58 strains tested and was missing in 2 human- and 1 bovine-derived strains.

#### Table 1: Ligands and Binding Mechanisms of Staphylococcal CWAs

Protein <sup>a</sup>	Ligand <sup>b</sup>	Binding mechanism <sup>b</sup>	Function <sup>b</sup>	References
(Abbreviation)				
MSCRAI	MM Family			
Clumping	Fibrinogen γ chain C-	DLL	Adhesion; Immune Evasion	29, 37, 38
factor A (ClfA)	terminus			
	Fibrinogen γ-globular domain	Unknown; Monoclonal antibody	Adhesion?; Immune Evasion?	170
	of the D region	tefibazumab (anti-ClfA) blocks		
		binding to this site		
	Human platelets via	Through fibrinogen	Platelet binding	44, 45
	GPIIb/IIIa			
	GPIIb/IIIa AND	Fibrinogen + complement binding	Platelet activation and	46
	IgG+ FcyRIIa OR		aggregation	
	Complement opsonin + CR			

Clumping	Integrin $\alpha_V \beta_3$	Through fibrinogen	Adhesion to endothelial cells	47
factor A (ClfA)	Complement Factor I	Fibrinogen binding leads to	Acts as cofactor, increased	54, 55
cont.		conformational change allowing	degradation of C3b to iC3b	
		Factor I to bind and be active	and less C3b binding	
	Complement Factor H	Unknown (likely DLL?)	C3 convertase degradation,	56
			Increased C3b degradation,	
			reduced opsonization	
	Von Willebrand factor	ClfA binds vWbp through DLL,	Adhesion	48, 171
	binding protein (vWbp)	which in turn will bind vWF		
	Annexin 2	Unknown	Bovine mammary epithelial	172
			cell adhesion and invasion.	
Clumping	Fibrinogen α chain repeat 5	DLL	Adhesion	60, 173
factor B (ClfB)	Keratin 10 Tail region	DLL	Nasal colonization	68, 69, 173

Clumping	Loricrin, multiple locations	DLL	Nasal colonization; Adherence	63, 65, 72
factor B (ClfB)			to Atopic Dermatitis	
cont.			corneocytes; Skin abscesses	
	Keratin 8	Presumed DLL?	Adhesion?	70
	Platelets (through (GPIIb/IIIa	Through fibrinogen	Platelet aggregation	61
	and IgG+ FcγRIIa ?)			
	Annexin 2	Unknown	Bovine mammary epithelial	174
			cell adhesion and invasion.	
Serine-	Desquamated nasal	Unknown	Nasal colonization	117
aspartate	epithelium			
repeat protein	β-neurexin 1β	DLL	Adhesion?	113
C (SdrC)	N-terminus			

Serine-	SdrC homophilic interactions	Ca <sup>2+</sup> dependent co-binding of N2	Biofilm formation	114, 115, 116
aspartate		domains		
repeat protein	Abiotic surfaces	Through hydrophobic residues?	Biofilm formation	115
C (SdrC) cont.				
Serine-	Desquamated nasal	Unknown	Nasal colonization	117
aspartate	epithelium			
repeat protein	Desmoglein 1	Unknown	Binding to keratinocytes	118
D (SdrD)				
Serine-	Factor H	Modified DLL mechanism	Increased degradation of C3	56, 123, 175
aspartate			convertases, reduced	
repeat protein			opsonization	
E (SdrE)	Unknown	Binds in A region of SdrE	Platelet aggregation	45
	C4b-binding protein (C4BP)	Unknown	Degradation of classical C3	124, 176
			convertase, C4b degradation,	
			reduced opsonization	

Bone	Bone sialoprotein	Unknown	Role in bone infections?	126
sialoprotein-				
binding	C4b-binding protein (C4BP)	Unknown	Degradation of classical C3	124
protein (Bbp)			convertase, C4b degradation,	
(isoform of			reduced opsonization	
SdrE)	Fibrinogen α-chain	DLL	Adhesion	130, 177
Fibronectin-	Fibronectin	Fibronectin binding repeats, tandem	Adhesion	83, 178, 179
binding		β-zipper		
protein A	Integrin $\alpha_5\beta_1$	Bridge through fibronectin	Invasion of nonphagocytic	80, 82
(FnbA)			cells	
	Fibrinogen γ chain C-	DLL	Adhesion	91, 93
	terminus			
	Elastin	DLL	Adhesion	94, 95

Fibronectin-	Plasminogen	N3 domain of FnbA; Binding to	Activation of plasminogen;	96, 97
binding		Fibrinogen leads to confirmational	Immune evasion	
protein A		change, allowing binding to		
(FnbA) cont.		plasminogen		
	FnbA homophilic interactions	FnbA A domain, Zn <sup>2+</sup> dependent	Biofilm	98, 99, 100
	Platelets (through (GPIIb/IIIa	Through fibrinogen	Platelet aggregation	180
	and IgG+ FcyRIIa ?)			
Fibronectin-	Fibronectin	Fibronectin binding repeats, tandem	Adhesion	83, 178, 179
binding		β-zipper		
protein B	Integrin $\alpha_5\beta_1$	Bridge through fibronectin	Invasion of nonphagocytic	80, 82
(FnbB)			cells	
	Fibrinogen γ chain C-	DLL	Adhesion	92
	terminus			
	Elastin	DLL	Adhesion	94

Fibronectin-	Histone H3	DLL	Prevent membrane damage;	101
binding			increase degradation; immune	
protein B			evasion	
(FnbB) cont.	Plasminogen	N3 domain of FnbB; Binding to	Activation of plasminogen;	96, 97
		Fibrinogen leads to confirmational	Immune evasion	
		change, allowing binding to		
		plasminogen		
	FnbB homophilic	FnbB A domain?; Zn <sup>2+</sup> dependent	Biofilm	99
	interactions?			
Collagen	Collagen triple helix	Collagen hug	Adhesion	181, 182
adhesion (Cna)	Complement C1q	Modified Collagen hug	Inhibition of Classical	183, 184
			complement pathway	
	Laminin	Modified Collagen hug	Adhesion to basement	184, 185
			membrane	

NEAT Family				
Iron-regulated	Heme	NEAT domain	Heme uptake, iron acquisition	133, 186, 187
surface protein	Fibrinogen $\beta$ and $\gamma$ chains	NEAT domain	Adhesion; nasal colonization	188, 189
A (IsdA)	Fibronectin	NEAT domain	Adhesion; nasal colonization	188, 189
(aka StbA or	Keratin 10	NEAT domain	Adhesion; nasal colonization	190
SasE)	Loricrin	NEAT domain	Adhesion; nasal colonization	190
	Involucrin	NEAT domain	Adhesion; nasal colonization	190
	Desquamated epithelial cells	NEAT domain? Though interactions listed above?	Adhesion; nasal colonization	117
	Apolactoferrin	NEAT domain	Inhibition of lactoferrin; nasal colonization?	191
	Transferrin	NEAT domain?	Iron acquisition	131

Iron-regulated	Alteration of surface	C- domain of IsdA	Resistance to bactericidal	192
surface protein	hydrophilicity		lipids and AMPs; Skin	
A (IsdA) cont.			colonization	
Iron-regulated	Hemoglobin/ Methemoglobin	NEAT <sub>1</sub> domains	Heme extraction through	133, 135, 193,
surface protein			NEAT <sub>2</sub> ; can also bind	194
B (IsdB)			haptoglobin-hemoglobin	
(aka FrpB,			complex; iron acquisition	
SirH, or SasJ)	β3-containing integrins	Outside of NEAT domains	Platelet aggregation; Adhesion	137, 138, 139
	(GPIIb/IIIa, $\alpha_V\beta_3$ )		and internalization	
	Vitronectin	NEAT domains	Acts as bridge to integrins;	140
			adhesion and internalization	
	Von Willebrand factor	NEAT domain	Adhesion to endothelial cells	136

Iron-regulated	Haptoglobin-Hemoglobin	NEAT domains	Binding of haptoglobin-	193, 195, 196,
surface protein	complex		hemoglobin complex (NEAT <sub>1</sub>	197
H (IsdH)			+ NEAT <sub>2</sub> ); inhibits binding of	
(aka HarA or			complexes by host scavenger	
SasI)			receptor CD163 (NEAT <sub>1</sub> );	
			Heme extraction; Iron	
			Acquisition	
	Hemoglobin/ Methemoglobin	NEAT <sub>2</sub> and NEAT <sub>3</sub> domains	Heme extraction; Iron	196, 198, 199,
			Acquisition.	200, 201, 202
				203
	Heme	NEAT <sub>3</sub> domain	Iron Acquisition	196, 204
	Unknown	Unknown	Enhanced degradation of C3b	205
			to iC3b and C3d; reduced	
			phagocytosis	

Three Helical Bundle Family				
Staphylococcal	IgG Fc	EABCD domains (IgG binding	Inhibition of	206, 207, 208,
Protein A		domains)	opsonophagocytosis via	209, 210, 211,
(SpA)			human IgG1, IgG2, and IgG4	212
	Fab heavy chain V <sub>H</sub> 3 family	IgG binding domains	B cell super-antigen; Leads to	213, 214, 215,
	region of IgM, IgA, IgE, IgG		nonspecific activation of B	216, 217, 218,
			cells, proliferation, migration	219, 220, 221,
			to spleen, or clonal deletion	222, 223, 224
			via apoptosis	
	Von Willebrand factor	vWF A1, D'/D3 domains; SpA IgG	Adhesion to endothelial cells;	225, 226, 227,
		binding domains (in Fc binding	platelet adhesion;	228, 229, 230,
		region)	Mechanical (shear) stress	231
			likely leads to conformational	
			changes that expose binding	
			sites	

Stanhylococcal	$TNFR1 + FGFR \cdot Unknown^{c}$	TNFR1: laG binding domains	Inflammatory signaling	232, 233, 234,
Staphylococcai	TWIKI + LOI K, Olikilowii	1101 K1. Igo olikuling dolikulins	initialinitatory signating	
Protein A		EGFR: IgG binding domains	(TNF $\alpha$ , IL-6, IFN $\beta$ ) in airway	235, 236
(SpA) cont.		Unknown: Xr region	epithelium	
Second	IgG Fc	Domains I and II (IgG binding	Inhibition of	141, 146, 147
binding		domains)	opsonophagocytosis via	
protein for IgG			human IgG1, IgG2, and IgG4	
(Sbi) <sup>d</sup>	Complement C3	Domains III and IV (Complement	Complement Evasion;	143, 150, 237
		binding domains)	Activation of alternative	144
			pathway; Futile consumption	
			of C3; Reduced	
			opsonophagocytosis by	
			neutrophils	
	β2-glycoprotien I (β2-GPI; aka	Complement binding domains?	Unknown	142
	apolipoprotein H			

Second	Factor H	Complement binding domains;	Complement Evasion; Inhibits	151
binding		binds better when C3 is present	Alternative pathway	
protein for IgG				
(Sbi) <sup>d</sup> cont.	Plasminogen	Complement binding domains	Complement Evasion; Cleaves	152
			C3, C3b, C3a	
	Lipoteichoic Acid (LTA)	C-terminal Y domain of Sbi	Allows for membrane bound	145
			Sbi	
	TNFR1 + EGFR	In domains I-IV	Induction of inflammatory	149
		(IgG binding domains?)	signaling in macrophages	
G5-E Family				
S. aureus	Desquamated epithelial cells	A region of SasG	Adhesion; nasal colonization	159, 160
surface protein	SasG homophilic interactions	Zn <sup>2+</sup> dependent binding of G5-E	Biofilm formation	160, 162, 163,
G (SasG)		domains		164, 238
	No Ligand	Steric hindrance/ masking other	Inhibition of adhesion binding	160
		CWAs		

Plasmin-	No Ligand	Steric hindrance/ masking other	Inhibition of adhesion	157, 239, 240,
sensitive		CWAs	binding; reduced	241
surface protein			internalization	
(Pls) <sup>e</sup>	Unknown	Glycosylation status?	Biofilm formation	241
	Desquamated epithelial cells	A region of Pls	Adhesion; nasal colonization	159
Unknown				
Adenosine	Enzymatic function	Convert AMP/ADP/ATP to	Bacterial survival; Reduced	242, 243, 244,
synthase A		adenosine	killing by inhibiting oxidative	245
(AdsA)			burst in neutrophils; inhibition	
(aka SasH)			of macrophage phagocytosis;	
			inhibition of Th1/Th17	
			immunity	
	Enzymatic function	Converts nuclease-digested NETs	Degradation of NETs; induced	246, 247
		into deoxyadenosine	apoptosis of macrophages	

Serine-rich	N-acetylneuraminic acid	β-grasp fold domain	Platelet binding; Adhesion	248, 249, 250
adhesion for	(Neu5Ac) containing		and invasion; Oral	
platelets	glycoproteins; Salivary		colonization?	
(SraP)	agglutinin gp340			
(aka SasA)				
S. aureus	Unknown	Unknown	Adhesion to human nasal	251
protein X			epithelial cells; bacterial	
(SasX)			aggregates; biofilm;	
			neutrophil evasion	
S. aureus	Unknown	N-terminal domain	Bacterial aggregation; biofilm	252
surface protein			accumulation	
C (SasC)				
S. aureus	Unknown	Unknown	Linoleic acid resistance; skin	108, 253
surface protein			abscess formation	
F (SasF)				

S. aureus	Unknown	Unknown	Invasive infections? (Bone	254, 255, 256
surface protein			implant infection, bovine	
F (SasF) cont.			mastitis, endocarditis);	
			biofilm?	
SasB, SasD,	Unknown	Unknown	Unknown	156
SasK, SasL				

a aka: also known as

b ? denotes presumed ligand/binding/function has not been directly tested

c See Staphylococcal Pneumonia section for more details

d Not a CWA but was studied herein and is covered

e Note: Pls is encoded in SCCmec type I typically found in HA-MRSA strai

#### 1.3 S. aureus Host-Pathogen Interactions

The innate immune system is an important part of host defense against staphylococcal infections. Phagocytes, consisting of neutrophils and macrophages, play a large role in controlling *S. aureus* infections. Because of this, a majority of staphylococcal virulence factors function by avoiding recognition, phagocytosis, and killing by phagocytes. *S. aureus* is a successful pathogen that produces a wide array of virulence factors including toxins, immune evasion factors, proteases, and non-protein factors<sup>9</sup>. However, it is important to note that some of these virulence factors are specific to humans and may not show virulence in some models.

Here, the focus is on the early stages of staphylococcal infection, focusing on the major components of innate immune system and the host-pathogen interactions.

#### **1.3.1 Opsonization**

One of the first lines of defense against bacteria is to tag them for phagocytosis via opsonization<sup>9, 257</sup>. The two main types of opsonins are complement and immunoglobulins (Igs), which are deposited on the bacterial surface and are recognized by receptors that recognize the Fc region of Igs (Fc receptors; FcRs) or complement (complement receptors; CRs) and initiate the phagocytic process. *S. aureus* has several virulence factors that can interfere with opsonization with either complement or Igs.

The complement system is part of the innate immune humoral response and is a complex system of proteases leading to soluble and surface-bound factors that contribute to phagocytosis and other immune processes<sup>258</sup>. There are three pathways of complement, all which converge on the cleavage of C3 into surface deposited C3b and a soluble mediator C3a by C3 convertases. Continuation of this cascade eventually leads to the cleavage of C5 to C5a and C5b, and initiation of the membrane attack complex (MAC) composed of C5b, C6, C7, C8, and C9, which can form pores and lyse some pathogens. C3a and C5a can also act as chemoattractants to bring more phagocytes to the area of inflammation<sup>258</sup>. There are several receptors that recognize surfacedeposited factors and expression of these receptors depends on the type of phagocyte. For example, neutrophils express CR1 (CD35) and CR3 (CD11b/CD18) while macrophages express CR3 and CR4 (CD11c/CD18)<sup>257</sup>. S. aureus protein SCIN is the most central to inhibiting complement, leading to fewer C3 convertases, less C3b deposition, and subsequently less C5a and MAC formation. Sbi can also bind complement Factor H and C3 to prevent complement cascade activation. There are several other proteins that can bind and inhibit different parts of the complement pathway, such as Efb, Cna, and Eap. S. aureus protease aureolysin can cleave C3, leading to less functional C3b to be deposited99, 259. CHIPs is a protein that can inhibit both neutrophil and macrophage chemotaxis by binding to phagocytic receptors such as the C5a receptor<sup>260</sup>.

Opsonization with Igs occurs when antigen specific Igs are produced by the adaptive immune system in response to a pathogen. Igs will bind to pathogens via their antigen-specific binding site in their Fab region and subsequently be recognized via their Fc region and FcRs on immune cells<sup>9</sup>, <sup>257</sup>. There are several subtypes of Igs (IgG1, IgG2, IgG3, IgG4, IgM, IgA) and each subtype has

specific functions and FcRs. The subtype of Ig made and what antigen the Ig is specific to is dependent on the infection type and immune response (antigen presentation, memory, Ig maturation, etc.). In *S. aureus* infections, Igs are typically directed against surface molecules such as peptidoglycan, wall teichoic acid, and surface expressed proteins, such as CWAs (see 1.2 above) Since most humans are exposed to staphylococci early in life, people will likely already have some level of staphylococcal specific Igs prior to an active infection. Thus, having naturally occurring Ig types, such as IgG, against several staphylococcal antigens will help facilitate this process. Additionally, IgG can feed into the classical pathway of complement, increasing the level of opsonization<sup>257</sup>. *S. aureus* produces several proteins that can interfere with Ig deposition, with the most characterized being SpA. SpA binds the Fc region to prevent recognition by phagocytic FcRs. Additionally, binding the Fc region of IgG prevents activation of the classical pathway of complement fixation. Sbi exclusively binds the Fc region of IgG while proteases V8 and SAK can cleave Igs<sup>9, 172</sup>.

#### **1.3.2 Phagocytosis**

Phagocytosis is the process of engulfing other cells, cell fragments, or microorganisms. This process not only sequesters the components phagocytosed, but also leads to their eventual elimination via degradation<sup>261</sup>. There are several phases in the phagocytic process, starting from attachment of the opsonized microbe via receptors (CRs or FcRs), pseudopod extensions around the attached microbe, and completion of the engulfment resulting in the formation of a phagosome<sup>261</sup>. After formation of the phagosome, it will fuse with granules (neutrophils) or the lysosome (macrophages) containing bactericidal components. Concurrently, an oxidative burst is

initiated in the phagosome via NADPH-dependent oxidases leading to the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS)<sup>257, 262</sup>.

In addition to inhibition of opsonization, phagocytosis can be inhibited by S. aureus, typically through masking of the pathogen from the immune system. Coating of the surface of the bacteria with sugars or host components decreases the antigenicity of the pathogen, and thus may prevent the opsonization and the phagocytic process all together<sup>9, 19</sup>. The expression of a capsular exopolysaccharide is common in some clinical strains; however, this is not produced by USA300<sup>9</sup>. PIA is another exopolysaccharide that can act as a shield as well as a major component of staphylococcal biofilm matrix.<sup>9</sup> Biofilms themselves are protective against phagocytosis and can form on abiotic surfaces such as indwelling medical devices or on tissue surfaces such as the heart valves in endocarditis<sup>22</sup>. After initial adhesion to a surface, the biofilm matrix is produced consisting of PIA exopolysaccharide, extracellular DNA, teichoic acids, and other biofilm promoting proteins<sup>9</sup>. Bacterial aggregates in the blood are also protective against phagocytosis, with several S. aureus proteins known to bind host components to help facilitate aggregation in the blood<sup>9, 22</sup>. Coagulase and vWbp together bind prothrombin and create a complex known as staphylothrombin. Staphylothrombin can then cleave fibrinogen in the absence of vascular damage, and fibrinogen binding proteins can also adhere to fibrin clots or activate aggregation of platelets<sup>9</sup>.

#### 1.3.3 Phagocyte-mediated Killing

#### 1.3.3.1 Neutrophils

In the immune system, the predominant phagocytic cell is the neutrophil, accounting for 40-60% of all leukocytes in humans. Neutrophils are part of the first line of defense against a pathogen as they are the first recruited cell type to an area of inflammation, show a fast response, and have several bactericidal mechanisms. These cells can be rapidly mobilized from the bone marrow and can secrete cytokines to recruit in additional immune cells. Neutrophils have two main mechanisms for killing pathogens after phagocytosis: generation of ROS and granules filled with proteases and antimicrobial peptides (AMPs).

Neutrophils contain several types of granules characterized by what they contain; primary (azurophilic) granules contain myeloperoxidase (MPO) and secondary (specific) granules that do not; however, granules are heterogenous and can be subdivided further based on various markers. MPO is one of the most abundant proteins in the primary granules and catalyzes the generation of hypochlorous acid that aids in bacterial killing. Additional ROS molecules are generated within the phagosome such as hydrogen peroxide, hydroxyl radicals, and superoxide. Inducible nitric oxide synthetase (iNOS) generates NO which will react with superoxide to form reactive nitrogen species (RNS) that are also antimicrobial. Additional components found in granules include proteins involved in metal binding/sequestering (lactoferrin, lipocalin), cationic AMPs (defensins, cathelicidin type peptides), and serine proteases (cathepsin G, elastase)<sup>257</sup>.

While neutrophils are essential for the clearance of *S. aureus* infections, this bacterium has developed methods to avoid killing after phagocytosis. Staphylococci can survive within the

phagosome and have developed several mechanisms to avoid killing<sup>257, 263</sup>. *S. aureus* has several mechanisms to resist ROS damage. Staphyloxanthin, the orange pigment that gives *S. aureus* its name, scavenges free radicals from ROS activity through its conjugated double bonds. *S. aureus* also expressed several enzymes to help detoxify ROS such as catalase, superoxide dismutase, and lactate dehydrogenase. AMPs are commonly positively charged and function by forming pores in the bacterial membrane. To avoid this, *S. aureus* will reduce the negative charge of the membrane and cell wall to avoid AMP interactions. Lysozyme, an enzyme known to cleave Gram-positive cell walls, is inefficient for *S. aureus* due to modifications of its peptidoglycan<sup>9, 260</sup>. Staphylokinase (SAK) can bind and inhibit the bactericidal activity of neutrophil defensins while Eap can inhibit serine proteases neutrophil elastase, cathepsin G, and proteinase 3<sup>260, 264</sup>.

Additionally, neutrophils are able to trap and kill extracellular bacteria through the release of their chromatin, known as neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs). The DNA is also associated with antimicrobial peptides, histones, and proteases to help facilitate bacterial killing<sup>257, 265</sup>. NET formation is induced via proinflammatory stimuli such as ROS, cytokines, and bacterial exposure<sup>265</sup>. *S. aureus* primarily evades NETs via the expression of a nuclease, Nuc, which can degrade the chromatin and subsequently allow *S. aureus* to escape being killed by AMPs or proteases<sup>9, 265</sup>. Additionally, the enzyme adenosine synthase is secreted and is able to convert NETs to deoxyadenosine, which can trigger death of immune cells via caspase activation<sup>265</sup>. Recently, it was discovered that NETs can influence macrophage phagocytosis and killing,<sup>266</sup> and so NET avoidance likely plays a larger role than previously realized.

#### 1.3.3.2 Macrophages

Macrophages are another key component of the innate immune system. Unlike neutrophils, macrophages can be tissue resident, with circulating monocytes entering tissue to differentiate into macrophages as needed during infection. They are typically less reactive than neutrophils, likely to control off target inflammation that can occur with neutrophil activation. As well as acting as professional phagocytes, macrophages are also antigen presenting cells (APCs), playing a role in tying the innate and adaptive immune responses<sup>172</sup>. Upon sensing environmental signals, macrophages display a spectrum of functional characteristics that can generally be categorized into microbicidal M1 or tissue repair/inflammation resolution M2 macrophages<sup>262</sup>. Macrophages can recognize *S. aureus* for phagocytosis through complement and Fc receptors (CRs and FcRs, respectively) as well as receptors known as scavenger receptors (SRs)<sup>172</sup>. SRs can recognize a wide variety of pathogenic molecules such as polysaccharides, lipids, CpG, and LTA and can induce phagocytosis in the absence of traditional opsonins. While a majority of *S. aureus* is efficiently phagocytosed and killed by macrophages, some can survive and eventually escape, similar to what occurs in neutrophils <sup>172, 263</sup>.

Macrophage phagosomes function similarly to neutrophil phagosomes, however macrophage phagosomes fuse with lysosomes rather than granules (which are not present in macrophages)<sup>172</sup>. This leads to an acidification of the phagolysosome, which can negatively impact bacterial growth and increase efficacy of AMPs<sup>172, 262</sup>. This is primarily mediated through the function of a vacuolar associated ATPase (v-ATPase), which pumps H<sup>+</sup> ions into the lumen of the phagosome<sup>172, 267</sup>. In macrophages, ROS is generated similarly to neutrophils, with a major difference being the amount of MPO present in each cell type (less in macrophages), leading to different concentrations of
various ROS<sup>172</sup>. Additionally, mitochondria ROS (mROS) also plays a role in macrophages, by sending mROS to the phagosome via mitochondria-derived vesicles or by mitochondria associating with the phagosome membrane<sup>172, 268</sup>. Macrophages also use nutritional immunity mechanisms to sequester nutrients away from microbes<sup>172, 262</sup>. Metal ions iron and manganese are sequestered to restrict bacterial growth, while copper and zinc are unrestricted and used to overwhelm bacteria with toxicity<sup>172, 267</sup>.

*S. aureus* can also resist killing in macrophages through similar mechanisms as neutrophils such as resisting ROS/RNS, and AMPs. Additionally, *S. aureus* can survive and multiply in mature phagosomes in both murine and human macrophages<sup>269</sup>. *S. aureus* is able to sense the acidification of the phagolysosome through the GraXRS regulatory system, which triggers transcription of genes involved in surviving the hostile environment, such as AMP resistance<sup>262</sup>. Several studies have shown that *S. aureus* containing phagolysosomes do not acidify appropriately compared to other bacteria such as *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, which may help facilitate later escape from the phagosome<sup>172</sup>. There is evidence that the alpha-toxin can inhibit mitochondrial association with phagolysosomes via induction of caspase 1, which may explain part of this phenomenon<sup>268, 270</sup>. To overcome sequestering of metals within the phagosome, *S. aureus* will express metal transporters as well as metallophores/siderophores to bind metal ions<sup>172</sup>. While not directly tied to phagocytosis, *S. aureus* can also influence the polarization of macrophages, which may allow for inefficient bactericidal behavior<sup>172</sup>.

## **1.3.4 Killing of Phagocytes**

While many of the mechanisms to avoid killing by phagocytes occurs within the phagosome, S. aureus also has several mechanisms to actively avoid phagocytes by inducing their death. Dead or dying phagocytes are not microbicidal, and thus killing these cells before being phagocytosed is another mechanism to evade killing within the host<sup>271</sup>. S. aureus expresses a number of poreforming toxins, leading to loss of membrane integrity and lysis of affected cells. Collectively called leukotoxins, the function of these toxins is primarily geared towards leukocytes such as neutrophil and macrophages<sup>257, 265, 267</sup>. The most well characterized staphylococcal pore-forming toxin is the alpha-toxin. The alpha-toxin acts as a cytolysin for many cell types including leukocytes by forming a membrane-spanning pore. This is a receptor dependent process, using the host protein ADAM10 (a disintegrin and metalloprotease domain-containing protein 10). In high concentrations, pore formation leads to inflammatory signaling, such as NLRP3 inflammasome signaling, and subsequent cell death (pyroptosis or necroptosis)<sup>267, 272</sup>. S. aureus has several other pore-forming toxins known as bicomponent leukocidins such as PVL (encoded by lukS-PV and lukF-PV), LukDE, LukAB (also called LukGH), and HlgAB or HlgCB combinations of the gamma-hemolysin. These toxins require two subunits, with fast (F) subunit recognizing the host membrane protein receptor (for example, a chemokine receptor) and the second slow (S) subunit is then recruited and leads to dimerization and pore formation. Their receptors are almost exclusively all chemokine receptors located on various immune cells, but mainly on phagocytes<sup>257</sup>, <sup>265, 272</sup>. Phenol-soluble modulins (PSMs), including the delta-toxin, are amphipathic alpha-helical peptides that are receptor independent, likely due to their ability to insert into lipid bilayers. PSMs have more characterization in their interactions with neutrophils but have been shown to affect

macrophages as well<sup>267</sup>. Additionally, both PSMs and LukAB have been shown to lyse neutrophils from within<sup>257, 265</sup>.

#### **1.4 Staphylococcal Bacterial Pneumonia**

# 1.4.1 Epidemiology

Prior to the emergence of CA-MRSA, *S. aureus* was an uncommon cause of pneumonia in healthy individuals who had not previously been infected with influenza <sup>273, 274</sup>. In the 1950s, sporadic cases were described in very young infants and adults with preexisting diseases (cardiopulmonary disease, alcoholism, diabetes) and acquired their pneumonia in the hospital. Mortality rates at the time in the ranged from 12-15% in children, 20% in young adults, 30-50% post-influenza, and 84% of patients with bacteremic primary pneumonia<sup>274</sup>. In the 1960s-1980s, *S. aureus* accounted for 1-10% of community-acquired pneumonia (CAP) and  $\geq$  10% of hospital-acquired pneumonia (HAP)<sup>275</sup>. Those who had severe infection requiring hospitalization typically were older and had preexisting diseases and acquired infections from a health care setting<sup>274, 275</sup>.

In the 1980s-mid 1990s, *S. aureus* was associated with 20-40% of nosocomial pneumonia cases<sup>276, 277</sup>. In a study of nosocomial pneumonia from 1985 to 1988, *S. aureus* was the second most common bacterial cause after *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*<sup>278, 279</sup>. Between 1983 and 1992, *S. aureus* became the primary cause of HAP in the United States, accounting for 15-30% of the cases<sup>277, 280</sup>. This was consistent with reports from Europe in the same time period  $(30\%)^{281}$ . In a six-year prospective Spanish hospital study of *S. aureus* bacteremic pneumonia, the authors found

94% of MRSA pneumonia cases were nosocomially acquired compared to 70% for MSSA pneumonia and those with MRSA had longer hospitalization times<sup>282</sup>. Ventilated patients were at high risk of developing *S. aureus* pneumonia, with studies reporting 10-60% of ventilator-associated pneumonia (VAP) caused by *S. aureus*<sup>276, 277, 283</sup>. MRSA VAP patients typically had worse morbidity and mortality than MSSA VAP patients<sup>284, 285</sup>. This increase in incidence of *S. aureus* HAP overlaps with the spread of HA-MRSA and this likely contributed to this rise<sup>280, 286, 287</sup>. In a study done on the National Nosocomial Infections Surveillance (NNIS) system database from 1992-2003 found that MRSA accounted for 55% of *S. aureus* infections in the ICU<sup>288</sup>. In a retrospective study of the 2000-2001 Nationwide Inpatient Sample (NIS) database ICD-9-CM discharge diagnosis codes, *S. aureus* was the most frequently isolated pathogen in the intensive care unit (ICU) and patients typically had three times the length of stay and five times the risk of death compared to patients not infected with *S. aureus*<sup>289</sup>. However, this study did not differentiate MSSA from MRSA, so it is unclear what percentage of their findings was due to MRSA.

As CA-MRSA began to spread<sup>18, 290, 291, 292, 293</sup>, there was an increase in MRSA CAP cases<sup>274</sup>, <sup>294, 295, 296, 297, 298, 299</sup>. While CA-MRSA is more associated with SSTIs, CA-MRSA CAP can still cause severe disease in young healthy adults and children<sup>295, 300, 301</sup>. These cases differed from HA-MRSA cases in that they were primarily necrotizing pneumonia<sup>302</sup>, which was thought to be due to the increased rate of PVL-positivity in these strains<sup>295, 296, 303, 304, 305</sup>. Necrotizing pneumonia is characterized by hemoptysis, leukopenia, high fever, and lung necrosis or abscesses<sup>306</sup>. This can progress rapidly and become fatal in healthy adults and children, with a mortality rate as high as 60%<sup>307, 308</sup>. CA-MRSA CAP cases are also commonly associated with recent or concurrent influenza-like illness and clusters of infections are temporally related to influenza A outbreaks<sup>309</sup>, <sup>310, 311</sup>, which likely contributes to the level of tissue damage seen in the lungs of these patients (See 1.5 below).

#### **1.4.2 Staphylococcal Virulence**

There have been several studies done on staphylococcal virulence factors *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Here, the focus will be on the major virulence factors associated with pneumonia. For more information see reviews<sup>272, 312, 313, 314</sup>.

**Panton-Valentine Leukocidin.** The first toxin associated with CA-MRSA necrotizing pneumonia is Panton-Valentine leukocidin (PVL)<sup>304, 315</sup>. While MSSA can also encode PVL, the association with necrotizing pneumonia is in CA-MRSA strains<sup>303, 305, 316</sup>. PVL is a bicomponent pore that targets neutrophils, monocytes, and macrophages that results in cell death<sup>317</sup>. The receptors for PVL are complement receptors, C5aR and C5L2, which are found on phagocytes and explain its cell specificity<sup>318</sup>. PVL is secreted as its monomers, LukS-PV and LukF-PV, which will associate with their receptor and initiate pore-formation. After pore-formation, neutrophils undergo caspase-3 and caspase-9 mediated cell death<sup>319</sup>. In macrophages, PVL can lead to induction of the NLRP3 inflammasome and activation of cathepsin B, ultimately leading to programmed necrosis and cell death<sup>320, 321</sup>.

Both human and rabbit phagocytes are susceptible to PVL induced cytotoxicity, but not murine or nonhuman primate phagocytes<sup>322</sup>. This explains the difficulty to associate PVL with pneumonia in infection models and the conflicting literature<sup>323, 324, 325</sup>. However, a humanized mouse shows increased PVL virulence<sup>326</sup>. PVL may still be able to induce inflammation in mice

without the ability to lyse phagocytes<sup>327, 328</sup>. Clinical meta-analyses also fail to find a clear connection between PVL and necrotizing pneumonia independent of the CA-MRSA background<sup>329, 330, 331</sup>. USA300, the more prevalent CA-MRSA in the United States, expresses higher levels of PVL and is more virulent in mouse models than USA400, which may also help to explain the lack of evidence for PVL<sup>332</sup>.

**Alpha-toxin.** The most well characterized virulence factor in the lungs is the alpha-toxin (also known as alpha-hemolysin; Hla). Hla is a pore forming toxin that assembles into heptamers at the cell membrane by binding to its receptor, ADAM10 <sup>333, 334, 335</sup>. Hla has been shown to alter the lung alveolar epithelium by a variety of mechanisms such as altering focal adhesions, inducing proinflammatory signaling and calcium fluxes, leading to decreases in antimicrobial surfactant secretion and mitochondrial depolarization. This leads to increased epithelial injury and subsequent lung damage and edema<sup>336, 337, 338, 339, 340, 341, 342, 343</sup>. Infection with strains lacking Hla is associated with lower morbidity and mortality compared to wild-type strains in pneumonia<sup>270, 344, 345, 346</sup>. Disruption of ADAM10 expression in the lung is also protective against a lethal pneumonia model<sup>347</sup>. Antibodies against Hla are protective in pneumonia models<sup>348, 349, 350, 351, 352</sup>, supporting a role for this virulence factor in the lung. Hla is not only helpful for *S. aureus* but can help Gram-negative bacteria in a co-infection model<sup>270</sup>.

Hla induces the NLPR3 inflammasome<sup>353, 354</sup> and this interaction has been heavily studied<sup>268, 346, 355</sup>. Hla mediated NLRP3 induction, through K<sup>+</sup> efflux, in the lung leads to activation of capase-1 and subsequent generation of IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-18 and pyroptosis induction<sup>272, 354</sup>. Hla-mediated NLRP3 inflammasome activation can be used as a way to survive in the macrophage phagosome by

preventing acidification<sup>268</sup>. Interestingly, IL-1 $\beta$  appears to be a biproduct of this phenomenon as blocking IL-1 $\beta$  signaling can increase survival without affecting bacterial burden<sup>268, 346</sup>. More recent work suggests that the NLRP3 inflammasome mechanism may be a biproduct of (or in combination with) necroptosis<sup>356, 357, 358</sup>. This study shows that Hla induces MLKL phosphorylation, which forms a pore as part of the cell death pathway, ultimately leading to K<sup>+</sup> efflux induced activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome. There is also some evidence that the NLRP6 inflammasome may be involved in both pyroptosis and necroptosis in the lung, although it is unclear if Hla is involved in this process<sup>359</sup>. At this time, it is unclear if both pyroptosis and necroptosis are induced in the lung and what roles they play in staphylococcal pneumonia. In the skin, there is some evidence that both cell death pathways are induced and play different roles: 1) pyroptosis helps with bacterial clearance of *S. aureus* while 2) necroptosis helps to control the level of inflammation<sup>360</sup>.

**Protein A.** Protein A (SpA) is one of the most well-studied and multifunctional virulence factors in *S. aureus*. The most well-characterized role of SpA is immune evasion by binding Igs<sup>22</sup>. While this likely has a role in pneumonia, it has not been directly tested and will not be covered here; for more details, on SpA functions see Table 1. SpA was the first virulence factor described in the lung, although early studies did not find it anti-phagocytic<sup>361, 362</sup>. *S. aureus* strains isolated from patients with airway infections have increased expression of protein A<sup>363</sup>.

In human airway epithelial cells, SpA induces pro-inflammatory signaling through binding of TNFR1<sup>232</sup>. This was also confirmed in an *in vivo* murine pneumonia model, as TNFR1 null mice and WT mice infected with  $\Delta spa$  had attenuated disease. The IgG binding domains of SpA

were later confirmed to be mediating this interaction with TNFR1<sup>233</sup>. SpA induces expression of TNFR1 on the apical surface of airway epithelium and leads to increased shedding of the receptor<sup>232</sup>. Shedding is mediated by another SpA interaction, with EGFR, leading to its phosphorylation<sup>235</sup>. EGFR signaling leads to phosphorylation and activation of a metalloprotease TACE (TNF-α converting enzyme; aka ADAM17), which cleaves TNFR1. Additionally, *S. aureus* induction of TACE (likely through the SpA-EGFR interaction) leads to increased IL-6 signaling and recruitment of macrophages via CCL-2<sup>234</sup>. SpA, through its Xr region, can also induce type I IFN (IFNβ) transcription via signal transducer and activator of transcription 1/3 (STAT1/STAT3) activation<sup>236</sup>. In this study, the Xr region also induced IL-6 in an IFNβ- and STAT3-dependent manner, although it is unclear how and if this relates to the IL-6 signaling through TACE. SpA can also facilitate invasion of polarized airway epithelial cell monolayers via the paracellular junctions<sup>364</sup>. SpA activation of EGFR, along with the protease calpain, leads to cleavage of occludin and E-cadherin, facilitating bacterial transmigration through the cell-cell junctions.

**Phenol-soluble modulins.** Phenol-soluble modulins (PSMs) are a family of short amphipathic α-helical peptides; PSMα1-α4, PSMβ1, PSMβ2, and the *S. aureus* δ-toxin<sup>365</sup>. PSMs, along with many other toxins, are expressed at higher levels in MRSA strains<sup>366</sup>. PSMs are regulated by the virulence regulator *Agr*, and cytolysis of host cells most likely occurs through nonspecific receptor-independent mechanisms, although the cellular receptor formyl peptide receptor 2 (FPR2) induces inflammatory effects<sup>365, 367</sup>. Few studies have looked at the effect of PSMs specifically in the lung<sup>356, 368, 369</sup>. PSMs can induce inflammatory signaling and cytotoxicity in A549 human lung epithelial cells<sup>369</sup>. PSMα can also facilitate phagosomal escape in non-professional phagocytes<sup>370 371</sup> allowing for intercellular replication, but this has only been shown

in CFTR-complemented cystic fibrosis upper airway epithelial cell line (S9). PSMs can help to induce IL-1 $\beta$  release and necroptosis in macrophages<sup>356, 372</sup>, an important immune cell in the lung during staphylococcal infections. Mice treated with an inhibitor of PSM expression (RNAIII-inhibiting peptide) had a dose dependent decrease in weight loss, mortality, and bacterial burden<sup>368</sup>. This phenotype was dependent on the presence of neutrophils and the receptor FRP2, leading to TNF- $\alpha$  mediated necroptosis of these cells.

**Beta-toxin.** The beta-toxin ( $\beta$ -toxin, also known as sphingomyelinase C) is a Mg<sup>2+</sup>-dependent neutral sphingomyelinase that hydrolyzes membrane sphingomyelin of host cells to generate phosphorylcholine and ceramide<sup>373, 374</sup>. This toxin can lyse several types of cells, including red blood cells, monocytes, lymphocytes, and neutrophils<sup>374, 375, 376</sup>. There are few studies that have investigated this toxin in pneumonia<sup>377, 378</sup>. Purified  $\beta$ -toxin can inhibit ciliary beat frequency of rabbit ciliated epithelial cells isolated from the maxillary sinus<sup>377</sup>. In a mouse model of pneumonia,  $\beta$ -toxin leads to increased neutrophil efflux and airway permeability<sup>378</sup>. This toxin also induced shedding of syndecan-1, a major heparan sulfate proteoglycan of epithelial cells, which the authors suggest is the mechanism behind reduced neutrophil migration as reported in a bleomycin-induced acute lung injury model<sup>379</sup>. The beta-toxin has also been implicated in helping to induce the NLRP3 inflammasome and necroptosis in macrophages<sup>354, 356</sup>.

**Iron Acquisition.** Iron is essential to bacterial growth and hemoglobin is a preferred source of iron for *S. aureus*<sup>380</sup>. *S. aureus* has two iron acquisition systems, the heme transport system (Hts) <sup>380</sup> and the heme-iron by the iron regulated surface determinant (Isd) system (See 1.0 above ). Ferric uptake regulator (Fur) is a transcription repressor that is used to sense iron-limited

environments and regulate expression of proteins involved in iron acquisition as well as proteins involved in infection<sup>30</sup>. In a shotgun proteomics approach to identify airway proteins involved in early *S. aureus* airway infection, the authors found that 7% of host peptides at 6 hours were of hemoglobin<sup>381</sup>. This was further supported as *S. aureus* isolated from the bronchoalveolar lavage at 30 minutes and 6 hours after infection were associated with hemoglobin. Fur is required for full virulence in a murine model of staphylococcal pneumonia<sup>382</sup>. Fur helps to regulate hemolysin and cytotoxin expression and lacking Fur ( $\Delta fur$ ) leads to reduced bacterial survival in the presence of neutrophils or in the lungs. However, the authors suggest that the lungs are not an iron-limited environment, as  $\Delta fur S.$  *aureus* has reduced survival even with higher expression of iron acquiring proteins. This is supported by other groups' work in mouse models<sup>383, 384</sup>. Thus, the Fur requirement could be due to its ability to regulate other global regulators (Agr, *Sae*, *Rot*) in *S. aureus*<sup>385</sup>.

**Cell wall-anchored proteins.** Because of the overlapping structures and functions of CWAs, it is likely that these proteins work together during colonization and infection in the host. Because of this, there is not one CWA (with the exception of SpA described above) that has been described as "THE" CWA required for pneumonia. Several CWAs have been implicated in nasal colonization (ClfB, SdrC, SdrD, IsdA, SasG, SasX), which could influence staphylococcal pneumonia. In a Cotton rat nasal colonization model, upregulation of CWA genes *clfB, sdrD, sdrC, sasG* is seen in USA300<sup>256</sup>. In humans, expression of *clfB* and *fnbA*, and *isdA* are increased<sup>10</sup>. See Table 1 and reviews<sup>272, 386, 387</sup> for more details on colonization.

CWAs are required during pneumonia, as a Sortase A mutant has reduced virulence in a mouse pneumonia model<sup>388</sup>. This is also seen when SrtA inhibitors are used during pneumonia<sup>389, 390, 391, 392</sup>. Indeed, CWA specific antibodies are found in patients with bacteremic pneumonia<sup>393</sup> and vaccination with CWAs is protective in murine pneumonia models<sup>394, 395, 396, 397</sup>. However, little work has been done to investigate these proteins, other than SpA, in pneumonia. Fibronectin binding proteins (FnBPs) have been shown to adhere to human airway epithelium<sup>398</sup> and have a role in internalization *in vitro*<sup>399</sup>. A FnBP deletion mutant shows increased growth in a rat model of pneumonia, which the authors contribute to immune evasion via internalization<sup>399</sup>. Adenosine synthase A (AdsA) has been shown to inhibit alveolar macrophage (AM) phagocytosis and AM production of type IIA secretory phospholipase A2 (sPLA2-IIA) in a guinea pig model<sup>244</sup>.

#### 1.4.3 Immune Responses to Staphylococcal Pneumonia

Here the focus is on lung-specific innate immune responses to *S. aureus*. For more details see reviews<sup>272, 313, 314</sup>.

**Physical Barriers.** The first line of defense is the physical barriers found within the airway. Mucus is a protective barrier that traps and eliminates pathogens via mucociliary clearance<sup>400, 401</sup>. Additionally, there are several factors found in the mucus that can help fight bacterial infections. Mucin 5b is required for bacterial defense within the lungs and Muc5b<sup>-/-</sup> mice have dramatic increases in *S. aureus* (150-389-fold) burden<sup>402</sup>. This mucin is highly involved in mucociliary clearance in the respiratory tract and lacking this mucin leads to chronic infection and death. Pulmonary surfactant proteins found in the mucus can also have immunomodulatory affects<sup>403</sup>. Specifically, SP-A and SP-D are protective in staphylococcal pneumonia and SP-A acts as an opsonin for AM phagocytosis<sup>404, 405</sup>. However, *S. aureus* does target both mucins and surfactants with serine protease SplA and cysteine protease staphopain A (ScpA), respectively<sup>406, 407</sup>. Additionally, *S. aureus* expresses PhnD, which allows small staphylococcal microaggregates to form in lung alveoli, leading to ciliary inhibition through Hla<sup>343</sup>.

**Alveolar Macrophages.** In the lung, the main resident macrophage is the alveolar macrophage<sup>408, 409</sup>. These cells are found in the airways and alveolar spaces and play a critical role in regulating immune responses and inflammation in the lung. These cells are responsible for phagocytosis of pathogens and particles, secretion of cytokines, and initiating recruitment of other immune cells.

Depletion of AMs through clodronate liposomes or anti-GR-1 antibody treatment can lead to high bacterial burden and inflammatory cytokine levels, as well as mortality rates as high as  $90\%^{410, 411}$ . Depletion of AMs leads to a dysregulated immune response, with a larger recruitment of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and more lung inflammation. As described elsewhere in this review, *S. aureus* expresses several virulence factors that can lead to macrophage death, and this is no different in the lung<sup>356, 358, 372</sup> and blocking AM death leads to better outcomes in mice. Toxin-induced inflammasome signaling leads to IL-1 $\beta$  release, leading to a larger recruitment of neutrophils to the lung, which can be detrimental (see section below).

While phagocytosis of pathogens is very important in the lung, the level of phagocytosis and phagocyte recruitment depends on the bacterial pathogen<sup>412</sup>. The main phagocytic receptor on AMs is MARCO (macrophage receptor with collagen structure) a scavenger receptor that can

recognize a broad array of ligands<sup>413, 414</sup>. This receptor can bind both unopsonized particles as well as pathogens such as *S. aureus* in mice and humans. In mice lacking MARCO, mortality is significantly increased in *S. pneumoniae* and *S. aureus* infections<sup>415, 416</sup>. Acidification of the AM phagosome through v-ATPase is required for *S. aureus* killing<sup>417</sup>. Recognition of *S. aureus* through stimulator of interferon genes (STING), an endoplasmic reticulum associated protein which recognizes bacterial dinucleotides, is protective in pneumonia<sup>418</sup>. Mice that lack STING have increased macrophage necroptosis, which ultimately leads to higher bacterial burden, lung damage, and mortality.

Another role of AM phagocytosis is the clearing of dead/dying cells including neutrophils through a process known as efferocytosis. *S. aureus* Hla can lead to reductions in CCN1 and DD1 $\alpha$ , leading to reduced efferocytosis of neutrophils<sup>419</sup>. As *S. aureus* can also use neutrophils for a protected reservoir (see below), this also likely contributes to persistence within the lungs. Despite the importance of these cells, *S. aureus* has been shown to survive in alveolar macrophages<sup>268, 420</sup> and there is a report of *S. aureus* being found in rat AMs 30 days after infection<sup>421</sup>. This is likely through their ability to resist killing by macrophages, and in some cases, *S. aureus* ' ability to lyse macrophages after phagocytosis, leading to chronic infection<sup>422</sup>. In other bacterial pneumonias, AMs can induce apoptosis when their killing abilities are overwhelmed, however this does not appear to happen with *S. aureus*, potentially through its ability to upregulate inhibitors of apoptosis<sup>423</sup>. A recent report shows that AMs patrolling and phagocytosing bacterial pathogens, such as *S. aureus*, is used to regulate immune responses in the lungs with low inoculum, and when this is inhibited, more neutrophils and subsequent inflammation occurs<sup>424</sup>. Not surprisingly, CA-MRSA stains associated with pneumonia have more resistance to AM mediated killing<sup>425</sup>.

**Neutrophils.** Neutrophils are also an essential component of the innate immune system. These cells help mediate pathogen killing through phagocytosis and subsequent killing, production of NETs, production of ROS, and secretion of inflammatory cytokines<sup>426</sup>. In the lung, depletion of neutrophils leads to 80% mortality in mice during staphylococcal pneumnonia<sup>427</sup>, although this was not replicated in another study<sup>411</sup>. This is likely due to the reduced clearance of S. aureus, leading to larger inflammatory cytokine release in the lung, and not systemic bacteremia. This has been supported by other work<sup>428</sup>. Influx of neutrophils occurs within the first 6 hours of pulmonary infection due to early induction of inflammatory cytokines<sup>429</sup>. Additionally, neutrophils are required to prevent dissemination of nasal colonizing S. aureus into the lower airways<sup>430</sup>. Treatment with G-CSF has been shown to lead to better outcomes in pneumonia models<sup>430, 431</sup>, likely through the recruitment of neutrophils to help control bacterial numbers. The presence of lipoteichoic acid and peptidoglycan is enough to induce neutrophil recruitment into the airways<sup>432</sup>. S. aureus can also induce neutrophil death through PSMa1 through a TNFa- and FPR2-dependent manner<sup>368</sup>, leading to worse outcomes. Recently, it was shown that the NLRC4 inflammasome is detrimental for neutrophil recruitment in the lung<sup>433</sup>. NLRC4-driven necroptosis in the lung, along with IL-18, leads to suppression of gamma delta ( $\gamma\delta$ ) T cell IL-17A-dependent neutrophil recruitment.

Hla-mediated damage has been shown to increase neutrophil recruitment into the lung through CXC chemokines<sup>345</sup>. However, in this model, increased neutrophil recruitment leads to more inflammation and lung injury, which increases the bacterial burden in the lung, potentially through increased staphylococcal attachment. Neutrophils have been implicated in mediating inflammatory damage in response to staphylococcal pneumonia<sup>232, 434, 435, 436, 437</sup>, suggesting that

there is a fine balance between bacterial control and immune-mediated damage. S. aureus can induce IFNy expression in neutrophils 24 hours post infection in a NADPH-oxidase dependent manner<sup>434</sup>. Increases in IFNy were shown to induce NETosis in the lung. In a recent report, it was shown that NETosis can lead to increased AM phagocytosis and killing of S. aureus<sup>266</sup>, which likely also occurs in the lung. However, S. aureus expresses a nuclease, Nuc, which can degrade NETs<sup>438</sup> and AdsA, which can convert NETs to deoxyadenosine<sup>246</sup> and induce macrophage apoptosis. NADPH-oxidase is also required for S. aureus clearance, but only in neutrophils<sup>428</sup>, which the authors tie to neutrophil's ability to create ROS. S. aureus super antigen SEIX has been shown to bind human and mammalian neutrophils through glycoprotein receptors<sup>439</sup>. This prevents bacterial binding to neutrophils and subsequent phagocytic killing, leading to necrotizing pneumonia in rabbits. Another super antigen, SEO, induces inflammatory cytokine release from neutrophils during pneumonia, but does not drive pathogenicity<sup>440</sup>. This is dependent on toll-like receptor (TLR)4 TLR4, but not TLR2, and K<sup>+</sup> efflux induced NLRP3 inflammasome activation. In the context of asthma, S. aureus extracellular vesicles (EVs) induce neutrophilic inflammation in the lungs and a more skewed Th17 immune response<sup>441</sup>. Vaccination with staphylococcal EVs can protect mice in a lethal pneumonia model<sup>442</sup> by inducing Th1 immune responses, but this is associated with T cell responses and not neutrophils.

#### 1.5 Influenza Super-infection

## 1.5.1 Influenza

Influenza is a viral respiratory disease with symptoms associated with an upper respiratory tract infection including fever, sore throat, runny nose, cough, headache, muscle pain, and fatigue. However, influenza can also lead to severe lower respiratory tract infections in some people. In some cases, influenza can also lead to non-respiratory complications in the heart, central nervous system, and other organs<sup>443</sup>.

Influenza circulates in seasonal epidemics in the northern and southern hemispheres with those most affected being the very young and very old. In a typical year, 3-5 million cases of severe illness resulting in ~500,000 deaths are caused by seasonal influenza virus infection in the world<sup>444</sup>. In the United States from 2010 to 2017, the CDC estimated that influenza infection resulted in 9.2-35.6 million illnesses and 140,000-710,000 hospitalizations<sup>443, 445</sup>. Influenza-associated death in the United States range from 5,000-52,000 per year depending on the circulating viruses<sup>446</sup>. However, influenza can also cause pandemics due to its ability to genetically reassort (see below). The incidence of influenza increases due to the lack of preexisting immunity, although the numbers are dependent on the pandemic virus itself. There have been five major pandemics since the early 1900s: the infamous 1918 (H1N1) Spanish influenza pandemic, 1957 (H2N2) Asian influenza pandemic, 1968 (H3N2) Hong Kong influenza, and 2009 (H1N1) Swine influenza <sup>447</sup>. The most severe pandemic was the 1918 pandemic, with over 50 million deaths worldwide. However, many of these deaths can be attributed to additional secondary pneumonias (see below).

The influenza viruses, consisting of types A-D, belong to the family *Orthomyxoviridae* and are enveloped negative-sense single-stranded RNA viruses with a segmented genome<sup>443, 447</sup>. Influenza A and influenza B are the most common viruses to cause disease in humans and contain eight RNA segments encoding RNA polymerase subunits, viral glycoproteins hemagglutinin (HA) and neuraminidase (NA), viral nucleoprotein, matrix protein, membrane protein, nonstructural protein, and nuclear export protein. The two glycoproteins are located on the surface of the virus particle are the most antigenically variable due to them being the main targets of protective antibodies<sup>443</sup>. In influenza A, HA and NA are classified into antigenically diverse subtypes: HA1-16 and NA1-9, and individual viruses are classified based on what HA and NA types they contain (i.e., H1N1, H3N2)<sup>443</sup>. Viruses are also named based on their host, place of isolation, isolate number, and year of isolation; for example, Influenza A/Turkey/Ontario/6118/1968 (H8N4) is a influenza A virus isolated from a turkey in Ontario in 1968, numbered isolate 6118, and has HA subtype 8 and NA subtype 4<sup>443</sup>.

Due to the segmented genome, genetic reassortment of individual RNA segments can occur when two strains of the same type (2 influenza A or 2 influenza B) infect the same cell. Influenza A can infect humans as well as several other animals such as pigs, poultry, horses, wild migratory birds, and domestic animals. Because of this, there is a large animal reservoir, which not only keeps the virus circulating, but also serves as reassortment sites primarily for human, pig, and bird influenza A strains. Many of these strains can infect the same host and can infect the same cell. For example, the 1957 and 1968 pandemics were caused by a reassortment between avian and human strains while the 2009 pandemic was caused by reassortment of human, avian, and swine strains in pigs<sup>447</sup>. This phenomenon, known as antigenic shift, can lead to novel strains with avian

or swine components which have not been seen in human populations, leading to pandemics<sup>448</sup>. Influenza additionally undergoes antigenic drift due to accumulating mutations, primarily in HA and NA, to avoid the immune response. Because of this phenomenon, influenza vaccines need to be updated frequently to account for the drifted strains as they occur and circulate.

At the cellular level, infection takes place in epithelial cells of the respiratory tract of humans and mammals and in the intestinal epithelium in birds. The virus will bind to the target cell via HA, which binds to sialic acid present on the glycoproteins found on the cellular surface; human strains prefer  $\alpha 2,6$  linkage while avian prefer  $\alpha 2,3$  linkage to the rest of the oligosaccharide portion of the glycoprotein. After binding, the virus is internalized in an endosome which is then acidified, leading to a conformational change in HA that allows for fusion of the viral envelope with the endosomal membrane. This in turn releases the viral contents, and the genome will be imported into the nucleus for transcription and replication of the viral genome. At later stages of infection, the genome is exported from the nucleus and eventually migrates to the plasma membrane, where membrane proteins have already been assembled and the virion is packaged with genetic material and viral proteins. Budding of new virions occur, using the host membrane as the viral membrane, and NA activity prevents HA binding to sialic acid present on the host cell and virion<sup>443</sup>.

The innate immune response recognizes influenza through viral conserved components, known as pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) through host pathogen recognition receptors (PRRs). Recognition of viral RNAs through retinoic acid-inducible gene I (RIG-I) and TLRs 3, 7, and 8 leads to activation of transcription factors interferon regulatory factor (IRF) 3 and 7, and nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-κB), leading to expression of interferons (IFNs) and pro-inflammatory cytokines (TNFα, IL-6, IL-1β). Type I IFNs (IFNα and IFNβ) and Type III IFNs (IFNλ1-4) play important roles in the antiviral response, both in the infected cells as well as those surrounding the infection. Following expression of IFNs, they interact with their receptors IFNAR and IFNLR for type I and III, respectively, in an autocrine or paracrine manner, leading to activation of Janus kinase (JAK)–signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) signaling. Phosphorylated STAT1 an STAT2 along with IRF9 lead to expression of IFN-stimulated genes (ISGs). Once expressed, ISGs will then inhibit viral infection through several mechanisms: inhibiting viral entry, transcription of viral genes, genome replication, viral budding and increasing degradation of viral mRNA and proteins<sup>443, 449</sup>.

Alveolar macrophages are critical for limiting viral spread in the lungs and regulating the initiation of adaptive immunity. Natural killer (NK) cells kill virally infected cells to prevent viral spread. Dendritic cells (DCs) along with AMs act as antigen presenting cells, with DCs migrating to draining lymph nodes to activate naïve and memory T cells.  $CD8^+$  T cells will express cytotoxic activity and kill infected cells and restrict viral replication.  $CD4^+$  T cells differentiate mainly into Th1 T cells and help shape immune responses through cytokine secretion (IFN $\gamma$ , TNF $\alpha$ , IL-2) as well as help CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and B cells produce antibodies. B cells are primarily responsible for producing influenza specific antibodies, leading to viral neutralization and elimination<sup>443, 449</sup>.

#### 1.5.2 Influenza Bacterial Super-infection

While influenza on its own can cause morbidity and mortality, this is enhanced when there is a secondary bacterial infection, colloquially known as super-infection. Those most susceptible to

super-infection are also those who are more susceptible to influenza (very young, very old, immunocompromised, pregnant)<sup>450</sup>. However, healthy children and young adults are still susceptible to morbidity and mortality due to super-infection. The most infamous situation of this is during the 1918 pandemic, where of those 50 million deaths, only a small percentage died during peak viral infection (<5%)<sup>451</sup>. Majority of the deaths occurred between 7- and 14-days post infection with secondary bacterial pneumonia estimated in 95% of deaths<sup>451, 452, 453</sup>. In the 1957 pandemic, and estimated 70% of cases were super-infected<sup>454, 455, 456</sup> and in the 1968 pandemic saw an estimated 48% super-infection rate<sup>457, 458</sup>. The large drop in super-infection between the 1918 and 1957 and 1968 pandemics is likely due to introduction of antibiotics, influenza vaccines, and improved public health measures. In the 2009 pandemic, super-infection rates are estimated between 25-50% depending on the study<sup>310, 459, 460, 461, 462, 463</sup>. However, super-infection is not limited to pandemic influenza, and occurs in every influenza season<sup>464</sup>. In seasonal influenza, super-infection is associated with increased hospitalization, morbidity, and mortality<sup>459, 465, 466, 467</sup>. Additionally, viral bacterial super-infections are not limited to influenza viruses, but have been characterized in other viral respiratory illnesses: respiratory syncytial virus, rhinovirus, human coronavirus, parainfluenza virus, and adenovirus<sup>468</sup>. However, the focus here will be on influenza super-infections.

The most prevalent bacteria involved in super-infection has changed over time. In the 1918 pandemic, the predominant bacteria was streptococcal species (primarily *S. pneumoniae* and some *S. pyogenes*), accounting for 40% of super-infection deaths<sup>452</sup>. In the 1957 pandemic, *S. aureus* was the predominant pathogen, accounting for 44% of deaths<sup>469</sup>. The 1968 pandemic had *S. pneumoniae* as the predominant bacteria accounting for 48% of super-infections<sup>457</sup>. Since the 2009

pandemic, *S. aureus*, with MRSA being a major contributor, has become the main super-infecting bacteria<sup>310, 470</sup> (Figure 3). The increase in pneumococcal vaccination has likely contributed to this shift<sup>471</sup>.



Figure 3: S. aureus is the Main Super-infecting Bacteria

The CDC tracks pediatric deaths from influenza each season and track data such as super-infections and the causal bacteria. Since the 2009 pandemic (most left), *S. aureus* has been the main super-infecting bacteria. This holds for the last three seasons with available data (17-18, 18-19, 19-20). The 20-21 season did not have sufficient data due to COVID19 pandemic and the 21-22 season is ongoing and data has not been compiled at time of writing. *S. aureus* data can be further broken down into methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* (MRSA), methicillin-sensitive *S. aureus* (MSSA) or untyped *S. aurues*. Data taken from FluView (https://gis.cdc.gov/grasp/fluview/pedfludeath.html ).

Fatal super-infection cases generally result from a combination of severe pneumonia and acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) due to high levels of inflammation. The decline from pneumonia to ARDS can occur rapidly in some cases. Descriptions from the 1918 pandemic describe healthy young individuals becoming acutely ill and dying within hours, even if they were not aware of their impending death:

"Two hours after admission they have the Mahogany spots over the cheek bones, and a few hours later you can begin to see the Cyanosis extending from their ears and spreading all over the face, until it is hard to distinguish the coloured men from the white. It is only a matter of a few hours then until death comes, and it is simply a struggle for air until they suffocate."<sup>472</sup>

Viral invasion of the lower respiratory tract, in particular the alveolar epithelial cells, can drive the development of severe disease<sup>473, 474</sup>. Once breached, viral PAMPs and cytokines amplify inflammation through the endothelium<sup>475</sup> and this inflammation is only increased during bacterial super-infection. Involvement of significant portions of the lung, a combination of viral infection, bacterial infection, and immune mediated damage and inflammation, can lead to physical and physiological changes in the lung: obstruction of airways, loss of alveolar structure, loss of epithelial integrity, degradation of lung ECM, and fluid accumulation. This ultimately can lead to the inability to perform efficient gas exchange in the lung, leading to ARDS and potentially death<sup>450, 476</sup>.

# 1.5.3 Lung and Immune Changes During Super-infection

Susceptibility to super-infection typically occurs five to seven days post influenza infection. On average, patients will present to the hospital 5.2 days after symptoms begin<sup>310</sup>. This susceptibility is multifactorial and involves changes in several different pathways ultimately creating an environment where bacteria can take a foothold, typically to higher levels than in a naïve lung<sup>477, 478</sup>. While it has been known for some time that viral infections, in particular influenza A, can lead to bacterial pneumonias, determining how susceptibility occurs can be difficult in humans. Because of this, most of the understanding of viral predisposition to super-

infection has been done primarily in mouse models studying viral-bacterial-immune dynamics. A majority of the research done on super-infection has focused on how influenza alters antibacterial responses in the lung. Many of the changes that occur in the immune system during the window of susceptibility can be tied back to changes in interferon signaling<sup>479, 480, 481</sup>. For more in-depth reviews see<sup>482, 483, 484, 485, 486, 487, 488, 489</sup>. Here is a brief review of the known mechanisms of susceptibility.

**Physiologic changes.** Many of the bacteria known to cause super-infection are nasal commensals, and inflammation from influenza has been shown to increase dissemination from the nasopharynx to the lung<sup>490, 491</sup>. Viral- and immune-mediated damage can lead to epithelial and endothelial disruption, which could lead to several outcomes: increase in bacterial nutrients, exposure or increased expression of cryptic adhesion receptors for bacteria, and increased exposure of ECM, which contains several components bacteria can bind<sup>484, 490, 492, 493</sup>. Influenza-bacterial binding has been shown to increase both internalization and adhesion of bacteria within the lung<sup>494, 495</sup> and has been documented for other pulmonary viruses<sup>485, 496, 497</sup>. This suggests that even the physiologic changes can have profound effects on bacterial invasion into the lungs. This is supported by a study that found super-infecting *S. aureus* isolates to be less virulent as well as more closely related to nasal colonizing strains than those found in bacterial pneumonia alone<sup>498</sup>.

**Disruption of innate immunity.** Influenza causes dysregulation of AMs and neutrophils, limiting their ability to eliminate bacteria from the lung. Influenza is known to cause depletion of AMs from the lung, and inflammatory monocytes are recruited to fill the niche<sup>499</sup>. As described elsewhere in this dissertation, loss of AMs can lead to dysregulation of immune responses in the

lung, which likely compounds the loss of these cells. Macrophages also have lower expression of MARCO and other scavenger receptors<sup>480, 486</sup>. Super-infection typically has a higher recruitment of neutrophils, which is correlated with mortality likely due to inflammation and damage<sup>477, 500</sup>. This is likely increased further due to bacterial toxins known to lyse phagocytes. There is also an impairment of bacterial killing in both macrophages and neutrophils due to inhibition of NADPH oxidase<sup>501, 502</sup>. TLR differences have been reported, with TLR4 desensitized in *S. pneumoniae* super-infection<sup>503</sup> and TLR9 increasing susceptibility in *S. aureus* superinfection<sup>504</sup>. In *S. aureus* super-infection, NETosis has been shown to be increased in super-infection, however it does not help to control bacterial numbers and likely adds to lung damage<sup>505</sup>.

Interferons also play a large role in super-infection susceptibility. Influenza induces type I (IFN $\alpha$  and IFN $\beta$ ) and type III IFN (IFN $\lambda$ ) early on during infection<sup>506, 507</sup>. Type I IFNs lead to increases in bacterial burden during super-infection, which is abrogated in mice lacking the type I IFN receptor (IFN $\alpha$ R1)<sup>477, 479</sup>. This also appears to happen with type III IFN<sup>481</sup>. This promotes pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-6, TNF $\alpha$  and immunosuppressive IL-10, altering the overall immune environment<sup>485</sup>. Type II IFN, IFN $\gamma$ , also plays a role in super-infection and can inhibit phagocytosis responses in AMs<sup>480, 508</sup>. While IFN $\gamma$  can increase macrophage phagocytosis and killing of bacteria<sup>508, 509</sup>, the large amounts of IFN $\gamma$  appear to be inhibitory<sup>480, 486</sup>. IFNs are known to inhibit type 17 immunity, an important arm of the immune system for controlling extracellular bacterial infections<sup>477, 510</sup> (see below).

**Disruption of adaptive immunity**. The antiviral response is Th1 dominant, with major cytokines being IFN $\gamma$ , IL-12, and TNF $\alpha$ . Natural killer (NK) cells, CD4<sup>+</sup> T and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells,

heavily involved in Th1 immunity, are critical to clearance of viral infections. However, as described above, increased levels of IFN $\gamma$  can increase super-infection susceptibility. Additionally, IFN $\gamma$  can also inhibit TNF $\alpha$  made by NK cells, which can reduce macrophage uptake and killing even further<sup>511</sup>. Type 2 (Th2) responses are predominantly associated with allergies and tissue homeostasis, but also play a role in super-infection susceptibility. Type 2 cytokine IL-13 can be protective due to its ability to attenuate IFN $\gamma$  early on during influenza, but later on is downregulated and likely influences the high levels of IFN $\gamma^{512}$ . Immunosuppressive cytokine IL-10 can also increase susceptibility to super-infection and is regulated through IL-27, which can inhibit Th17 responses. Additionally, it has been shown that type 2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC2s) have a protective role against super-infection<sup>445</sup>.

Type 3 responses (also known as type 17; Th17) are critical for clearance of extracellular pathogens including bacteria and is characterized by the cytokines IL-17, IL-23, and IL-22<sup>513</sup>. Both IL-17 and IL-22 promote clearance of bacteria through the recruitment of phagocytes and induction of AMPs. Th1 immunity is known to suppress Th17 immunity, and this is a major contributing factor to super-infection susceptibility. Influenza infection attenuates the production of IL-17 by both CD4<sup>+</sup> and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells and exogenous treatment with IL-23 or IL-1 $\beta$  rescues bacterial clearance<sup>477, 510, 514</sup>. IL-22 is also protective during super-infection and can be produced by type 3 ILCs<sup>515, 516</sup>.

#### 1.6 Gap of Knowledge

While there has been much work done elucidating the immune responses in the lung to both bacterial pneumonia and influenza bacterial super-infection, little is known about bacterial behavior within the lung. In the context of *S. aureus*, there is epidemiological data supporting the study of this pathogen in the lung as described above. *S. aureus* can cause severe pneumonia and often complicates influenza infections, leading to morbidity and mortality, as well as a large financial burden on the healthcare system<sup>517</sup>. The emergence of MRSA over the past few decades has only complicated treatment of staphylococcal pneumonia and super-infection, due to antibiotic resistance and increased virulence compared to MSSA. Thus, understanding how this pathogen can invade and establish infection in the lung is important not only for the pursuit of knowledge, but also for development of future therapeutics that will benefit society. Additionally, discovery of virulence factors in the lung may extend beyond this organ, as virulence factors are often implicated in many infection sites (see 1.2.2 above).

Based on previous work in super-infection, it is known that antiviral immunity will inhibit antibacterial immunity within the lung. There have been several mechanisms described as underlying causes of increased susceptibility to secondary bacterial infection, such as the inhibition of Th17 immunity via Th1 responses, depletion of AMs, and reduction of bactericidal mechanisms<sup>482, 483, 486</sup>. There also has been work done in looking at physiological differences in the lung during bacterial pneumonia and influenza super-infection. Influenza induces damage to epithelial and endothelial cells within the lung, likely making it easier for bacterial pathogens to adhere and obtain nutrients<sup>484</sup>. Additionally, there is known synergism that can occur between viruses and bacteria in the lung. Specifically for influenza, viral-bacterial binding can increase bacterial internalization and viral and bacterial virulence factors can synergize<sup>343, 484, 490</sup>. However, the largely unexplored aspect of super-infection is the bacteria itself. Does the bacterium itself play a role in super-infection susceptibility or is this only dependent on the immunological and physiological differences seen in the lung? Additionally, how does the presence of a viral infection alter the behavior of bacteria to ensure survival?

Due to the complicated nature of the super-infection model, understanding how virulence works in bacterial pneumonia can help contextualize bacterial responses during super-infection. Additionally, it is important to study on its own outside of the context of super-infection as bacterial pneumonia can lead to negative outcomes. How does *S. aureus* establish infection in the lung? Is persistence solely dependent on bacterial adhesion and immune evasion, or is there another unknown mechanism that plays a role? How can *S. aureus* induce enough damage within the lung to lead to necrotizing pneumonia? Is the damage more dependent on the immune response to *S. aureus* or *S. aureus* itself? Are there *S. aureus* pathways that could be targeted to prevent or treat pneumonia as well as super-infection?

Most of the work presented here looks specifically at the role of CWAs in the context of lung infections. CWAs have well described functions in both colonization and infection and can contribute through several different mechanisms (see Table 1 and Figure 2). As many of these proteins have described roles in nasal colonization<sup>22, 63, 518</sup>, it is reasonable to hypothesize that these proteins may play a role in the lower respiratory tract. Staphylococcal protein A, a CWA, is one of the major virulence factors described in the lung<sup>232, 233, 234, 235, 236</sup>. While there are no other known CWAs that have similar structure or function to SpA, there are 23 other CWAs that *S. aureus* can

express and these likely influence pulmonary infections to some degree. In the context of bacterial pneumonia, do CWAs play a role in establishing infection, and if so, what are the mechanisms by which these proteins work? In the context of super-infection, does a preceding viral infection alter the requirement for these proteins in the lung? Can there be therapeutics developed against these proteins to help treat staphylococcal pneumonia or super-infection?

Herein, I begin to explore staphylococcal virulence in the lung in both *S. aureus* pneumonia and influenza *S. aureus* super-infection.

#### 2.0 Developing Methods for S. aureus Transposon Sequencing (Tn-seq) in the Lung

# **2.1 Introduction**

Community-acquired and healthcare-associated pneumonia, caused by both viral and bacterial pathogens, is the leading cause of death in children worldwide<sup>519</sup>. Historically, staphylococcal pneumonia was considered an uncommon cause of community-acquired pneumonia (CAP), accounting for 1-10% of CAP cases<sup>275</sup>. However, the increase in prevalence of methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* (MRSA), and especially community-acquired MRSA (CA-MRSA), has led to an increase in morbidity and mortality<sup>314, 520</sup>. Although MRSA more commonly causes hospital-acquired or healthcare-associated pneumonia, CAP now accounts for 30% of all MRSA pneumonia cases and can have 30-day mortality rates as high as 30%<sup>520, 521</sup>. These outcomes are due in part to the lack of treatment options for clinicians, which consist only of antibiotics and occasionally corticosteroids<sup>522</sup>. Although several papers have looked at major virulence factors and regulators expressed by *S. aureus*/MRSA during pulmonary infection, the mechanisms controlling establishment and persistence of *S. aureus* in the lung are still unknown.

While *S. aureus* has always been highly associated with influenza infections in the young and the elderly, it has emerged as the major cause of pneumonia associated with influenza since the 2009 H1N1 pandemic<sup>523</sup>. Although influenza can be fatal alone, severe influenza pneumonia is often exacerbated by bacterial infection resulting in poor patient outcomes even in previously healthy individuals. In the 1918 pandemic, which killed an estimated 50 million people, 95% of those deaths were caused by secondary bacterial infections<sup>452, 524</sup>. In the 2009 H1N1 pandemic,

25-50% of hospitalized patients were super-infected with bacterial pneumonia, with *S. aureus* causing 74.4% of super-infections in critically ill patients and 38.7% of super-infected pediatric deaths during the pandemic (CDC). Several studies have been published investigating *S. aureus* influenza super-infections but have focused on the effects of antiviral immunity on bacterial clearance, with few papers focusing on *S. aureus* ' role in super-infection<sup>18</sup>. However, there is literature suggesting that *S. aureus*, as well as other lung pathogens, can have differential expression of genes based on the lung environment, although this has not been actively explored<sup>525, 526, 527, 528</sup>.

One way to elucidate virulence mechanisms *in vivo* is through transposon sequencing (Tnseq). Transposon sequencing is a technique that combines transposon mutagenesis with sequencing to track individual strains in a large pool of bacterial mutants<sup>529</sup>. High density transposon mutant libraries have been used to characterize essential and conditionally essential genes in a variety of bacterial species and infection models<sup>530, 531, 532, 533</sup>. Additionally, this technique can also identify host genes involved in pathogenesis by changing the environment and keeping the pathogen constant and comparing gene fitness of the pathogen in both conditions<sup>529, <sup>534</sup>. This has been done for other bacterial species in bacterial pneumonia and influenza superinfection to help understand how the lung environment differs in each infection type<sup>526, 535, 536</sup>. Thus, this is a method that may help to elucidate virulence mechanisms that differ in staphylococcal pneumonia and influenza *S. aureus* super-infection. Here we develop a model for using *S. aureus* Tn-seq in the lung.</sup>

#### 2.2 Materials and Methods

## 2.2.1 Mice

Six- to eight-week-old male WT C57BL/6NTac mice were purchased from Taconic Farms. Mice were maintained under pathogen-free conditions within the animal facilities at the UPMC Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh. All studies were performed on sex- and age-matched mice. Animal studies were conducted with approval from the University of Pittsburgh Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee.

#### 2.2.2 Infections

Influenza A/PR/8/34 (H1N1) was grown in chicken eggs as previously described<sup>537</sup>. Methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* (MRSA) strain USA300 was used. TnMRSA<sup>530</sup> was a gift from our collaborator Anthony Richardson at the University of Pittsburgh. For infection, one aliquot corresponding to 1x10<sup>10</sup> CFU was grown overnight in 100 ml of Tryptic Soy Broth (TSB) (BD Bacto<sup>TM</sup>) overnight at 37° C at 250 rpm. MRSA and TnMRSA dose were calculated using OD<sub>660</sub> measurement of the culture and application of a calculated extinction coefficient. For pneumonia studies, mice were inoculated with varying CFU (see figures) of MRSA or TnMRSA in 50 µl of sterile PBS. For super-infection, mice were inoculated with 100 plaque forming units (PFU) of influenza in 50 µl of sterile PBS and were infected six days later with MRSA or TnMRSA as described above. All infections were performed via oropharyngeal aspiration. Lungs were harvested 24 hours after MRSA challenge using pentobarbital injection (300 mg/kg) and cervical

dislocation. Whole lungs were separated into lobes, placed in 2 ml of sterile PBS, and homogenized. Epithelial cells were removed by centrifugation at 2000 rpm for 5 minutes and the bacteria were subsequently pelleted at 10,000 xg for 5 minutes. The bacteria pellet was resuspended in TSB and incubated at 37 C at 250 rpm for 5 hours. Bacteria were pelleted at 10,000 xg for 10 minutes, resuspended in 1 ml of 8% DMSO TSB, and frozen until DNA extraction.

#### 2.2.3 Tn-seq Library Preparation and Sequencing

Methods were derived from<sup>530, 538</sup>. DNA extraction was performed using DNeasy Blood and Tissue kit (Qiagen) using the bacteria protocol and 0.5 mg/ml of lysostaphin (Sigma) in combination with lysozyme. After extraction, DNA was sonicated for 20 seconds at 25% intensity and placed on ice and repeated for a total of eight times. DNA was purified using QIAquick PCR purification kit (Qiagen) following manufacturer's protocol. A 3' poly-C tail was added using dCTP and ddCTP (Roche), enzyme Terminal Deoxynucleotidyl Transferase (Promega) and incubated for 1 hour at 37 C followed by heat inactivation for 20 minutes at 75 C. Excess nucleotides were removed using DTR Gel filtration cartridges (EdgeBio) following manufacturer's directions. Primer sequences are listed in Table 2. PCR1 was performed with primers to the poly-C tail and to the transposon sequence. PCR2 was performed using olj511 and index barcoding primers. Final PCR products were purified using AMPure XP PCR purification magnetic beads (Beckman Coulter) to selectively remove small and large fragments and subsequently concentrated using QIAquick PCR purification kit (Qiagen). Samples were pooled and sequenced using the NextSeq 500/550 High Output kit (75 cycles) (Illumina). Tn-seq library preparation confirmation was conducted using TOPO<sup>TM</sup> TA Cloning<sup>TM</sup> kit for sequencing (Invitrogen) following manufacturer's directions. Sanger sequencing was performed by Genewiz.

#### 2.2.4 Statistics

Data were analyzed using Prism 8 (GraphPad). Analyses comparing two groups were performed using an unpaired t test. For analyses assessing more than two groups, Kruskal-Wallis with Dunn's multiple comparisons correction was used. Analyses comparing two variables were tested via Two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Sidak's multiple comparisons correction. All figures show combined data from multiple replicate studies and are graphed as mean  $\pm$  standard error of the mean (SEM). N values are numbers of animals per independent experiment. Statistical significance ( $p \le 0.05$ ) is indicated in figure legends, with p values between 0.05 and 0.1 displayed numerically.

#### 2.3 Results

#### 2.3.1 Transposon Sequencing (Tn-seq) Methodology Background

Tn-seq is done by constructing a transposon insertion library in which each clone contains a transposon insertion at a different site so that most or all nonessential genes contain insertions (and therefore gene disruptions) in the library population<sup>529</sup>. The library is then grown under an experimental condition and the relative frequency of each mutant in the population is determined at the end of the experiment by next-generation sequencing of the transposon junctions (Figure 4 A). The number of sequence reads for a particular insertion corresponds to the frequency of the insertion mutant in the population and allows the fitness contribution of each gene to be quantified

by comparing the frequency of transposon junction reads before (input) and after the experiment (output) (Figure 4 B)<sup>529, 539</sup>.



#### Figure 4: Transposon Sequencing (Tn-seq) Methodology

A. A high-density transposon insertion library contains multiple insertions in nonessential genes where each individual mutant contains an insertion in a non-essential gene. The library is pooled and grown under conditions of interest. Viable mutants are recovered and grown up over a short time period to increase bacterial numbers for downstream library preparations. The library serves as the "input" which is compared to the "output" post-condition. B. After sequencing, the relative frequency of transposons within a gene are compared between input and output pools. An unaffected gene would have similar relative frequency between the input and output pools since there is no selective pressure at that loci. In a depleted gene, the relative frequency of reads is decreased in the output (the gene is important in the condition), with the opposite for an enriched gene.

We used a previously constructed MRSA USA300 strain (LAC) Tn-seq library (TnMRSA)<sup>530</sup>. This library consists of approximately 77,000 mutants containing the transposon

*bursa aurealis* and is selectable by erythromycin resistance. After infection, we modified already existing Tn-seq processing protocols<sup>530, 538</sup> (Figure 5; see methods). Briefly, after purification of genomic DNA from pooled TnMRSA mutants, the DNA was fragmented via sonication. After several rounds of amplification and addition of PCR primer encoded Illumina adapters, the transposons were sequenced.



#### **Figure 5: Tn-seq Library Preparation**

Pictorial representation (A) or agarose gel image (B) of Tn-seq library preparation. Purification of genomic DNA from a pooled population of mutants is fragmented via sonication. The addition of a poly-C tail adds a site for primer annealing in PCR 1. Amplification of transposon junction sites using a poly-G and Tn-specific primers is performed in PCR 1. PCR 2 adds a barcode index for multiplexing as well as Illumina adapters for sequencing<sup>7,8</sup>.

# 2.3.2 Determining Dosage of TnMRSA in Staphylococcal Pneumonia and Influenza Superinfection.

One of the limitations of Tn-seq is determining if transposon mutants are deleted due to bacterial killing or stochastic removal during the establishment of infection<sup>529</sup>. To prevent bottlenecks in the host, a large enough infectious dose must be given so that there are 10-100 cells
of each transposon insertion in the inoculum<sup>534, 539</sup>. Thus, for a ~77,000 mutant library, the minimum dose for proper recovery of Tn mutants should be ~ $7.7x10^5$  CFU. As *S. aureus* is rapidly cleared from the murine lung compared to other bacterial species such as *S. pneumoniae* (Figure 6 A; personal observation), we wanted to use an inoculum that was a few logs higher to ensure enough bacterial recovery for sequencing. Preceding influenza is known to increase bacterial burden in the lung<sup>477</sup>, and we wanted similar recovery rates from pneumonia and super-infected animals to ensure that differences seen in sequencing were due to actual physiological differences in the host and not due to differences in bacterial recovery numbers. After comparing infection of mice with USA300 MRSA and TnMRSA, we determined dosages for both staphylococcal pneumonia and influenza super-infection (Figure 6 B and C). At the dosages tested, we had similar whole lung bacterial burden as well as morbidity measured by weight loss. We decided to continue with a TnMRSA dose 1x10<sup>8</sup> CFU and Flu-TnMRSA doses 5x10<sup>7</sup> and 1x10<sup>8</sup>. We continued with two Flu-TnMRSA doses as our n was small as well as to ensure we had enough mice survive super-infection for sequencing.



Figure 6: Determining TnMRSA Dosage for Lung Tn-seq

A. Bacterial Recovery in MRSA pneumonia (SA) or MRSA influenza super-infection (F/S) after 24 hours of infection. B. Total lung CFU and weight loss of mice infected with MRSA or TnMRSA. C. Total lung CFU and weight loss of mice infected with influenza for 6 days followed by infection with MRSA or TnRMSA for 24 hours. Statistics tested by Two-way ANOVA with Sidak's multiple comparison correction. \* p<0.05. N=2-4, combination of 1-2 experiments, data graphed as mean  $\pm$  SEM (standard error of the mean).

## 2.3.3 TnMRSA Infection During Pneumonia and Super-infection

After determining our dosages for both pneumonia and super-infection, we performed Tn-seq experiments with more animals including PBS controls. Compared to PBS controls, mice infected with TnMRSA had high bacterial burdens and lost weight (Figure 7 A). This held for Flu-TnMRSA infected animals as well, although weight loss was not significantly different in the Flu-PBS group (Figure 7 B). This was to be expected as a majority of the weight loss during superinfection occurs due to influenza. After comparison of the one TnMRSA and two Flu-TnMRSA dosages, we determined that moving forward a Flu-TnMRSA dosage of  $5 \times 10^7$  was sufficient for similar bacterial recovery and weight loss after accounting for influenza-mediated weight loss (Figure 7 C). After recovery from the lungs, Tn-seq bacteria were grown *in vitro* for five hours to ensure enough DNA for sequencing. After this time, we saw high bacterial numbers that should be sufficient for sequencing (Figure 7 D).

Unfortunately, after Tn-seq processing, we were unable to obtain our sequence data for analysis. This was due to our processed DNA not binding to the Illumina flow cell (Figure 8 A) despite presence of DNA. This was later discovered to be due to our adapter-containing primers not being full length (Figure 8 B). This was due to ordering the incorrect purification method for our primers (standard desalting) which does not guarantee that all primers are full length versus more stringent purification methods used for sequencing primers (high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) or polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (PAGE)). Additionally, another group published *S. aureus* Tn-seq within the lung<sup>540</sup>, although they focused solely on *S. aureus* pneumonia. Due the technological issues, graduate student career timing, and an already existing publication, this project was not pursued further.



Figure 7: Tn-seq Studies in the Lung

A. Total lung CFU and weight loss in mice infected with PBS or TnMRSA for 24 hours. B. Total lung CFU and wight loss in mice infected with influenza for 6 days followed by PBS or TnMRSA infection for 24 hours. C. Comparison of Total CFU of TnMRSA and weight loss due to TnMRSA independent of influenza weight loss of TnMRSA infections (same data as A and B). D. Total CFU of TnMRSA after 5 hours of growth. Statistics tested by unpaired T test (A,D left panel), Kruskall Wallis with Dunn's multiple comparisons correction (B left panel, C, D right panel), or Two-way ANOVA with Sidak's correction (B right panel). p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001, \*\*\*\*p<0.001. N=6-8 (2 for PBS groups), combination of 3 experiments, data graphed as mean ± SEM (standard error of the mean).



#### Figure 8: Tn-seq Sequencing Failed Due to Lack of DNA Binding

A. Image of the flow cell in the green channel during sequencing of my run versus a typical run. B. Analysis of DNA sequences revealed that a majority of DNA fragments did not have full length primers (Sample 1) that contain the Illumina adapter sequences need for binding the flow cell (Sample 2).

## 2.4 Discussion

Transposon sequencing is a powerful technique to elucidate virulence mechanisms *in vivo* that may be difficult to discover otherwise. To date, this technique has been used for several lung pathogens<sup>525, 533, 540, 541, 542, 543, 544, 545</sup>. Many of these studies have found similar requirements for pathways involved in persistence within the lung. The bacterial pathways that appear to be most impacted by the lung environment are amino acid and nucleic acid metabolism and biosynthesis<sup>525, 540, 542, 543, 544, 545</sup>. This is not surprising, as amino acids and nucleic acids are not only part of macromolecules needed by the bacteria, but also that these compounds feed into several different biochemical pathways. In *Klebsiella pneumoniae* infection, it was found that branched-chain

amino acid metabolism is not only important for nutrient purposes, but also plays a role in copper toxicity<sup>544</sup>. In *P. aeruginosa*, pyrimidine biosynthesis is tied to biomass formation in the presence of fluoroquinolone treatment<sup>545</sup>. This is supported by other studies that have found similar requirements in other pneumonia-causing bacteria<sup>546, 547, 548</sup>. Other pathways include cell wall/membrane synthesis, serum resistance, oxidative stress, and classical virulence factors<sup>525, 540, 542</sup>. This suggests that bacterial persistence within the host requires adaptation to a nutrient-poor, high stress environment while still replicating and producing virulence factors.

The *S. aureus* pneumonia Tn-seq found similar findings<sup>540</sup>. The major required clusters of orthologous groups (COGs) included energy production and conversion, nucleotide transport and metabolism, posttranslational modifications, and translation. Mutants in central metabolism also had defects in biofilm formation, arachidonic acid survival, and macrophage extracellular and intercellular survival. Interestingly, extracellular acidification rate of mutants correlated with intercellular survival in macrophages. This further suggests that metabolism is central to many mechanisms of *in vivo* virulence, especially for those related to growth *in vivo* and tolerance to host immune defenses.

There have also been a few super-infection Tn-seq studies performed<sup>526, 535</sup>. When comparing *Haemophilus influenzae*<sup>536</sup> and influenza, *H. influenzae*<sup>526</sup> Tn-seq studies, this group found that there were many genes that had overlapping requirement in both infections. In the influenza, *S. pneumoniae* paper<sup>535</sup>, the authors found that of the 24 genes identified, no genes were essential for *S. pneumoniae* or super-infection alone. This supports the idea that core metabolic functions are required in both settings. However, the *H. influenzae* super-infection paper still found differential requirements for some metabolic cofactors/coenzymes as well as genes involved in environmental

stresses<sup>526</sup>. The differences in these studies may be due to the depth of transposon mutagenesis; *S. pneumoniae* library had 2000 mutants while the *H. influenzae* library had ~75,000. Despite this, both groups suggest that the influenza-induced changes in the lung did affect how the bacteria respond to their environment. It is thought that the influenza-infected lung has more available nutrients for bacteria due to the cellular damage<sup>484</sup>. Indeed, this is seen with a putative *S. pneumoniae* aminotransferase mutant ( $\Delta PA$ ) that grew better in the presence of influenza-infected lung homogenate compared to naïve lung homogenate<sup>535</sup>. Similar changes are likely to occur in super-infection with *S. aureus*. Core metabolism pathways are likely still required for survival in the lung, but there may be reduced requirements for particular pathways that have abundant nutrients in an influenza-infected lung. For example, *H. influenzae* does not require histidine biosynthesis during super-infection, likely due the increased availability from influenza infected lung such as proline and serine as these are released from cultured epithelial cells infected with influenza<sup>549</sup>.

There are also likely differences in the host response to bacteria, which has been described extensively in the super-infection literature<sup>482, 486</sup>. During super-infection, *H. influenzae* does not require a glycosylation pathway needed to avoid complement, whereas it is required during mono-infection<sup>526</sup>. *S. aureus* can express a capsular polysaccharide, although USA300 does not express this<sup>9, 19</sup> and so it would not be detected using the *S. aureus* Tn-seq library used here or in the published study<sup>540</sup>. Additionally, many of the known virulence proteins would not likely show up in a Tn-seq screen based on the nature of the technique. *S. aureus* produces several secreted factors that have known roles in immune evasion<sup>9, 19, 260</sup>, however these would not be detected using this

method as Tn-seq is unable to detect genetic requirements for secreted proteins<sup>530</sup>. However, there may be unknown connections to metabolism pathways that influence immune avoidance, as seen in the *S. aureus* pneumonia study<sup>540</sup>.

While we were unable to obtain sequencing results from these studies, we now have the methodology to continue this project in super-infection. Infection dosages and Tn-seq processing has been optimized in our laboratory. A caveat to our data is the high limit of detection of bacterial counts due to inefficient plating that was done. This is a combination of limited graduate student experience at the time these studies were performed as well as using 10 µl "dot plating" versus conventional 100 µl spread plates for bacterial enumeration. This likely explains the high CFU reading of the PBS groups post-infection and post-5-hour growth. If repeated, bacterial enumeration should be done on spread plates for more accurate numbers. Additionally, mice in our facility can carry *S. epidermidis* and this bacterium was present on many of the plates counted (personal observation). In the future, mice should likely be dipped in ethanol to prevent contamination from their commensal flora for more accurate Tn-seq results. An additional control that should be added to these studies is a 24-hour *in vitro* growth control in TSB, the media the library was constructed in. While this was performed in some of the Tn-seq studies, analysis of growth via plating was not conducted.

## 3.0 Screening S. aureus Mutants in Bacterial Pneumonia and Influenza Super-infection

# 3.1 Summary

In the respiratory tract, Staphylococcus aureus is associated with infections ranging from asymptomatic colonization to severe necrotizing pneumonia. While staphylococcal pneumonia has always been highly associated with influenza infections, it has emerged as the major cause of pneumonia associated with influenza since the 2009 H1N1 pandemic. This is partially due to the increase in prevalence of community-associated methicillin-resistant S. aureus (CA-MRSA). Despite the clinical relevance of S. aureus, little is known about which S. aureus/MRSA factors are important in pneumonia and influenza super-infection. Successful establishment of infection by bacterial pathogens requires adhesion to host cells. Staphylococcal species express a broad range of surface proteins that are involved in adhesion to host cells, known as cell wall-anchored proteins (CWAs). CWA proteins have known roles in upper respiratory tract colonization, however their role in the lung is unknown. Therefore, we seek to understand the role of these proteins in the context of lung infection in both MRSA pneumonia and influenza MRSA superinfection. We screened several CWA mutants in the context of MRSA pneumonia and influenza MRSA super-infection to determine their roles in both contexts. Here, we find that CWAs have variable effects in bacterial pneumonia, with changes seen in bacterial burden, immune infiltrate, and lung injury. However, influenza increases these readouts regardless of CWA mutant, to similar levels as influenza alone. Only the inflammatory signature of each CWA mutant stays consistent in both infections. This supports that influenza is the main driver of super-infection and that CWAs likely play a minor role.

Part of the data presented here is found in "Novel Requirements for Staphylococcal Cell Wall-Anchored Protein SasD in Pulmonary Infection" by Jennifer A. Grousd, Abigail M. Riesmeyer, Vaughn S. Cooper, Jennifer M. Bomberger, Anthony R. Richardson, and John F. Alcorn. Currently found on BioRxiv (<u>https://www.biorxiv.org/content/10.1101/2022.04.01.486802v1</u>).

## **3.2 Introduction**

Influenza is a seasonal respiratory virus that causes an estimated 294,000-518,000 deaths worldwide each year<sup>550</sup>. In the 2018-2019 season, there was an estimated 29 million influenza cases in the United States alone<sup>551</sup>. A frequent complication of influenza is secondary bacterial pneumonia (colloquially referred to as super-infection), which has higher morbidity and mortality than influenza alone<sup>448, 552, 553</sup>. Samples from the infamous 1918 influenza pandemic showed that a majority of deaths were caused by secondary bacterial pneumonia<sup>452</sup>. This was again seen in the 2009 H1N1 pandemic, with about a third of influenza fatalities associated with some bacterial infection<sup>554, 555</sup>. Since 2009, *Staphylococcus aureus* is a major contributor to influenza bacterial super-infections<sup>310, 461, 556, 557</sup>. *S. aureus* increases the risk of morbidity and mortality, with community circulating methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* (MRSA) likely playing a role<sup>558, 559, 560</sup>.

Much of the literature of super-infection focuses on the immunological differences in antibacterial immunity that occur with a preceding influenza infection. In general, the antiviral response to influenza will inhibit the clearance of a bacterial infection through mechanisms such as increased interferon production, increased alveolar macrophage death, and downregulation of bacterial pattern recognition receptors<sup>482, 484, 490, 561</sup>. There are also physiological differences that

occur due to influenza infection that may increase susceptibility to secondary bacterial infections. Many of the bacteria known to cause super-infection are nasal commensals, and inflammation from influenza has been shown to increase dissemination from the nasopharynx to the lung<sup>490, 491</sup>. The virus itself, and the immune response to the virus, can lead to epithelial and endothelial damage, which could lead to increased nutrient resources as well as potentially expose cryptic receptors for bacterial adherence to cells or basement membrane components<sup>484, 490, 492, 493</sup>. Once the bacteria are attached, bacterial toxins could synergize with influenza to cause even further damage and inflammation in the lung, potentially leading to the increased morbidity and death seen in super-infection<sup>343, 484, 490</sup>.

Although there has been much work elucidating the mechanisms of super-infection in terms of immunological and physiological dysregulation, not much work has been done focusing on the bacterial side of this equation. For *S. aureus* specifically, there are few major virulence factors described within the lung, even within the context of *S. aureus* pneumonia. Because the super-infection literature suggests that influenza can influence bacterial adherence, we decided to explore surface proteins of *S. aureus*, collectively known as the cell wall-anchored proteins (CWAs), since many of these proteins have known roles in adhesion<sup>22, 518</sup>. *S. aureus* can express up to 24 CWAs, with the most prevalent subfamily known as microbial surface component recognizing adhesive matrix molecule (MSCRAMM) proteins<sup>22, 518</sup>. These CWAs are secreted via the Sec apparatus and are covalently attached to the cell wall via the Sortase A enzyme that recognizes the cell wall sorting motif LPXTG<sup>22, 23, 25, 562</sup>. Because these are surface exposed proteins, they are in direct contact with the host and have a variety of known functions such as host adhesion, biofilm formation, immune evasion, and nutrient acquisition for both colonization and invasive infection<sup>22, 51</sup>.

<sup>518</sup>. Some of the CWAs have been described to play a part in nasal colonization<sup>22, 63, 518</sup>. These proteins have also been targets of vaccination and monoclonal antibody efforts against *S. aureus*<sup>22, 563, 564</sup>. Because these CWA proteins play an important part in *S. aureus* colonization and infection, we decided to screen several CWA members in the lung in both bacterial pneumonia and influenza super-infection. Our results support the literature findings that the increase in bacterial burden and immune responses during super-infection is primarily driven by influenza infection.

## **3.3 Materials and Methods**

## 3.3.1 Mice.

Six- to eight-week-old male WT C57BL/6NTac mice were purchased from Taconic Farms. Mice were maintained under pathogen-free conditions within the animal facilities at the UPMC Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh. All studies were performed on sex- and age-matched mice. Animal studies were conducted with approval from the University of Pittsburgh Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee.

# 3.3.2 S. aureus strains.

USA300 MRSA strain JE2<sup>565</sup> was the WT strain for all studies. All strains used in study are listed in Table 3 and are derived from the Nebraska Transposon Mutant Library<sup>565</sup> (BEI Resources), with strains *srtA::Tn, sdrE::Tn, sdrC::Tn, fnbB::Tn, isdB::Tn, sasG::Tn,* and

*sasD::Tn* gifted from Dr. Ken Urish, University of Pittsburgh. All mutants were confirmed by PCR using gene-and transposon-specific primers in Table 4. *S. aureus* strains were grown in Tryptic Soy Broth (BD Bacto<sup>TM</sup>) overnight at 37° C at 250 rpm. Overnight cultures were diluted 1:100 and grown until OD<sub>660</sub>~1, approximating logarithmic growth phase. MRSA dose was calculated using OD<sub>660</sub> measurement of the culture and application of a calculated extinction coefficient. For growth curves, overnight cultures were diluted 1:200 in a 96-well plate in sexaplicate. Plates were grown at 37°C at 282 rpm in a Synergy H1 Hybrid Multi-Mode Reader (BioTek). Optical density measurements at 660 nm were taken every 30 minutes. Growth rate ( $\mu$ ) was calculated from at least two independent experiments using the equation A<sub>t</sub>=A<sub>t-1</sub>\*e<sup> $\mu$ t</sup>. The  $\mu$ max was calculated as the average of the three highest  $\mu$  rates.

# 3.3.3 Murine Models.

Influenza A/PR/8/34 (H1N1) was grown in chicken eggs as previously described<sup>537</sup>. Mice were inoculated with PBS vehicle or 100 plaque forming units (PFU) of influenza in 50 µl of sterile PBS. Six days later, mice were infected with 1x10<sup>8</sup> colony forming units (CFU) of MRSA in 50 µl of sterile PBS. All infections were performed via oropharyngeal aspiration. Mice were harvested 24 hours after MRSA challenge using pentobarbital injection (300 mg/kg) and cervical dislocation. During harvest, the lung was lavaged with 1 ml sterile PBS. BAL cells were pelleted and red blood cells were lysed (ACK lysis buffer, Gibco). Cells were resuspended, placed on slides via cytospin, stained with Hema 3 (Thermo Fisher), and quantified. The right upper lung lobe was homogenized in 1 ml PBS and plated on tryptic soy agar for determination of bacterial burden. The remaining right lung was frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C for gene expression analysis.

#### **3.3.4 Biofilm Assay**

Overnight cultures were diluted 1:100, plated in quadruplicate in 96 well plate and incubated at 37 C for 24 hours. The following day, the plate was washed with sterile PBS, dried for 30 minutes, and fixed with 95% ethanol for ten minutes. Wells were stained with 0.1% wt/vol filtered crystal violet for 15 minutes and washed by submerging the plate in sterile water three times. The plate was air dried for one hour, decolorized with 33% glacial acetic acid for 10 minutes, and read at 570 nm.

## 3.3.5 Macrophage experiments.

For experiments,  $7x10^5$  RAW264.7 cells were plated in 6-well plates, infected at an MOI 10, and spun at 250 xg for 5 minutes at 4° C to synchronize infection. Cells were infected for 1 hour in the absence of antibiotics, media was replaced with antibiotic- and serum-free media with and without gentamicin (100 ug/ml) for 1 hour, then replaced with antibiotic-free media for an additional hour. At collection, cells were lysed with 1% Triton X-100 at room temperature for 10 minutes and 50 µl was collected for CFU determination. Phagocytosis was calculated by the equation ((CFU+gentamicin)/(CFU-gentamicin))\*100. RLT (Qiagen) was added to the wells and collected and ran through a Qiashredder and frozen at -80°C until RNA extraction.

## 3.3.6 RNA extraction and qPCR.

RNA was extracted from mouse lungs using the Absolutely Total RNA Purification Kit (Agilent). RNA extraction from cell culture experiments were performed using the Qiagen RNeasy

kit (Qiagen). RNA was quantified and converted to cDNA using iScript<sup>TM</sup> cDNA Synthesis Kit (Bio-Rad). Quantitative PCR was performed using SsoAdvanced Universal Probes Supermix (Bio-Rad) and TaqMan primer-probe sets (ThermoFisher Scientific) listed in Table 5 on the CFX96 Touch Real-Time PCR Detection System (Bio-Rad). Gene expression was calculated using the  $\Delta\Delta$ ct method using *hprt* as a housekeeping gene and normalized to the average WT *S. aureus* values unless otherwise stated.

## 3.3.7 Multiplex and Heatmap analysis.

Lung homogenate cytokines were assessed using the Bio-Plex Pro Mouse Cytokine 23-plex Assay (Bio-Rad). For clustering analysis, all data was combined and samples with missing data and MIP-1 $\alpha$ , due to poor detection, were excluded. The average for each cytokine per mutant was used. Using R (version 4.1.0) in RStudio (version 1.4.1717), data was log-transformed and scaled to Z score and clustered by cytokine using the hclust function and Pearson correlation. The resulting heatmap was visualized using Heatmap.2 function in the gplots package.

### **3.3.8 Statistical Analysis.**

Data were analyzed using Prism 8 (GraphPad). Analyses comparing two groups were performed using Mann-Whitney test or an unpaired t test. For analyses assessing more than two groups, Kruskal-Wallis with Dunn's multiple comparisons correction was used. Analyses comparing two variables were tested via Two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Sidak's multiple comparisons correction. All figures show combined data from multiple replicate studies and are graphed as mean  $\pm$  standard error of the mean (SEM). N values are numbers of animals per independent experiment. Statistical significance (p  $\leq 0.05$ ) is indicated in figure legends, with p values between 0.05 and 0.1 displayed numerically.

## **3.4 Results**

Since cell wall-anchored proteins (CWAs) are exposed on the cell surface of S. aureus, we hypothesized that these proteins may be playing a role in colonization and/or infection in the lung. We screened nine CWA mutants (fnbB::Tn, clfA::Tn, clfB::Tn, sdrC::Tn, sdrD::Tn, sdrE::Tn, *isdB::Tn, sasG::Tn,* and *sasD::Tn*) and the corresponding wildtype (WT) strain JE2 in the context of bacterial pneumonia and influenza super-infection. We also included a Sortase A (srtA::Tn) mutant, the enzyme responsible for attaching these CWAs to the cell wall of S. aureus. In terms of bacterial burden within the lung (Figure 9 A), lacking individual CWA proteins during bacterial pneumonia led to varying decreases in burden when compared to the WT strain. The differences in bacterial burden did not appear to be due to differences in *in vitro* growth rates of the various mutants (Figure 24 A and B). Interestingly, the Sortase A mutant did not have a significant decrease in bacterial burden. The mutant lacking SasG (S. aureus surface protein G; sasG::Tn) had the largest decrease in burden during bacterial pneumonia. During super-infection, mutants had increased burden versus single infection, although only the WT and ClfA mutant (clumping factor A; *clfA::Tn*) were significantly increased. The mutant lacking IsdB (iron-regulated surface determinant protein B; isdB::Tn) was the only mutant that had significantly decreased burden in both bacterial pneumonia and super-infection. Lacking *S. aureus* CWAs did not impact viral burden in the lung (Figure 24 C).

To look at lung inflammation with CWA mutants, we examined the number of cells in the airway via bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) (Figure 9 B). Cellular immune infiltrates in the lung varied based on the mutant. During super-infection, almost all mutants had significantly higher numbers of BAL cells in the airways. The number of BAL cells during super-infection are at influenza alone levels, suggesting this is the main driver of immune infiltrate during super-infection. To look at acute lung injury and leak, we measured total protein in the BAL (Figure 9 C). Although not as variable, the level of protein in the BAL during bacterial pneumonia varied based on the mutant. Interestingly, the mutant lacking FnbB (fibronectin binding protein B; *fnbB::Tn*) had the highest level of protein in the BAL in bacterial pneumonia. Lung leak also significantly increased during super-infection compared to bacterial pneumonia. Only the WT had significantly increased BAL protein during super-infection compared to influenza alone.



Figure 9: Differential Impact of *S. aureus* CWA Mutants in Bacterial Pneumonia and Influenza Super-Infection Mice were inoculated with PBS or 100 PFU of influenza on day 0 and six days later were infected with PBS or  $1\times10^8$ CFU of WT MRSA or a strain lacking individual CWA (see graphs) and harvested 24 hours later. A. Bacterial burden in bacterial pneumonia (SA) or influenza super-infection (FS) 24 hours post MRSA infection. Mice with undetectable CFU were graphed as half of the limit of detection. B-C. Total cells (B) or total protein (C) in the bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) in bacterial pneumonia (SA) or influenza super-infection (FS). Statistics tested by Two-way ANOVA with Sidak's multiple comparison correction. \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001, \*\*\*\*p<0.0001. N=2-4, combination of several experiments, data graphed as mean  $\pm$  SEM (standard error of the mean). srtA: Sortase A, fnbB: fibronectin binding protein B, clfA/B: clumping factor A/B, sdrC/D/E: serine-aspartate repeat containing protein C/D/E, isdB: iron-regulated surface determinant B, sasD/G: *S. aureus* surface protein D/G.



**Figure 10: CWA Mutant Induced Cytokine Expression in Bacterial Pneumonia and Influenza Super-Infection** A. Cytokine expression in bacterial pneumonia. There are three clusters (from left to right): low inflammation, mixed inflammation, and high inflammation. B. Cytokine expression in super-infection. There are four clusters (from left to right): low inflammation, mixed inflammation, influenza alone (Flu), and high inflammation. Cytokines were measured via multiplex analyses of lung homogenate. For each cytokine, average values for each MRSA strain were log transformed and converted to Z scores. Heatmap clustering was performed by cytokine using the Pearson correlation and graphed using the heatmap.2 function of the gplots package in R. srtA: Sortase A, fnbB: fibronectin binding protein B, clfA/B: clumping factor A/B, sdrC/D/E: serine-aspartate repeat containing protein C/D/E, isdB: iron-regulated surface determinant B, sasD/G: *S. aureus* surface protein D/G.

Next, we examined the inflammatory response to CWA mutants via cytokines in lung homogenate. To determine if immune signatures were similar in CWA subfamilies, we visualized the cytokine data by clustering analyses (Figure 10 A and B). In bacterial pneumonia, there were three clusters of inflammatory responses which we termed: low inflammation, mixed inflammation, and high inflammation (Figure 10 A). Unsurprisingly, the Sortase A mutant, which lacks all CWAs on the cell surface, had the lowest level of cytokine induction. *srtA::Tn* had significant decreases in type 2 cytokines IL-9 (p<0.0001) and IL-13 (p=0.0025), but not IL-4 and IL-5. This was not driven by IL-33 expression, as *srtA::Tn* trended towards increased IL-33

expression via qPCR (p=0.0710) (data not shown). The other mutant in the low inflammation cluster was sdrD::Tn (serine aspartate repeat containing protein D), which had higher levels of expression of type 1 and type 2 cytokines compared to srtA::Tn. The mutants found in the mixed inflammation cluster typically had higher levels of innate immunity cytokines and chemokines, but lower levels of type 1, 2, and 17 cytokines. The high inflammation cluster, which contained the WT strain as well as most Clf and Sdr members, had the highest levels of cytokines. During super-infection, the clustering of CWAs by cytokine expression was very similar to bacterial pneumonia (Figure 10 B). Again, the strains cluster into three groups distinct from influenza alone and the only mutant that switched clusters was sasG::Tn.

Due to the inflammatory changes seen, we wanted to look at early CWA interactions with the immune system. As alveolar macrophages (AMs) are likely the first immune cell to encounter *S. aureus* in the lung, we decided to determine if there were inflammatory differences in RAW264.7 macrophages infected with WT or CWA mutant MRSA (Figure 11). Macrophages were infected without (-G) and with (+G) gentamicin to kill external *S. aureus* to determine if there were differences in external and internal *S. aureus* signals (Figure 11 A). Lacking all CWAs or individual CWAs led to mostly significant decreases in bacterial burden regardless of gentamicin treatment. This is also reflected in their survival rates, and for some mutants, may be tied to their reduced ability to form biofilm (Figure 25 A and B). Mutants lacking ClfA and ClfB had the highest burden after the wildtype, although this is not significant. Macrophages infected with *isdB::Tn* had significantly less burden as well as reduced expression of cytokines (Figure 11 B), similar to the phenotype seen *in vivo*. The mutant lacking SasG also had significantly less burden, similar to the Sortase A mutant (Figure 11 A left panel), however *sasG::Tn* survival is much lower

than *srtA::Tn* (Figure 25 A). Macrophages also expressed lower levels of cytokines when infected with *sasG::Tn* (Figure 11 C). Unsurprisingly, lacking all CWAs led to reduced bacterial burden, but not overall survival (Figure 11 A and Figure 25 A). Compared to individual CWA mutants, the *srtA::Tn* strain was phagocytosed the least, although not significant (Figure 25 C). As this mutant is lacking several surface proteins, it is unsurprising that the bacterial responses in macrophages were reduced (Figure 11 D).



Figure 11: CWA Mutant Interactions with Macrophage Cell Line RAW264.7.

A-D. RAW264.7 macrophages infected with WT or CWA mutant (see graph) MRSA for 3 hours at an MOI of 10. Macrophages were infected for one hour in the absence of antibiotics, media was then replaced with antibiotic- and serum-free media with (+G) or without (-G) gentamicin for 1 hour and changed to antibiotic free media. A. Bacterial burden of macrophages after 3 hours of infection without (-G) and with (+G) 1 hour 100 ug/ml gentamycin treatment. B. Gene expression in RAW264.7 macrophages infected with either WT or *isdB::Tn* MRSA without gentamicin treatment. C. Gene expression of macrophages infected with either WT or *sasG::Tn* MRSA without gentamicin treatment.D. Gene expression in RAW264.7 macrophages infected with either WT or *srtA::Tn* MRSA without gentamicin treatment. Statistics tested by Kruskal-Wallis with Dunn's multiple comparisons correction (A) or Mann-Whitney (B-D).\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01, \*\*\* p<0.001, \*\*\*\*p<0.001. N=3-4, combination of several experiments, except for right panel of B where n=2 in one experiment. Data graphed as mean  $\pm$  SEM (standard error of the mean). srtA: Sortase A, fnbB: fibronectin binding protein B, clfA/B: clumping factor A/B, sdrC/D/E: serine-aspartate repeat containing protein C/D/E, isdB: iron-regulated surface determinant B, sasD/G: *S. aureus* surface protein D/G.

## **3.5 Discussion**

The majority of the viral super-infection literature focuses on the differences in immune responses between bacterial pneumonia and influenza bacterial super-infection. It is well documented that preceding influenza greatly impairs the antibacterial response within the lung<sup>482, 486</sup>. Few studies have examined bacterial factors in single or super-infection in the lung. The literature suggests that increased inflammation and tissue damage lead to increased adhesion within the lung, contributing to increases in bacterial burden<sup>484, 490</sup>. However, to our knowledge, there has been no specific testing of bacterial adhesion components *in vivo* during single or viral super-infection in the lung. Most studies that have investigated *S. aureus* virulence factors in the lung have focused on secreted toxins, such as the alpha-toxin<sup>270, 272, 343, 356, 566</sup>. While toxin-mediated damage contributes to lung pathology, the alpha-toxin has been shown to decrease adhesion to lung epithelial cells<sup>567</sup>. Thus, we wanted to determine if proteins with known adhesion properties influenced the outcomes of single or super-infection.

Our data supports the finding that changes due to influenza infection are the primary driver of super-infection (Figure 12), with influenza increasing bacterial burden, immune recruitment, and acute lung injury seen in the model. Interestingly, regardless of what CWA was removed, influenza appeared to "level the playing field" for the mutants, with endpoints being much higher and tighter grouped in super-infection than in bacterial pneumonia alone. *S. aureus* strains seen in super-infected individuals are less virulent and more closely related to nasal colonizing strains than those strains found in bacterial pneumonia patients<sup>498</sup>. This is likely due to the increased inflammation and damage within lung as well as a more dysregulated immune response during super-infection leading to less aggressive colonizing strains taking hold in the lung. However,

viral-bacterial synergism is likely adding to this phenomenon, as influenza can increase both internalization and adhesion of bacteria within the lung<sup>494, 495</sup>. This is not specific to influenza, as the same phenomenon is seen in rhinovirus-*S. aureus* super-infections<sup>496, 497</sup>.



#### Figure 12: Influenza Drives Super-infection Regardless of CWA Mutant.

Compared to bacterial pneumonia caused by *S. aureus*, influenza infection drives many of the changes seen in superinfection regardless of the CWA tested in this study. Influenza drives morbidity to super-infection in three main ways (from left to right panels): 1) influenza drives the increase in immune cells in the lung and the inflammation they cause, 2) influenza drives epithelial and endothelial damage leading to increased lung leak, and these mechanisms (likely in combination with others) ultimately leads to increases in burden due to increased survival of *S. aureus* in the lung regardless of CWA status.

We saw more variability in the endpoints studied during bacterial pneumonia, likely because adhesion in the lung is more difficult in a homeostatic state. SasG has a known role in biofilm formation<sup>160, 164</sup>, which may explain the decrease in burden seen in bacterial pneumonia. SasG has also been shown to adhere to human desquamated nasal epithelial cells via an unknown ligand<sup>159</sup>, so it unclear if lacking SasG would have a pronounced impact on murine lung cell adhesion. IsdB is the receptor for hemoglobin and part of the heme acquisition system to attain iron, an important bacterial nutrient<sup>135</sup>. While this protein has higher affinity for human hemoglobin, it still plays a role in murine models<sup>49, 135</sup>. Thus, it is unsurprising that lacking this CWA had an impact on bacterial survival in both bacterial pneumonia and influenza super-infection. In bacterial pneumonia, *fnbB::Tn* had elevated protein in the BAL, which may be caused by the high bacterial burden and immune cell infiltrate. FnbB, along with FnbA (not tested in this study), have been shown to play a role in invasion into nonprofessional phagocytes via fibronectin-integrin  $\alpha_5\beta_1$  interactions<sup>81, 82, 568</sup>. This phenomenon has been shown *in vitro* for alveolar epithelium and a FnbB deletion mutant was found to have increased protein leak in a rat model of pneumonia<sup>399</sup>. This suggests that internalization of *S. aureus*, and subsequent immune evasion, may reduce inflammation in the lung. SdrD is known to play a role during nasal colonization as well as help promote survival of *S. aureus* in the blood<sup>117, 121, 256</sup>. Lacking this CWA may allow for reduced number of immune cells during bacterial pneumonia as well as lower cytokine expression.

CWAs are known to bind to several proteins within the host such as fibrinogen and fibronectin<sup>24</sup>. In this study we did not explore bacterial adhesion to specific ligands, but it is likely a combination of several ligands, as described at other host sites such as the nose<sup>387</sup>. CWAs also have overlapping ligands, such as ClfA, ClfB, FnbA, and FnbB all binding fibrinogen<sup>24</sup>. Because we only looked at single CWA mutants, some of the functions of these proteins in bacterial pneumonia and super-infection could be masked.

Even though the CWA mutants had more clear phenotypes in bacterial pneumonia compared to super-infection, the cytokine signature in both settings appears to be driven by the expression of these CWAs. The mutants found in each cluster were consistent in both bacterial pneumonia

and super-infection, with the exception of sasG::Tn. This suggests that while a majority of the inflammation in the lung is driven by influenza, at least some part of the immune response is shaped by the presence of these CWAs on the cell surface of the bacteria. As SasG has a known role in biofilm formation and influenza is known to induce dissemination of S. aureus  $biofilms^{160}$ , <sup>164, 491</sup>, this effect could influence how the immune system reacts to this mutant. A majority of the MSCRAMM proteins (clfA::Tn, clfB::Tn, sdrC::Tn, sdrE::Tn) cluster together in the high inflammation cluster. This is what we expected to find, as these proteins have similar domains used for ligand binding and this may influence the immune response<sup>23</sup>. ClfA has been shown to be a T cell activator driving Th1 and Th17 activation<sup>569</sup>. While we did not see any significant changes in IL-2 or IFN $\gamma$ , we did see a nearly significant decrease in IL-17A (p=0.0571) with the *clfA::Tn* mutant. Unsurprisingly, the Sortase A mutant, which lacks all CWAs on the cell surface, induced the lowest expression of cytokines. It is important to note that the Sortase A mutant still makes all the CWAs, but they are secreted into the environment instead of covalently attached to the cell wall. However, it does suggest that the influence on immune signaling is greatest when the CWAs are still attached to the bacteria. However, more testing would be needed in defining the portions of each CWA responsible for altering immune signaling.

Alveolar macrophages patrol the airways looking for pathogens and help coordinate immune responses in the lung<sup>408</sup>. Thus, early interactions with AMs likely shape the overall immune response to bacteria. As CWAs are expressed on the cell surface, they likely influence how *S. aureus* is either recognized or what inflammatory mediators are made by macrophages. Many of these CWAs can bind host proteins and mask bacterial recognition and lacking them likely leads to better macrophage recognition and inflammatory responses. Unsurprisingly, lacking all CWAs

had the largest decrease burden, although not significant, and had decreased expression of bacterial recognition proteins TLR2 and TLR4. While this reduction is less than 2-fold, this does suggest that CWAs may play a minor role in either recognition of *S. aureus* or in early macrophage signaling leading to increased TLR expression. Interestingly, *srtA::Tn* infection led to decreases in TNF $\alpha$  but not IL-6 expression, which could be explained by timing, differences in gene and protein regulation, or that a secreted protein is has a redundant effect on the immune system response. For example, both protein A, a CWA, and Sbi, a secreted and cell-wall associated protein, can both induce inflammatory signaling through the TNF $\alpha$  receptor<sup>149, 232</sup>.

The bacterial survival and inflammatory response in macrophages reflected what was seen *in vivo*. The increased inflammation seen in Clf mutants in the lung could partially be explained by their increased survival when interacting with macrophages. However, Sdr mutants, which had similar inflammation *in vivo* to Clf mutants, did not survive similarly in macrophages. As neutrophils are the first blood immune cell to enter the tissue<sup>570</sup>, it could be that these cells are playing a larger role in the overall inflammatory response to those CWAs. SdrD is known to increase survival of *S. aureus* in the presence of neutrophils<sup>121</sup> and other Sdr proteins could have similar interactions. Infection with *isdB::Tn* led to lower expression levels of inflammatory cytokines, which was also seen in the lungs. While there was a significant reduction in *il-23a* expression in macrophages, clearance of *isdB::Tn* from the lung was not affected. This could be due to poor survival of the mutant itself, timing, or a different cell type *in vivo* responsible for the production of IL-23, such as dendritic cells. Biofilm formation also likely plays a role in how these bacteria are sensed. Those CWA mutants that produced lower biofilm mass tended to not survive as well when in the presence of macrophages. Biofilms can be protective against phagocytosis<sup>571</sup>,

and while we did not see any obvious trends other than with *srtA::Tn*, this could be due to the particular experimental setup that was used (several washes could have removed more bacteria leading to inaccurate phagocytosis rates). Bacterial microaggregates in the lung have been shown to help mediate damage through the alpha-toxin<sup>343</sup> and CWAs could be involved in forming microaggregates, as FnbA, FnbB, SdrC, and SasG can form homophilic interactions with themselves on nearby cells<sup>99, 114, 160</sup>.

In conclusion, our data supports the idea that influenza is the major driver of susceptibility to super-infection. CWAs do not appear to have a major virulence role in super-infection, likely due to the influenza-induced changes in the lung environment and the immune response. However, they do significantly impact the inflammatory milieu and this may affect lung tissue injury. In pneumonia, CWAs have varying levels of influence on bacterial burden, although much of this could be due to overlapping ligands between CWAs. CWAs do, however, have an influence on inflammatory signaling in the lung, and this could be due to early interactions with immune cells such as macrophages.

#### 4.0 Investigating the Role of Sbi in the Lung

## 4.1 Summary

Severe community-acquired pneumonia (CAP) can lead to high levels of morbidity and mortality in patients. This is partly due to the increase in inflammation that can affect lung function. Understanding the basis of inflammation during CAP could lead to better clinical treatment. *Staphylococcus aureus* is a major contributor to infections including pneumonia. One of the characterized virulence factors in the lung is staphylococcal protein A (SpA), which can induce inflammatory signaling in the lung in addition to its ability to bind immunoglobulins. A related protein, second binding protein for IgG (Sbi), shares homology with SpA, however it is unclear if Sbi induces inflammation in the lung similar to SpA. Here we investigate the role of Sbi during staphylococcal pneumonia. We find that Sbi induces inflammatory changes to the lung and lacking Sbi leads to improved survival. These inflammatory changes differ from those induced by SpA and are not dependent on immunoglobin binding. This suggests that Sbi induces inflammation through a different mechanism, such as complement evasion.

## 4.2 Introduction

Pneumonia is a significant cause of morbidity and mortality worldwide. In 2016, the Global Burden of Diseases, Injuries, and Risk Factors (GBD) Study on lower respiratory infections estimated that 336.5 million lower respiratory tract infections occurred, leading to 652,572 deaths<sup>572</sup>. In the United States, approximately 1.5 million cases of adult community-acquired pneumonia (CAP) occur annually, with a 1-year mortality rate of 30.6%<sup>573</sup>. While thought to be less severe than hospital-acquired or ventilator-associated pneumonia, CAP can still lead to high morbidity and mortality<sup>574, 575</sup>. Severe CAP cases can lead to sepsis, acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), and ultimately death<sup>574, 576</sup>. Even patients who recover clinically with CAP can still have subclinical levels of inflammation, which is associated with an increased risk of death<sup>577</sup>. Understanding how inflammation is induced during pneumonia may lead to better treatment options for patients.

*Staphylococcus aureus* is an important respiratory pathogen that can lead to severe cases of CAP<sup>272</sup>. In a recent study looking at patients with severe staphylococcal pneumonia, 89% required hospitalization, over 70% required mechanical ventilation, and 33% died as result of their infection<sup>578</sup>. *S. aureus*, and in particular methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* (MRSA) can have high levels of expression of various virulence factors that can lead to inflammation<sup>9, 15</sup>. *S. aureus* toxins and other factors can directly kill immune cells or induce high levels of inflammation<sup>172, 260</sup>. However, in the lung, many of these inflammatory mechanisms are still not understood. One of the well characterized virulence factors in the lung is staphylococcal protein A (SpA). In addition to its role in avoiding opsonization by binding Fc regions of immunoglobulin, SpA can activate clotting by binding von Willebrand factor, act as a superantigen for B cells, as well as induce inflammation during staphylococcal pneumonia<sup>22, 232, 518</sup>. The latter is mediated through two distinct mechanisms on the lung epithelium: 1) inducing TNFR1 and EGFR signaling through its IgG binding domains<sup>232, 233, 234, 235</sup> and 2) by inducing IFNβ signaling through its Xr domain<sup>236</sup>.

*S. aureus* expresses a second binding protein for IgG (Sbi) that also mediates escape from opsonization of both IgG and complement<sup>150, 151</sup>. Sbi contains four globular domains, the first two are homologous to the immunoglobulin binding domains of SpA , while the other two domains are responsible for interfering with the complement system<sup>144</sup>. Because Sbi and SpA have homology in both IgG binding domains as well as the Xr domain, it is possible that Sbi may play a similar role in the lung. Unlike SpA, Sbi is associated with the cell envelope and secreted rather than being anchored to the cell wall<sup>144</sup>. As such, Sbi may have farther reaching affects than SpA. Thus, this study was aimed at investigating the role of Sbi in the induction of inflammatory responses in staphylococcal pneumonia.

## 4.3 Materials and Methods

## 4.3.1 Mice.

Six- to eight-week-old male WT C57BL/6NTac mice were purchased from Taconic Farms. B6.129S2-*Ighm*<sup>tm1Cgn</sup>/J (µMT) and corresponding wildtype mice were purchased from Jackson Laboratory. Mice were maintained under pathogen-free conditions within the animal facilities at the UPMC Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh. All studies were performed on sex- and age-matched mice. Animal studies were conducted with approval from the University of Pittsburgh Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee.

## 4.3.2 S. aureus strains.

Strains used in this study are listed in Table 3. USA300 MRSA strain JE2<sup>565</sup> was the WT strain for all studies. Strain sbi A100.2 was generated via phage 11 transduction of *sbi::Tn* lysate into the wildtype JE2 strain, selected with 5  $\mu$ g/ml erythromycin and confirmed by PCR (Table 4). *S. aureus* strains were grown in Tryptic Soy Broth (BD Bacto<sup>TM</sup>) overnight at 37° C at 250 rpm. Overnight cultures were diluted 1:100 and grown until OD<sub>660</sub>~1, approximating logarithmic growth phase. MRSA dose was calculated using OD<sub>660</sub> measurement of the culture and application of a calculated extinction coefficient. For growth curves, overnight cultures were diluted 1:200 in a 96-well plate in sexaplicate. Plates were grown at 37°C at 282 rpm in a Synergy H1 Hybrid Multi-Mode Reader (BioTek). Optical density measurements at 660 nm were taken every 30 minutes. Growth rate ( $\mu$ ) was calculated from at least two independent experiments using the equation A<sub>t</sub>=A<sub>t-1</sub>\*e<sup>µt</sup>. The µ<sub>max</sub> was calculated as the average of the three highest µ rates.

# 4.3.3 Murine Models.

Mice were inoculated with  $1 \times 10^8$  colony forming units (CFU) of MRSA in 50 µl of sterile PBS. All infections were performed via oropharyngeal aspiration. Mice were harvested 6 or 24 hours after MRSA challenge using pentobarbital injection (300 mg/kg) and cervical dislocation. In mortality studies, a dose of  $2 \times 10^8$  CFU was used. During harvest, the lung was lavaged with 1 ml sterile PBS. BAL cells were pelleted and red blood cells were lysed (ACK lysis buffer, Gibco). Cells were resuspended, placed on slides via cytospin, stained with Hema 3 (Thermo Fisher), and quantified. The right upper lung lobe was homogenized in 1 ml PBS and plated on tryptic soy agar

for determination of bacterial burden. The remaining right lung was frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C for gene expression analysis. The left lobe was perfused with 10% formalin and embedded in paraffin. Lung sections were stained with hematoxylin and eosin and inflammatory features were evaluated via microscopy after sample blinding. Lung homogenate cytokines were assessed using the Bio-Plex Pro Mouse Cytokine 23-plex Assay (Bio-Rad).

## 4.3.4 Macrophage experiments.

For experiments,  $7x10^5$  RAW264.7 cells were plated in 6-well plates, infected at an MOI 10, and spun at 250 xg for 5 minutes at 4° C to synchronize infection. Cells were infected for 1 hour in the absence of antibiotics, media was replaced with antibiotic- and serum-free media with and without gentamicin (100 ug/ml) for 1 hour, then replaced with antibiotic-free media for an additional hour. At collection, cells were lysed with 1% Triton X-100 at room temperature for 10 minutes and 50 µl was collected for CFU determination. Phagocytosis was calculated by the equation ((CFU+gentamicin)/(CFU-gentamicin))\*100. RLT (Qiagen) was added to the wells and collected and ran through a Qiashredder and frozen at -80°C until RNA extraction.

#### 4.3.5 RNA extraction and qPCR.

RNA was extracted from mouse lungs using the Absolutely Total RNA Purification Kit (Agilent). RNA extraction from cell culture experiments were performed using the Qiagen RNeasy kit (Qiagen). RNA was quantified and converted to cDNA using iScript<sup>™</sup> cDNA Synthesis Kit (Bio-Rad). Quantitative PCR was performed using SsoAdvanced Universal Probes Supermix

(Bio-Rad) and TaqMan primer-probe sets (ThermoFisher Scientific) listed in Table 5 on the CFX96 Touch Real-Time PCR Detection System (Bio-Rad). Gene expression was calculated using the  $\Delta\Delta$ ct method using *hprt* as a housekeeping gene and normalized to the average WT *S. aureus* values unless otherwise stated.

# 4.3.6 Statistical Analysis.

Data were analyzed using Prism 8 (GraphPad). Analyses comparing two groups were performed using an unpaired t test. For mortality studies, log-ranked Mantel Cox test was used. All figures show combined data from multiple replicate studies and are graphed as mean  $\pm$  standard error of the mean (SEM). N values are numbers of animals per independent experiment. Statistical significance (p  $\leq$  0.05) is indicated in figure legends, with p values between 0.05 and 0.15 displayed numerically.

# 4.4 Results

To determine if Sbi is playing a role during staphylococcal pneumonia, mice were infected with wildtype (WT) MRSA or MRSA lacking Sbi (*sbi::Tn*). Infection with *sbi::Tn* led to reduced bacterial burden in the lung (Figure 13 A). Despite the reduction in bacterial burden in the lung, the total immune infiltrate was not different in mice infected with the mutant or WT MRSA (Figure 13 B). However, the ratio of neutrophils:macrophages trended lower in the mutant infected mice, suggesting that there may be immune changes occurring. Indeed, there were decreases in

expression of *il-17a*, an important cytokine in staphylococcal clearance, as well as an IL-17regulated antimicrobial peptide lipocalin 2 (*lcn2*) (Figure 13 C). Additionally, a mucin involved in bacterial clearance in the lung, mucin 5b (*muc5b*) had a trend towards increased expression. There were also decreases in inflammatory cytokines IL-1 $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  as well as chemoattractants MCP-1 (CCL2) and MIP-1 $\alpha$  (CCL3) (Figure 13 D).



Figure 13: Sbi Induces Inflammatory Changes in the Lung.

A-D. Mice were infected with  $1 \times 10^8$  CFU WT MRSA or MRSA lacking Sbi (*sbi::Tn*) for 24 hours. A. Bacterial burden in mice infected with MRSA for 24 hours. B. Immune infiltrate and ratio of neutrophils:macrophages in the bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL). C. Cytokine protein levels in the lung homogenate. D. Gene expression levels in the lung. Statistics done by unpaired T test, \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01. N=2, combination of two experiments, data graphed as mean  $\pm$  SEM.

At 6 hours post infection, there was no difference in bacterial burden in mice infected with either WT or *sbi::Tn* MRSA (Figure 14 A). However, there was a significant decrease in the

immune infiltrate in the lung, due to reduced numbers of neutrophils (Figure 14 B). At this time point, transcripts for *il-10* and murine cathelicidin antimicrobial peptide *(camp)* trended towards decrease (Figure 14 C). There was also a decrease in G-CSF and MIP-1β (CCL4) (Figure 14 D).



#### Figure 14: Sbi Induces Changes at 6 hours post Infection

A-D. Mice were infected with 1x108 CFU WT MRSA or MRSA lacking Sbi (sbi::Tn) for 6 hours. A. Bacterial burden in mice infected with MRSA for 6 hours. B. Immune infiltrate and total neutrophil number in the bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL). C. Gene expression levels in the lung. D. Cytokine protein levels in the lung homogenate. Statistics done by unpaired T test, \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001. N=2, combination of two experiments, data graphed as mean  $\pm$  SEM.

Due to the differences seen in neutrophil recruitment, which is coordinated by alveolar macrophages<sup>579</sup>, and that Sbi is known to induce inflammation in macrophages<sup>149</sup>, we decided to
look at infection of RAW264.7 macrophages infected with either WT or *sbi::Tn* MRSA. Macrophages infected with *sbi:Tn* had significantly reduced bacterial burden compared to macrophages infected with WT MRSA (Figure 15 A). This may be due to increased rates of phagocytosis and reduced survival of the mutant (Figure 15 B). Infection with *sbi::Tn* led to an increase in *il-23a* transcript, an important cytokine in the induction of the Th17 response (Figure 15 C). This may explain the increase in *il-17a* transcript seen at 6 hours post infection in the lung (Figure 26 A). There was also a trend towards increased arginase 1 (*arg1*) expression, a marker of M2 macrophages (Figure 15 C). This suggests that Sbi is contributing to inflammation caused by macrophages.

Due to the changes seen during *in vivo* and *in vitro* infection with *sbi::Tn* compared to WT MRSA, we created a transduced mutant, sbi A100.2, to eliminate the potential for mutations in the transposon mutant. Mice infected with sbi A100.2 had no difference in bacterial burden compared to mice infected with WT MRSA (Figure 16 A). However, there was a significant increase in the immune infiltrate in the lung, leading to an almost significant increase in the neutrophil:macrophage ratio, likely due to the trend towards increased neutrophils in the lung (Figure 16 B). Infection with sbi A100.2 also led to trending decreases in cytokines IL-10, IL4 and IL-12p70 (Figure 16 C). Additionally, we saw a significant reduction in mortality in mice infected with sbi A100.2 compared to WT MRSA (Figure 16 D), likely due to changes in inflammation in the lung. While there were statistically significant differences in growth *in vitro* (Figure 26 B and C), these changes are functionally small and likely do not influence the inflammatory changes seen.



Figure 15: Sbi Induces Inflammatory Changes in RAW264.7 Macrophages

A-C. RAW264.7 macrophages infected with WT or sbi::Tn MRSA for 3 hours at an MOI of 10. Macrophages were infected for one hour in the absence of antibiotics, media was then replaced with antibiotic- and serum-free media with or without gentamicin for 1 hour, and changed to antibiotic free media. CFU and transcript graphs show without gentamicin conditions. A. Bacterial burden RAW264.7 macrophages. B. % Phagocytosed bacteria and % Survival in RAW264.7 cells. % Phagocytosed is calculated by the following equation: ((average CFU with gentamicin)/(average CFU without gentamicin))\*100. And % Survival is calculated as (Final CFU/inoculum CFU)\*100. C. Gene expression in RAW264.7 macrophages infected with WT or sbi::Tn MRSA for 3 hours. Statistics done by unpaired T test, \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001. N=2, combination of two experiments, data graphed as mean ± SEM.



Figure 16: Mice Infected with sbi A100.2 have Decreased Inflammation

A-C. Mice were infected with 1x108 CFU WT MRSA or MRSA lacking Sbi (sbi A100.2) for 24 hours. A. Bacterial burden in mice infected with MRSA for 24 hours. B. Immune infiltrate, ratio of neutrophils:macrophages, and total neutrophil number in the bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL). C. Cytokine protein levels in the lung homogenate. D. Mice were infected with a lethal dose (2x108 CFU) of WT or MRSA lacking Sbi (sbi A100.2). Statistics done by unpaired test (A-C) or log-ranked Mantel Cox test (D), \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01. N=3-4, combination of two experiments (A,B,D) or one experiment (C), data graphed as mean ± SEM.

Macrophages infected with sbi A100.2 had a trend towards decreased bacterial burden (Figure 17 A). Unlike the *sbi::Tn* mutant, there does not appear to be a difference in phagocytosis between the bacterial strains, and survival mimics the difference in bacterial burden (Figure 17 B). Interestingly, we saw a significant reduction in *il-1* $\beta$  transcript in macrophages infected with sbi A100.2 but see no differences in *il-6* or *tnfa* (Figure 17 C).



Figure 17: RAW264.7 Infection with sbi A100.2 Induces Some Changes in Inflammation

A-C. RAW264.7 macrophages infected with WT or sbi A100.2 MRSA for 3 hours at an MOI of 10. Macrophages were infected for one hour in the absence of antibiotics, media was then replaced with antibiotic- and serum-free media with or without gentamicin for 1 hour, and changed to antibiotic free media. CFU and transcript graphs show without gentamicin conditions. A. Bacterial burden RAW264.7 macrophages. B. % Phagocytosed bacteria and % Survival in RAW264.7 cells. % Phagocytosed is calculated by the following equation: ((average CFU with gentamicin)/(average CFU without gentamicin))\*100. % Survival is calculated as (Final CFU/inoculum CFU)\*100. C. Gene expression in RAW264.7 macrophages infected with WT or sbi A100.2 for 3 hours. Statistics done by unpaired T test, \*\*\*p<0.001. N=3-4, combination of two experiments, data graphed as mean ± SEM.

Since Sbi can prevent opsonization by binding the Fc regions of IgG, we wanted to rule out that this was mediating the phenotype seen. We performed a mortality study using WT B6 mice as well as  $\mu$ MT mice that lack B cells. Regardless of mouse phenotype, sbi A100.2 causes significantly less death in mice (Figure 18). This suggests that antibody binding is not mediating this effect *in vivo*.



Figure 18: Mortality Difference in sbi A100.2 is Not Dependent on the Presence of Antibodies

Wildtype (B6) or mice without B cells (uMT) were infected with a lethal dose ( $2x10^8$  CFU) of WT or MRSA lacking Sbi (sbi A100.2). Statistics done log-ranked Mantel Cox test, \* p<0.05, N=4, combination of four experiments, data graphed as mean ± SEM.

# 4.5 Discussion

Our data suggests that Sbi is playing a role in the induction of inflammation in the lung. While there is not a difference in bacterial burden in mice infected with WT or sbi A100.2 MRSA at 24 hours post infection, there are other inflammatory changes seen. Inflammatory differences observed are likely associated with an increase in survival in these mice. This mortality difference is not dependent on antibodies, suggesting that the mechanism for this increase in survival is likely due to Sbi's role in complement evasion and/or mediating inflammatory signaling in the lung.

While we do see inflammatory changes, there is no clear answer to what is mediating these changes. Some of this is due to limited data; many endpoints such as cytokine levels and gene

expression have not been fully tested in these studies. For example, no assays were performed to determine if IFN $\beta$  levels change in the lung. Additionally, some experiments were only performed once and may not have sufficient statistical power to make any conclusions. In the future, it will be important to complete examination of these endpoints to determine what pathways may be affected. Additionally, there are some large differences between the *sbi::Tn* and sbi A100.2 strains (i.e., bacterial burden, immune infiltrate, cytokine differences), suggesting that there may be additional mutation(s) in the transposon mutant. To avoid this possibility, all future work should be focused on the sbi A100.2 mutant.

Other than having similar mortality data in sbi A100.2 and CCL2 (MCP-1) induction in sbi::Tn, the phenotype seen with Sbi mutants does not mimic what has been seen with SpA in the  $lung^{232, 234}$ . We see the opposite trend on neutrophil recruitment and do not see changes in IL-6 or TNF $\alpha$  as reported for SpA<sup>232, 234, 236</sup>. This could be due to SpA masking the effect of Sbi in the lung. To rule out this possibility, future studies should include a *spa*-null strain and/or create a new MRSA strain lacking both SpA and Sbi. Additionally, a complemented Sbi strains should also be made.

Another explanation for the differences seen could be due to Sbi's role in complement evasion, which SpA plays no known role in. Complement activation is known to recruit neutrophils<sup>580, 581</sup> and lacking a complement evasion protein may lead to higher levels of C3a- and C5a-mediated chemotaxis. However, in the *sbi::Tn* mutant, we see fewer neutrophils in the lung at 6 hours post-infection, but this has not been tested in the sbi A100.2 mutant and cannot be ruled out. Additionally, early complement activation could lead to better controlled overall inflammatory

responses in the lung. Inflammation in the lung is a double-edged sword; inflammation is needed to mediate bacterial clearance, but too much inflammation can lead to lung damage and decreased lung function, which can lead to death. Indeed, we saw lower levels of inflammatory cytokines and reduced mortality in mice infected with sbi A100.2 but no difference in burden. In the future, it will be important to look at the complement system in mice infected with sbi A100.2 to determine if this could explain the differences seen.

In our macrophage infections, *sbi::Tn* and sbi A100.2 have similar trends in terms of bacterial burden, however, the inflammatory changes seen are different. This suggests that Sbi may be playing a role in terms of bacterial survival when interacting with macrophages, but this requires further testing. Heat-inactivated serum or serum free media was used in these experiments, so complement would not be playing a role. Sbi has been shown to play a role in inducing inflammation in macrophages also through TNFR1 and EGFR<sup>149</sup>. Recombinant Sbi led to increases in IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF $\alpha$ , and IL-6 protein, and we do see a significant decrease in *il-1\beta* transcript in RAW264.7 cells infected with sbi A100.2. We also see a trend towards decreased *tnfa*, but this is far from significance. This could be explained by differences seen between peritoneal macrophages and RAW264.7 cells, differences in bacterial strains (Newman versus JE2), or differences in bacterial-macrophage cultures. In the future, it will be important to perform infections with BMDMs or *ex vivo* macrophages as well as inhibit TNFR1 and EGFR signaling to determine if this mechanism is mediating the inflammation.

#### 5.0 Characterization of a Novel CWA, SasD

## 5.1 Summary

Staphylococcus aureus cell wall-anchored proteins (CWAs) are involved in many aspects of infection such as adhesion, immune evasion, biofilm formation, and nutrient acquisition. Despite their important role in colonization and infection, not all CWAs have been characterized. One such CWA is *S. aureus* surface protein D (SasD). In a screen of CWA mutants in the context of bacterial pneumonia and influenza super-infection, we found that the uncharacterized SasD induced changes in both inflammatory and homeostatic lung markers. Here, we further characterized a SasD mutant (sasD A50.1) in the context of pneumonia. Mice infected with sasD A50.1 have decreased bacterial burden, inflammatory responses, and mortality compared to wildtype *S. aureus*. Mice also have reduced levels of IL-1 $\beta$ , likely derived from macrophages. Reductions in IL-1 $\beta$  transcript levels as well as increased macrophage viability point at differences in cell death pathways. These data identify a novel virulence factor for *S. aureus* that influences inflammatory signaling within the lung.

### **5.2 Introduction**

*Staphylococcus aureus* is a common pathogen that has evolved both as a commensal flora as well as a major cause of invasive infections. Infection with *S. aureus* can range from mild skin infections to severe pneumonia, sepsis, and death<sup>9, 314</sup>. As a successful pathogen, *S. aureus* 

expresses several mechanisms to establish infection and evade the host immune system such as resistance to phagosomal bactericidal mechanisms, pore forming toxins, complement evasion proteins, and super-antigens<sup>2, 9</sup>. Furthermore, methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* (MRSA) antibiotic resistance and additional virulence determinants can lead to more difficulty in clinical treatment<sup>15</sup>.

One family of proteins implicated in establishing colonization and infection are the cell wallanchored proteins (CWAs). CWAs are covalently attached to the peptidoglycan cell wall by the enzyme Sortase A, which recognizes the c-terminal cell-wall sorting signal LPXTG<sup>25</sup>. CWAs facilitate binding to host extracellular matrix and plasma proteins, evasion of several host defense mechanisms, invasion of endothelial and epithelial cells, biofilm formation, and iron acquisition from hemoglobin<sup>22, 33</sup>. Many of these family members contain common domain structures that facilitate ligand binding or project ligand binding regions away from the cell wall. However, there are some CWAs that do not have sequence or predicted structure similarities and their function is unknown<sup>159</sup>. One of these proteins is *S. aureus* surface protein D (SasD). While this protein was discovered in 2003, little work has been done to characterize this protein<sup>156, 165, 166</sup>.

In a screen of CWAs in the context of staphylococcal pneumonia and *S. aureus* influenza super-infections (see 3.0 above), we discovered that mice infected with MRSA lacking SasD (*sasD::Tn*) had lower inflammation than mice infected with wildtype MRSA. Thus, we decided to characterize a transduced version of this mutant, sasD A50.1, in the context of MRSA pneumonia.

Data presented here are found in "Novel Requirements for Staphylococcal Cell Wall-Anchored Protein SasD in Pulmonary Infection" by Jennifer A. Grousd, Abigail M. Riesmeyer, Vaughn S. Cooper, Jennifer M. Bomberger, Anthony R. Richardson, and John F. Alcorn. Currently found on BioRxiv (<u>https://www.biorxiv.org/content/10.1101/2022.04.01.486802v1</u>).

# 5.3 Materials and Methods

# 5.3.1 Mice.

Six- to eight-week-old male and female WT C57BL/6NTac mice were purchased from Taconic Farms. Mice were maintained under pathogen-free conditions within the animal facilities at the UPMC Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh. All studies were performed on sex- and agematched mice. Animal studies were conducted with approval from the University of Pittsburgh Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee.

# 5.3.2 S. aureus strains.

USA300 MRSA strain JE2<sup>565</sup> was the WT strain for all studies. Strain sasD A50.1 was generated via phage 11 transduction of *sasD::Tn* lysate into the wildtype JE2 strain, selected with 5  $\mu$ g/ml erythromycin and confirmed by PCR (Table 4). *S. aureus* strains were grown in Tryptic Soy Broth (BD Bacto<sup>TM</sup>) overnight at 37° C at 250 rpm. Overnight cultures were diluted 1:100 and grown until OD<sub>660</sub>~1, approximating logarithmic growth phase. MRSA dose was calculated using OD<sub>660</sub> measurement of the culture and application of a calculated extinction coefficient. For growth curves, overnight cultures were diluted 1:200 in a 96-well plate in sexaplicate. Plates were

grown at 37°C at 282 rpm in a Synergy H1 Hybrid Multi-Mode Reader (BioTek). Optical density measurements at 660 nm were taken every 30 minutes. Growth rate ( $\mu$ ) was calculated from at least two independent experiments using the equation  $A_t=A_{t-1}*e^{\mu t}$ . The  $\mu_{max}$  was calculated as the average of the three highest  $\mu$  rates.

# 5.3.3 Murine Models.

Mice were inoculated with  $1 \times 10^8$  colony forming units (CFU) of MRSA in 50 µl of sterile PBS. All infections were performed via oropharyngeal aspiration. Mice were harvested 6 or 24 hours after MRSA challenge using pentobarbital injection (300 mg/kg) and cervical dislocation. In mortality studies, a dose of  $2x10^8$  CFU was used. During harvest, the lung was lavaged with 1 ml sterile PBS. BAL cells were pelleted and red blood cells were lysed (ACK lysis buffer, Gibco). Cells were resuspended, placed on slides via cytospin, stained with Hema 3 (Thermo Fisher), and quantified. The right upper lung lobe was homogenized in 1 ml PBS and plated on tryptic soy agar for determination of bacterial burden. The remaining right lung was frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C for gene expression analysis. The left lobe was perfused with 10% formalin and embedded in paraffin. Lung sections were stained with hematoxylin and eosin and inflammatory features were evaluated via microscopy after sample blinding. Lung homogenate cytokines were assessed using the Bio-Plex Pro Mouse Cytokine 23-plex Assay (Bio-Rad). For competitive index studies, mice were inoculated with a 1:1 ratio of JE2 and sasD A50.1 strains at a total of  $1 \times 10^8$ CFU. Whole lungs were homogenized in 2 ml of sterile PBS and plated on tryptic soy agar with and without erythromycin (5 µg/ml). Competitive index was calculated as the ratio of sasD A50.1:JE2 CFU at sacrifice divided by the ratio at the time of inoculation.

## 5.3.4 Macrophage experiments.

RAW264.7 cells were used and BMDMs were isolated as previously described<sup>582</sup>. For experiments, 7x10<sup>5</sup> cells were plated in 6-well plates, infected at an MOI 10 (RAW264.7) or 50 (BMDMs) and spun at 250 xg for 5 minutes at 4° C to synchronize infection. For RAW264.7 experiments, cells were infected for 1 hour in the absence of antibiotics, media was replaced with antibiotic- and serum-free media with and without gentamicin (100 ug/ml) for 1 hour, then replaced with antibiotic-free media for an additional hour. At collection, cells were lysed with 1% Triton X-100 at room temperature for 10 minutes and 50 µl was collected for CFU determination. Phagocytosis was calculated by the equation ((CFU+gentamicin)/(CFU-gentamicin))\*100. RLT (Qiagen) was added to the wells and collected and ran through a Qiashredder and frozen at -80°C until RNA extraction. For BMDM experiments, cells were rested overnight, treated with 10 ng/ml IFNy (R&D Systems) for 24 hours. BMDMs were infected for 3 hours, washed, and resuspended in antibiotic free RPMI media. BMDM viability was determined by trypan blue (Gibco) staining and the Countess 3 automatic cell counter (Invitrogen). BMDMs wells were combined and incubated in RIPA buffer (25mM Tris, 150 mM NaCl, 1% NP-40, 0.1% SDS, 5 mM EDTA, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate) for 30 minutes at 4°C with agitation, centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 10 minutes at 4°C, and frozen at -80°C until Western Blot. Primary antibodies were rabbit anti-IL-1β (Abcam 254360), rabbit anti-caspase 1 (Abcam 138483), rabbit anti-caspase p20 (Invitrogen PA5-99390), and mouse anti-β-actin (Cell Signaling 8H10D10). Samples were thawed, proteins were quantified using BCA protein assay (Pierce), boiled in Laemmli buffer (Bio-Rad), and loaded on a 4-20% gel (Bio-Rad). Proteins were transferred to a PVDF membrane using the Trans-Blot Turbo transfer system (Bio-Rad). Blots were probed with primary antibodies and donkey anti-mouse or goat anti-rabbit secondary antibodies conjugated to IRDye® 800CW or 680RD fluorophores (LI-COR). Blots were imaged using the Odyssey CLx and analyzed using Image Studio (LI-COR). Relative protein expression is normalized to beta-actin levels in each sample.

#### 5.3.5 RNA extraction and qPCR.

RNA was extracted from mouse lungs using the Absolutely Total RNA Purification Kit (Agilent). RNA extraction from cell culture experiments were performed using the Qiagen RNeasy kit (Qiagen). RNA was quantified and converted to cDNA using iScript<sup>TM</sup> cDNA Synthesis Kit (Bio-Rad). Quantitative PCR was performed using SsoAdvanced Universal Probes Supermix (Bio-Rad) and TaqMan primer-probe sets (ThermoFisher Scientific) listed in Table 5 on the CFX96 Touch Real-Time PCR Detection System (Bio-Rad). Gene expression was calculated using the  $\Delta\Delta$ ct method using *hprt* as a housekeeping gene and normalized to the average WT *S. aureus* values unless otherwise stated.

# 5.3.6 Statistical Analysis.

Data were analyzed using Prism 8 (GraphPad). Analyses comparing two groups were performed using Mann-Whitney test or an unpaired t test. For analyses assessing more than two groups, Kruskal-Wallis with Dunn's multiple comparisons correction was used. Analyses comparing two variables were tested via Two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Sidak's multiple comparisons correction. Mortality data were analyzed by a log rank (Mantel-Cox) test. All figures show combined data from multiple replicate studies and are graphed as mean ± standard error of the mean (SEM). N values are numbers of animals per independent experiment. Statistical

significance ( $p \le 0.05$ ) is indicated in figure legends, with p values between 0.05 and 0.1 displayed numerically.

# 5.4 Results

We identified that the mutant lacking SasD (S. aureus surface protein D; sasD::Tn) induced reduced levels of cytokines G-CSF, CXCL1, MCP-1, and IL-1ß compared to the WT strain during bacterial pneumonia (Figure 27 A). Additionally, we also saw increased levels of epithelial and lung homeostasis marker gene expression including tight junction protein 1 (tjp1) and mucin 5b (*muc5b*) (Figure 27 B). This suggested to us that this mutant may be causing less inflammation in the lung leading to improved epithelial and lung function. There is very little known about SasD and to our knowledge, there has been no in vivo characterization of this CWA. Therefore, we decided to characterize this mutant in the context of bacterial pneumonia. To eliminate the potential for unknown mutations in the transposon mutant, we transduced the mutant into the JE2 strain, creating the strain sasD A50.1. This strain had no difference in *in vitro* growth compared to the WT strain (Figure 28 A and B). At 24 hours post infection, mice infected with sasD A50.1 had reduced bacterial burden and immune infiltrate in the BAL (Figure 19 A and B). Infection with sasD A50.1 led to a decrease and increase in percentage of neutrophils and eosinophils, respectively. While there were no changes in genes related to neutrophil function (Figure 28 C), we did see a 50% reduction in the neutrophil:eosinophil ratio in the lung (Figure 19 C and D). The change in bacterial burden and immune cell infiltrate did not lead to differences in acute lung injury by BAL protein (Figure 19 E) or histological score (Figure 28 D-E). However, we did see significant changes to transcripts related to lung homeostasis (Figure 28 F). Additionally, we saw

a significant delay in mortality in mice infected with sasD A50.1 compared to WT *S. aureus* (Figure 19 F). The changes seen 24 hours post infection in mice infected with sasD A50.1 may be because of a decrease in survival of the mutant in the lung, as this mutant had a reduced competitive index when mice were infected with a 1:1 ratio of mutant:WT bacteria (Figure 19 G).

To evaluate the inflammatory state within the lung, we looked at cytokine expression in the lung 24 hours post infection. Similar to the original screen, we saw decreases in protein levels of IL-17A, CXCL1, GM-CSF, and IL-1 $\beta$  in mice infected with sasD A50.1 (Figure 20 A). We also saw a decrease in transcript levels for *il-17a, cxcl1, and il-1* $\beta$  (Figure 20 B). Because we saw a decrease in IL-1 $\beta$  and *S. aureus* is known to induce the NLRP3 (NOD-, LRR- and pyrin domain-containing protein 3) inflammasome<sup>354</sup>, we also looked at inflammasome components. We saw a significant decrease in NLRP3 transcript, but not the general inflammasome adaptor ASC (apoptosis-associated speck-like protein containing C-terminal caspase recruitment domain [CARD]; *pycard*) (Figure 20 B). We did not see differences in alpha-toxin activity, the known inducer of the NLRP3 inflammasome<sup>354</sup>, via hemolysis of blood agar in either strain (data not shown).



Figure 19: SasD Impacts S. aureus Bacterial Pneumonia Outcomes

A-E. Mice were infected with  $1 \times 10^8$  CFU WT MRSA or MRSA lacking SasD (sasD A50.1) for 24 hours. A. Bacterial burden in mice infected with MRSA for 24 hours. B. Total cells in the bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL). C-D. Cell differentials (C) and neutrophil cell ratios (D) of BAL cells. E. Total protein in the BAL. F. Mice were infected with a lethal dose ( $2 \times 10^8$  CFU) of WT or MRSA lacking SasD (sasD A50.1). G. Competitive index of WT and mutant sasD A50.1 MRSA in the lung. Mice were infected with a 1:1 ratio of WT:sasD A50.1 for a total dose of  $1 \times 10^8$  CFU for 24 hours. Whole lungs were collected in 2 ml PBS and homogenized and plated for CFU with and without antibiotic selection. Competitive index is calculated as the ratio of Mutant CFU:WT CFU at 24 hpi. Statistics tested by student Mann-Whitney (A,B, D, G), Two-way ANOVA with Sidak's multiple comparisons (C), log-ranked Mantel Cox test (F), one sample T-test with H<sub>0</sub> set to 1 (1:1 ratio of mutant:WT) (G). \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01,\*\*\*\* p<0.0001. N=4-8, combination of several experiments, data graphed as mean ± SEM



Figure 20: SasD Increases Inflammation in Mice Infected with MRSA

Mice were infected with  $1x10^8$  CFU WT MRSA or MRSA lacking SasD (sasD A50.1) for 24 hours. A. Cytokine protein levels in lung homogenate. B. Gene expression levels of cytokines and inflammasome components relative to average WT levels in the lung. Statistics done by Mann-Whitney test, \* p<0.05, \*\*\* p<0.001. N=4, combination of several experiments, data graphed as mean ± SEM.

Mice infected with sasD A50.1 for 6 hours also had a reduction in bacterial burden compared with WT (Figure 21 A). While the total number of immune cells recruited into the airway was not different between WT and sasD A50.1 infected animals (Figure 21 B), we did see significant decreases in the percentages and total numbers of macrophages in the BAL (Figure 21 C-D). This increase in the neutrophil:macrophage ratio in the lung during this early timepoint (Figure 21 E) may be associated with less neutrophil recruitment later during infection. Unlike 24 hours post infection, we did see a significant difference in acute lung injury via protein in the BAL (Figure

21 F) and there was a significant difference in peribronchial inflammation via histology (Figure 29 A-B). However, we did not see changes in lung homeostasis transcripts (Figure 29 C). We also saw a survival defect of this mutant early on in infection via competitive index (Figure 21 G), which does not appear to be due to differences in early recruited neutrophil function (Figure 29 D).

The inflammatory response to sasD A50.1 at 6 hours post infection was very similar to 24 hours post infection (Figure 22). Again, we saw reductions in IL-17A, and IL-1 $\beta$  with the addition of a decrease in G-CSF and IL-6 (Figure 22 A). By transcript levels, we saw reductions in both *il-17a and il-23a* (Figure 22 B), suggesting that the antibacterial immunity response is not as robust to sasD A50.1 compared to the WT at this time point, potentially due to the difference in survival between the two strains (Figure 21 G). We also saw a reduction in inflammasome components NLRP3 but not ASC (Figure 22 B).



Figure 21: SasD Impacts Initiation of Host Defense against MRSA in Bacterial Pneumonia

A-F. Mice were infected with  $1x10^8$  CFU WT MRSA or MRSA lacking SasD (sasD A50.1) for 6 hours. A. Bacterial burden in mice infected with MRSA for 6 hours. B. Total cells in the bronchoalveolar lavage. C-D. Percentage (C) and total number (D) of macrophages in the BAL. E. Neutrophil cell ratios in the BAL. F. Total protein in the BAL. G. Competitive index of WT and mutant sasD MRSA in the lung. Male and female mice were infected with a 1:1 ratio of WT:sasD A50.1 for a total dose of  $1x10^8$  CFU for 6 hours. Whole lungs were collected in 2 ml PBS and homogenized and plated for CFU with and without antibiotic selection. Competitive index is calculated as the ratio of Mutant CFU:WT CFU at 6 hpi. Statistics tested by student Mann-Whitney (A, C, D, F, G), Two-way ANOVA with Sidak's multiple comparisons (E), one sample T-test with H<sub>0</sub> set to 1 (1:1 ratio of mutant:WT) (G). \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001, \*\*\*\* p<0.0001. N=8, combination of several experiments, data graphed as mean ± SEM.



Figure 22: SasD is Required for Early Inflammation During Infection with MRSA

Mice were infected with 1x10<sup>8</sup> CFU WT MRSA or MRSA lacking SasD (sasD A50.1) for 6 hours. A. Cytokine protein levels in lung homogenate. B. Gene expression levels of cytokines and inflammasome components relative to average WT levels. Statistics done by student Mann-Whitney, \* p<0.05,\*\*p<0.01, \*\*\* p<0.001. N=8, combination of several experiments, data graphed as mean ± SEM.

Because of the differences seen in macrophages early on during infection, we looked at early macrophage interactions with sasD A50.1. Using the macrophage cell line RAW264.7, we saw a significant reduction in transcript expression of IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF $\alpha$  despite no difference in bacterial burden or amount of phagocytosed bacteria (Figure 23 A and B). In bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMDMs), infection with sasD A50.1 led to an increase in % viability compared to WT infected BMDMs at 3 hours post infection (Figure 23 C). At this timepoint we did not see any differences in pro-IL-1 $\beta$  or caspase 1 activity (Figure 23 D and E). However, we do see similar changes in BMDMs via qPCR compared to RAW264.7 cells (Figure 23 F).





A-B. RAW264.7 macrophages infected with WT or sasD A50.1 MRSA for 3 hours at an MOI of 10. Macrophages were infected for one hour in the absence of antibiotics, media was then replaced with antibiotic- and serum-free media with or without gentamicin for 1 hour, and changed to antibiotic free media. CFU and transcript graphs show without gentamicin conditions. A. Bacterial burden and % phagocytosed bacteria in RAW264.7 macrophages. % Phagocytosed bacteria is calculated by the following equation: ((average CFU with gentamicin)/(average CFU without gentamicin))\*100. B. Gene expression in RAW264.7 macrophages infected with WT or sasD A50.1 MRSA for 3 hours. C-F. Bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMDMs) were infected with WT or sasD A50.1 MRSA for 3 hours at an MOI of 50 in the absence of antibiotics. C. Viability measured by trypan blue staining of BMDMs 3 hours post infection. D-E. Representative images (D) and quantification of western blot analyses (E) of BMDM levels of IL-1 $\beta$  and caspase 1. One to three wells were combined per sample and protein levels are normalized to beta actin in each sample. Arrows denote which band was used for quantification. F. Gene expression in BMDM macrophages infected with WT or sasD A50.1 MRSA for 3 hours. Statistics tested by Mann-Whitney, \* p<0.05, \*\*\* p<0.001. N=4-7, combination of several experiments, data graphed as mean ± SEM.

### 5.5 Discussion

During our screen (see 3.0 above) we found that the *sasD::Tn* mutant had decreased levels of myeloid cytokines and increased gene expression of lung homeostatic markers in bacterial pneumonia. We found similar findings with a transduced mutant. Most striking was the delay in mortality in mice infected with sasD A50.1, which may be explained by the decrease in bacterial survival seen with sasD A50.1 infection compared to the WT strain. What could be causing this decrease in bacterial survival is unknown, as this protein is uncharacterized. While it is known that SasD has a punctate surface expression versus a ring-like distribution of most CWAs<sup>156, 165</sup>, it is unclear if this is contributing to the differences seen in our model. This decrease in bacterial survival of sasD A50.1 could explain the inflammatory differences seen early and late during bacterial pneumonia.

At 6 hours post infection, there is a significant reduction in the macrophages in the lung, as well as IL-1 $\beta$ . It is known that macrophage derived IL-1 $\beta$  can induce excessive inflammation and pathology in the lung<sup>583, 584</sup>. The reduction in IL-1 $\beta$  could be explained by the decrease in macrophages early during infection. This decrease in inflammation continued at 24 hours post infection, where there was a reduction in the levels of neutrophils, which can cause excessive damage themselves<sup>585</sup>. While we did not see functional changes in neutrophils via qPCR, we did see a decrease in the neutrophil:eosinophil ratio within the lung at 24 hours post infection with sasD A50.1. Eosinophils have been implicated in antibacterial immunity<sup>586</sup>, and the increase ratio of eosinophils could help control the bacterial burden in the lung. It has been shown that IL-33 induction of type 2 responses is protective in lethal models of *S. aureus* sepsis and pneumonia by counterbalancing pro-inflammatory responses<sup>587, 588</sup>. While we did not see any differences in IL-

33 (data not shown) or gross pathology at 24 hours post infection, we did see a reduction in type 17 cytokines and neutrophils, which has been shown to be protective in patients with *S. aureus* infection<sup>588, 589</sup>. Thus, the reduction in inflammation or alteration of inflammatory cell ratios could help explain the delayed mortality seen in mice.

Since we saw a change in IL-1 $\beta$  production both early and late during infection, we decided to examine the inflammasome. S. aureus is known to prime and activate the NLRP3 inflammasome via pore-forming toxins, such as the alpha-toxin<sup>354</sup>. The NLRP3 inflammasome activates caspase 1, which cleaves pro-IL-1 $\beta^{272}$ . We did see a significant downregulation of *il-1\beta* and *nlrp3* transcripts but not the more common ASC (pycard) component, suggesting that potentially the priming step of the NLRP3 inflammasome expression may be reduced. Priming of the NLRP3 inflammasome is thought to be due to sensing of S. aureus lipoproteins and toll-like receptor (TLR) 2 and 4 signaling<sup>354, 590</sup>. While we did not see changes in expression in TLR-2 or -4 in macrophages (data not shown), we cannot rule out the possibility that SasD may be involved in the sensing of S. aureus. When infected with sasD A50.1, RAW264.7 cells had a reduction in *il-1* $\beta$  and *tnfa* without a significant change in bacterial burden or bacterial phagocytosis. In BMDMs, we saw a similar trend in gene expression as well as an increase in viability when infected with sasD A50.1 compared to WT S. aureus. While we did not see any differences in pro-IL-1 $\beta$  or caspase 1 activity at 3 hours post infection, there may be other cell death pathways involved such as necroptosis. Blocking necroptosis has been shown to reduce bacterial burden and damage during S. aureus pneumonia<sup>356</sup>, similar to the sasD A50.1 in vivo phenotype, and can feed into NLRP3 inflammasome and pyroptosis induction<sup>360</sup>. Thus, the decrease in IL-1 $\beta$  could be due to changes in cell death pathways that funnel into the NLRP3 inflammasome in macrophages.

In conclusion, we identified a critical role for SasD in bacterial pneumonia associated with increased bacterial burden, inflammation, and mortality. SasD may contribute to survival of *S. aureus* in the lung as there is decreased bacterial survival in the mutant at both 6 and 24 hours post infection. SasD promotes induction of early IL-1 $\beta$  production in macrophages, which consequentially recruits neutrophils into the lung at later timepoints, leading to increased inflammation. These data suggest that early targeting of SasD in the lung may reduce future inflammation signaling during staphylococcal pneumonia.

# **6.0 Conclusions and Future Directions**

Determining in vivo virulence factors for bacterial infections can be difficult due to the inherent complexity of host-pathogen interactions and individual physiologies. The process of infection is multifactorial even when only the bacterium or host is considered. However, to fully understand infectious processes it is important to look at both the host and pathogen, as many of these responses have likely coevolved over evolutionary time due to the ever-continuing arms race between pathogens and their hosts. In the bacterium, there is a balance between evading immune responses and adapting to the host environment while the host immune system balances pathogen clearance with host inflammation and damage. Thus, understanding host-pathogen interactions together may illuminate aspects of infection otherwise unnoticed. Influenza bacterial superinfections are even more complex as it involves more than one type of pathogen in the host. Due to this, many of the studies looking at super-infection susceptibility have been focused on the immune system, which can be studied and manipulated in mouse models quite well. However, just as the immune system is not rigid, bacteria also can have varying responses to environmental stimuli. Thus, understanding how bacteria adapt to host environments can be an important step in elucidating mechanisms within the host.

One of the main techniques available to understand bacterial adaptations to host environments is Tn-seq. By looking at the genetic requirements needed to establish infection in a particular host environment, there can be understanding of the stressors bacteria face and how they adapt to their new environment. Additionally, understanding adaptations to the host environment can give information as to how the host is responding to the pathogen. For example, Tn-seq has been used to find genetic requirements for bacterial survival with phagocytes<sup>540, 541, 591, 592, 593</sup>, which confirms the importance of ROS/RNS and complement-mediated opsonophagocytosis by these immune cells. In the lung, there have been many metabolic pathways implicated in bacterial survival, which gives insight into how bacteria adapt to the lung environment. Additionally, it has given insight into how core metabolic pathways can lead to changes in factors already known for bacterial survival such as macrophage survival, complement evasion, and biofilm formation<sup>525, 536, 540, 542, 543, 544, 545</sup>. Tn-seq studies performed in the context of super-infection have found that core metabolic pathways are required in both contexts, with some differences based on more available nutrients as well as a dysregulated immune system in the lung<sup>526, 535</sup>. While Tn-seq has been performed with *S. aureus* in the context of Tn-seq is that it cannot identify all requirements in a particular environment due to its inability to detect secreted protein requirements, bacterial cheating and survival through other mutants, and limited detection of small open reading frames<sup>530, 534, 539, 594</sup>. Thus, it cannot be the only technique used to discover virulence factors.

To fully understand the role of bacteria during super-infection, understanding how bacteria behave in a previously uninfected lung is important. The addition of another factor, viral infection, is likely to impact both the host and bacteria response and complicate mechanism determination. As the Alcorn Laboratory primarily focuses on *S. aureus* influenza super-infections, elucidating mechanisms in *S. aureus* pneumonia is essential to understanding the full context of super-infection. Additionally, understanding *S. aureus* virulence in pneumonia is equally important on its own, as it can be a cause of necrotizing pneumonia<sup>302, 306</sup>.

Adherence is one of the first steps in establishing infection. Without the ability to bind to host components, or to neighboring bacteria for biofilm formation, bacteria have a higher chance of being cleared by the immune system. CWAs play a large role in staphylococcal adherence to host components as well as cell-cell adhesion in biofilms. Additionally, several of these proteins are implicated in nasal colonization and immune evasion<sup>22, 23, 518</sup>. As these proteins are located in the cell wall, they are exposed to the exterior environment, which increases the chance that these proteins are sensed by the immune system and/or *S. aureus* has developed mechanisms to shield these proteins from detection. Indeed, many of these proteins have been implicated in shielding *S. aureus* from host recognition by covering the bacteria in host factors as well as alter immunological signaling<sup>22, 23, 518</sup> (see Table 1). Thus, these proteins are a good place to start to elucidate the mechanisms of bacterial persistence in the lung.

In the context of bacterial pneumonia, *S. aureus* CWAs have varying degrees of influence on bacterial persistence (see 3.0 above). Many of the CWA mutants tested here had decreased survival in the lung compared to WT MRSA. This is not surprising as losing immune evasion or adhesion proteins will affect the ability of bacteria to survive in a stressful environment. Reduced survival in the lung likely leads to less severe activation of the immune response and consequently less immune mediated inflammation and damage within the lung. This may be a positive or negative consequence, depending on how much inflammation is actually required to clear the infection. Much of *S. aureus* clearance in the lung is mediated by neutrophils<sup>427</sup> and neutrophils can be beneficial or detrimental depending on the context. There needs to be enough recruitment and bactericidal activity to clear the infection, but excess recruitment and activity of neutrophils can lead to host damage. While immune mediated damage may not be life threatening in other organs,

in the lung, excess inflammation can lead to organ dysfunction and death due to its important role in respiration<sup>576</sup>. Additionally, *S. aureus* is known to form microaggregates in the lung to help facilitate damage mediated through the alpha-toxin<sup>343</sup>. This was attributed to PhnD, however, there may be a role for CWA(s), especially those known to form homophilic bonds between neighboring bacteria. Here, the focus was not on toxin-mediated damage, however in the future, it may be helpful to explore CWAs and the alpha-toxin together to determine if they play a role in that context.

In the context of influenza super-infection, the CWAs tested did not have a major role in controlling bacterial persistence, immune recruitment into the airways, or lung damage. This supports the paradigm that influenza and the immune response to influenza are the major drivers of susceptibility to super-infection<sup>482, 483, 484, 486</sup>. As most of the super-infecting bacteria are commensals of the upper respiratory tract, secondary bacterial infection may be a consequence of opportunity for the bacteria rather than any particular bacterial behavior changes to promote super-infection. There is support for *S. aureus* in this context, as super-infecting strains are more closely related to nasal colonization strains than those that cause pneumonia<sup>498</sup>. However, this does not rule out the possibility that there are non-CWA virulence factor(s) that play a major role in super-infection susceptibility. For example, dissemination of nasal biofilms to the lung occurs during influenza infection<sup>491594,595</sup> and so proteins involved in sensing external stimuli and/or promoting dissemination of biofilms may be an important avenue to explore.

The one context tested that CWAs have a role in both pneumonia and super-infection is inflammatory signaling. Many of these proteins have similar structures and are grouped into subfamilies based on this<sup>22, 23, 518</sup>. Thus, it is unsurprising that subfamily members, such as MSCRAMMs, would elicit similar immune signatures. Additionally, lacking all CWAs on the cell surface leading to reduced inflammatory signaling is not surprising. While these proteins are still secreted outside of the bacterium, many of these proteins cannot perform their functions of immune evasion because they are no longer attached to the bacteria. Thus, losing several immune evasion mechanisms, on top of their adhesion functions, likely leads to less inflammation and immune activity needed to clear these bacteria, which is ultimately better for the host. This can be seen in pneumonia mortality differences in MRSA mutants lacking Sbi or SasD (see 4.0 and 5.0 above). What was surprising is that the clustering of CWA mutants did not change much in super-infection. While the expression level and clustering of cytokines are different between these two contexts, it does suggest that CWAs do influence inflammatory signaling and/or that these CWAs are recognized similarly in both contexts. Some of this could be due to timing as cytokines were measured 24 hours post S. aureus infection in both contexts. The addition of bacterial PAMPs would induce immunological signaling in the lung, even if abrogated compared to pneumonia alone. However, it is unclear if this is a transient change just seen at this time point, or if this is a shift in the overall immune response in the lung. Looking at the cytokine signature at earlier and later time points to determine if it resembles influenza alone would be helpful. Many S. aureus proteins have been implicated in altering inflammatory signaling<sup>9, 149, 232</sup> and this potentially could be a bacterial 'behavior' that increases susceptibility to super-infection due to the overwhelming inflammation caused. Inflammation is known to alter cell surface expression of various molecules, and this influences adhesion and nutrient availability for the bacteria<sup>484, 490, 492, 493, 578</sup>. Thus, studying staphylococcal CWAs in the context of inflammation inducing proteins may be a viable avenue to pursue. Additionally, the one CWA that did move inflammation clusters is SasG, which

further supports research into biofilm mechanisms in the context of super-infection as mentioned above.

One reason as to why most CWAs did not have a strong phenotype in either pneumonia or influenza super-infection could be due to the nature of the mutants. These mutants come from the Nebraska Transposon Mutant Library (NTML)<sup>565</sup>, which has been shown to have additional mutations due to the nature of the library creation<sup>595, 596</sup>. Thus, creating new mutants in a clean background is essential to understand these proteins' role in the lung. This was done for the two mutants studied in more detail, Sbi and SasD (See 4.0 and 5.0 above), but should be performed for the others if they are explored in more detail. Additionally, many of these CWAs have overlapping ligands and mechanisms in the host and so missing one CWA may not have a clear phenotype due to compensation of other CWAs. Many of the seminal work on CWAs has included exogenous expression in a bacterial host that does not express CWAs such as Lactococcus lactis or S. carnosus<sup>22</sup>. This allows for clear delineation of individual CWA function without the worry of compensation by other proteins. Due to the lack of previous experience in the Alcorn Laboratory with genetic manipulation of bacterial species as well as graduate student career timing, this was not performed for SasD. However, for future publications, it will be necessary to include this as a control.

While Sbi is not a CWA, it is a cell membrane associated protein that has known roles in immune evasion and induction of inflammatory signaling. Additionally, it has a similar structure to SpA, one of the major virulence factors in the lung. Based on experiments here, Sbi's role is not through IgG binding as there is no difference in survival in B6 and  $\mu$ MT mice (see 3.0 above).

Based on current data, it does not appear that Sbi is inducing inflammation through its Xr domain like SpA. However, this cannot be ruled out at this time. SpA is still present in the sbi A100.2 strain, and so this could be masking the phenotype of Sbi. Additionally, signaling through TNFR1 or EGFR was not investigated, and so we cannot rule out that this is a possible mechanism. If Sbi does not alter inflammation through signaling changes, then the changes seen are likely due to complement evasion activity of this protein. To explore this further, Sbi domain I and II and Sbi domain III and IV fragments should be created and used to determine which aspect of the protein is responsible for the induction of inflammation.

We also characterize a CWA with no known function, SasD. While we did not find a direct function for this protein, this is the first instance of *in vitro* or *in vivo* infection models with this protein and it will continue to be explored in the Alcorn Laboratory. SasD does influence inflammatory signaling in the lung, including IL-1 $\beta$  likely derived from alveolar macrophages. SasD also appears to alter macrophage survival, however, this does not appear to be mediated through caspase 1. At this time, it is unclear if the NLRP3 inflammasome is responsible for the IL-1 $\beta$  release, however this is the most well characterized inflammasome for *S. aureus* and mechanism for IL-1 $\beta$  release<sup>346, 353, 354, 356, 597</sup>. Few studies have implicated NLRC4 and NLRP6 inflammasomes with *S. aureus*, but these pathways are largely unexplored<sup>359, 433</sup>. Additionally, it is unclear if IL-1 $\beta$  is directly tied to cell death via pyroptosis, or a biproduct of inflammasome activation or induction of another cell death pathway such as necroptosis. Both pyroptosis and necroptosis have been implicated in *S. aureus* infections and play different roles in bacterial clearance and inflammation<sup>360</sup>. MRSA lacking SasD had a survival defect *in vivo*, suggesting that this protein is playing some role in bacterial persistence in the lung. This CWA is also interesting

due to its modified cell wall sorting motif, LPXAG, and the absence of the YSIRK/GS signal motif <sup>156 165</sup>, however it is unclear at this time if these aspects influence the role of this protein.

In conclusion, understanding staphylococcal virulence in the context of both bacterial pneumonia and influenza super-infection is important for understanding host-pathogen interactions in the lung. Elucidation of unknown mechanisms of bacterial survival within the lung in both contexts can be at least partially done through the technique Tn-seq. Additionally, screening several CWAs in the context of both infections shows support for influenza and influenza induced immunity being the main drivers of super-infection. Exploring CWAs in the context of other bacterial virulence factors (biofilm, inflammation, etc.) may be helpful in fully elucidating their functions in the lung in both infections. Two surface exposed proteins explored here, Sbi and SasD, influence inflammatory signaling within the lung during pneumonia and this likely leads to increased mortality. Further exploration into these proteins, and additional CWAs, may lead to novel discoveries in terms of host-pathogen interactions, lung virulence factors, *S. aureus* virulence factors, as well as potential therapeutics to treat or prevent *S. aureus* pneumonia and influenza *S. aureus* super-infection.

# **Appendix A Supplemental Figures**



#### Figure 24: Bacterial Growth and Viral Burden

A. WT or mutant MRSA (see graphs) were grown overnight in tryptic soy broth and diluted 1:200 in a 96-well microtiter plate in sexaplicate. Plates were grown at 37°C at 282 rpm continuously. Measurements at 660 nm were taken every 30 minutes. Combination of at least 2 experiments per strain. B. Max growth rate of WT or mutant MRSA strains (see graphs). Growth rate ( $\mu$ ) was calculated off at least two independent experiments using the equation  $A_t=A_t$ .  $_1*e^{\mu t}$  (see methods). The  $\mu_{max}$  was calculated as the average of the three highest  $\mu$  rates. C. Relative expression of influenza PR8 M protein via qPCR normalized to the average F-WT values. Statistics tested by Kruskal-Wallis with Dunn's multiple comparisons correction (B-C). \* p<0.05, \*\*\*\*p<0.0001. N=2-6, combination of several experiments, data graphed as mean  $\pm$  SEM. srtA: Sortase A, fnbB: fibronectin binding protein B, clfA/B: clumping factor A/B, sdrC/D/E: serine-aspartate repeat containing protein C/D/E, isdB: iron-regulated surface determinant B, sasD/G: *S. aureus* surface protein D/G.



Figure 25: Survival of CWA Mutants with RAW264.7 Macrophages

A,C. RAW264.7 macrophages infected with WT or CWA mutant (see graph) MRSA for 3 hours at an MOI of 10. Macrophages were infected for one hour in the absence of antibiotics, media was then replaced with antibiotic- and serum-free media with (+G) or without (-G) gentamicin for 1 hour and changed to antibiotic free media. A. Bacterial survival of WT and CWA mutant MRSA (see graph) without (-G) and with (+G) 100 ug/ml gentamicin in the presence of RAW264.7 macrophages. B. Biofilm mass as measured by crystal violet staining and read at 570 nm (see methods). C. % phagocytosed bacteria in RAW264.7 macrophages infected with WT or CWA mutant MRSA (see graph). % Phagocytosed bacteria is calculated by the following equation: ((CFU with gentamicin)/(CFU without gentamicin))\*100. Statistics tested by Kruskal-Wallis with Dunn's multiple comparisons. \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01, \*\*\* p<0.001, \*\*\*\*p<0.0001. N=3-4 combination of several experiments (A,C) or N=10-12 of a single experiment (B), data graphed as mean ± SEM (standard error of the mean). srtA: Sortase A, fnbB: fibronectin binding protein B, clfA/B: clumping factor A/B, sdrC/D/E: serine-aspartate repeat containing protein C/D/E, isdB: iron-regulated surface determinant B, sasD/G: *S. aureus* surface protein D/G.



Figure 26: Supplemental Data for Sbi

A. Gene expression of *il-17a* in mice were infected with WT MRSA or MRSA lacking Sbi (sbi::Tn) for 6 hours. B. WT or mutant MRSA (see graphs) were grown overnight in tryptic soy broth and diluted 1:200 in a 96-well microtiter plate in sexaplicate. Plates were grown at 37°C at 282 rpm continuously. Measurements at 660 nm were taken every 30 minutes. Combination of at least 2 experiments per strain. Statistical significance is between WT and *sbi::Tn* MRSA strains (\*) or between WT and sbi A100.2 (#). C. Max growth rate of WT or mutant MRSA strains (see graphs). Growth rate ( $\mu$ ) was calculated off at least two independent experiments using the equation At=At-1\*e<sup> $\mu$ t</sup> (see methods). The  $\mu$ max was calculated as the average of the three highest  $\mu$  rates. Statistics done by unpaired t test (A) Kruskal-Wallis Test with Dunn's multiple comparisons (B), Mixed-effects model with Dunnett's multiple comparisons correction (C). \* p<0.05, \* p<0.01, # p<0.05, ## p<0.01. N=3-4 (A), 6 (B-C), combination of several experiments (B-C), data graphed as mean ± SEM.



Figure 27: SasD Increases Inflammatory Cytokines and Decreases Lung Homeostatic Gene Expression

A. Lung homogenate protein levels of cytokines in mice infected with WT or sasD::Tn MRSA during bacterial pneumonia. B. Gene expression of lung epithelial markers in mice infected with WT or sasD::Tn MRSA during bacterial pneumonia. Statistics tested by unpaired t test. \* p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01. N=2, combination of several experiments, data graphed as mean ± SEM.


Figure 28: Characterization of SasD During Pneumonia

A. WT or mutant MRSA (see graphs) were grown overnight in tryptic soy broth and diluted 1:200 in a 96-well microtiter plate in sexaplicate. Plates were grown at 37°C at 282 rpm continuously. Measurements at 660 nm were taken every 30 minutes. Combination of at least 2 experiments per strain. Statistical significance is between WT and sasD::Tn MRSA strains. B. Max growth rate of WT or mutant MRSA strains (see graphs). Growth rate ( $\mu$ ) was calculated off at least two independent experiments using the equation At=At-1\*e<sup> $\mu$ t</sup> (see methods). The  $\mu$ max was calculated as the average of the three highest  $\mu$  rates. C. Gene expression of neutrophil markers relative to the average WT values. D. Histology scoring of H&E-stained lung sections. E. Gene expression of lung epithelial markers relative to the average WT values. Statistics done by Mixed-effects model with Dunnett's multiple comparisons correction (A), Kruskal-Wallis Test with Dunn's multiple comparisons correction (B), unpaired T test (C-E). \* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01, \*\*\* p<0.001, N=2-6, combination of multiple experiments, data graphed as mean ± SEM.



Figure 29: Characterization of Early SasD Infection

A. Histology scoring of H&E-stained lung sections. B-C. Gene expression of lung epithelial (B) and neutrophil (C) markers relative to the average WT values. Statistics done by Two-way ANOVA with Sidak's multiple comparisons correction (A), unpaired T test (B-C). \* p<0.05, n=4-6, combination of multiple experiments, data graphed as mean  $\pm$  SEM.

## Appendix B Supplemental Materials and Methods

Primer	Sequence <sup>a</sup>	Purpose	References
olj376	GTGACTGGAGTTCAGACGTGTGCTCTTCCGATCTGG	PCR 1	530, 538
	GGGGGGGGGGGGGG		
olj510	CCAAAATCCGTTCCTTTTTCATAGTTCCTATATAGT	PCR 1	530, 538
	TATACGC		
Olj511	AATGATACGGCGACCACCGAGATCTACACTCTTT <u>GA</u>	PCR 2	530, 538
	CCGGGGACTTATCAGCCAACCTGTTA		
INDEX	<i>CAAGCAGAAGACGGCATACGA</i> GAT <b>CGTGAT</b> GTGACT	PCR 2	530, 538
1	GGAGTTCAGACGTGTGCTCTTCCGATCT		
INDEX	<i>CAAGCAGAAGACGGCATACGA</i> GAT <b>ACATCG</b> GTGACT	PCR 2	530, 538
2	GGAGTTCAGACGTGTGCTCTTCCGATCT		
INDEX	<i>CAAGCAGAAGACGGCATACGA</i> GAT <b>GCCTAA</b> GTGACT	PCR 2	530, 538
3	GGAGTTCAGACGTGTGCTCTTCCGATCT		
INDEX	<i>CAAGCAGAAGACGGCATACGA</i> GAT <b>TGGTCA</b> GTGACT	PCR 2	530, 538
4	GGAGTTCAGACGTGTGCTCTTCCGATCT		
INDEX	<i>CAAGCAGAAGACGGCATACGA</i> GAT <b>CACTGT</b> GTGACT	PCR 2	530, 538
5	GGAGTTCAGACGTGTGCTCTTCCGATCT		
INDEX	<i>CAAGCAGAAGACGGCATACGA</i> GAT <b>ATTGGC</b> GTGACT	PCR 2	530, 538
6	GGAGTTCAGACGTGTGCTCTTCCGATCT		
INDEX	<i>CAAGCAGAAGACGGCATACGA</i> GAT <b>GATCTG</b> GTGACT	PCR 2	530, 538
7	GGAGTTCAGACGTGTGCTCTTCCGATCT		

## Table 2: Tn-seq Primers

### Table 2 Continued

INDEX	CAAGCAGAAGACGGCATACGAGAT <b>TCAAGT</b> GTGACT	PCR 2	530, 538
8	GGAGTTCAGACGTGTGCTCTTCCGATCT		
INDEX	CAAGCAGAAGACGGCATACGAGATCTGATCGTGACT	PCR 2	530, 538
9	GGAGTTCAGACGTGTGCTCTTCCGATCT		
INDEX	<i>CAAGCAGAAGACGGCATACGA</i> GAT <b>AAGCTA</b> GTGACT	PCR 2	530, 538
10	GGAGTTCAGACGTGTGCTCTTCCGATCT		
INDEX	CAAGCAGAAGACGGCATACGAGATGTAGCCGTGACT	PCR 2	530, 538
11	GGAGTTCAGACGTGTGCTCTTCCGATCT		
INDEX	<i>CAAGCAGAAGACGGCATACGA</i> GAT <b>TACAAG</b> GTGACT	PCR 2	530, 538
12	GGAGTTCAGACGTGTGCTCTTCCGATCT		
	ACACTCTTTGACCGGGGGACTTATCAGCCAACCTGTT	Sequencing	530, 538
olj512	A		

a Underlined=transposon-specific sequence; Italics=Illumina adapter sequence, Bold=barcode region

Strain	Description	NTML #	Reference
JE2	NTML Wildtype strain		565
JE2 srtA::Tn	NTML mutant	NE1787	565
JE2 clfA::Tn	NTML mutant	NE543	565
JE2 clfB::Tn	NTML mutant	NE391	565
JE2 fnbB::Tn	NTML mutant	NE728	565
JE2 sdrC::Tn	NTML mutant	NE432	565
JE2 sdrD::Tn	NTML mutant	NE1289	565
JE2 sdrE::Tn	NTML mutant	NE98	565
JE2 isdB::Tn	NTML mutant	NE1102	565
JE2 sasG::Tn	NTML mutant	NE825	565
JE2 sasD::Tn	NTML mutant	NE1032	565
sasD A50.1	Transduced strain from JE2 sasD::Tn		This study
JE2 sbi::Tn	NTML mutant	NE453	565
sbi A100.2	Transduced from strain JE2 sbi::Tn		This study

#### Table 3: S. aureus Strains Used

#### Table 4: S. aureus Primers Used

Strain	Primer (5'-3')	Source	Transposon Primer Used
JE2 srtA::Tn	CCAAACGCCTGTCTTTCAT	This study	Buster
JE2 clfA::Tn	AAACACGCAATTCGGAAAAA	This study	Buster
JE2 clfB::Tn	TTCGCACTGTTTGTGTTTGC	This study	Upstream
JE2 fnbB::Tn	CTCCCGCCTTAATTCCTTCT	This study	Upstream
JE2 sdrC::Tn	CAATATTTCCGTCCAGGATCA	This study	Buster
JE2 sdrD::Tn	CAAAAAGGTAGATGCCAAAACTG	This study	Upstream
JE2 sdrE::Tn	CCATCAGGAGAGGTCATTGC	This study	Buster
JE2 isdB::Tn	CAAACCAACACCATCACCTG	This study	Buster
JE2 sasG::Tn	TGGAAAGTTTCATGGGCAAC	This study	Buster
JE2 sasD::Tn	CATGCCGACACAACTTCAAT	This study	Upstream
sasD A50.1	CATGCCGACACAACTTCAAT	This study	Upstream
JE2 sbi::Tn	GTTGCTAGTTGGGGGCAGCA	This study	Upstream
sbi A100.2	GTTGCTAGTTGGGGGCAGCA	This study	Upstream

Gene	Catalog Number
IL-17a	Mm00439618_m1
IL-23a	Mm00518984_m1
IL-6	Mm00446190_m1
Tnfα	Mm00443258_m1
IL-10	Mm00439614_m1
TLR2	Mm00442346_m1
TLR4	Mm00445273_m1
Cxcl1	Mm04207460_m1
IL-1β	Mm00434228_m1
NLRP3	Mm00840904_m1
Pycard	Mm00445747_g1
Foxj1	Mm01267279_m1
TJP1	Mm00493699_m1
Cav1	Mm00483057_m1
Sftpc	Mm00488144_m1
Scgb1a1	Mm00442046_m1
Muc5b	Mm00466376_m1
MPO	Mm01298424_m1
ELANE	Mm00469310_m1
CTSG	Mm00456011_m1
Lcn2	Mm01324470_m1
Camp	Mm00438285_m1
Argl	Mm00475988_m1

# Table 5: TaqMan Primer-Probes Used

#### **Bibliography**

- 1. Lory, S. The Family Staphylococcaceae. In: Rosenberg, E., DeLong, E.F., Lory, S., Stackebrandt, E. & Thompson, F. (eds). *The Prokaryotes: Firmicutes and Tenericutes*. Springer Berlin Heidelberg: Berlin, Heidelberg, 2014, pp 363-366.
- 2. Thurlow, L.R., Joshi, G.S. & Richardson, A.R. Virulence strategies of the dominant USA300 lineage of community-associated methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (CA-MRSA). *FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol* **65**, 5-22 (2012).
- 3. Fitzgerald, J.R. Evolution of Staphylococcus aureus during human colonization and infection. *Infect Genet Evol* **21**, 542-547 (2014).
- 4. Ogston, A. Report upon Micro-Organisms in Surgical Diseases. *Br Med J* 1, 369.b362-375 (1881).
- 5. Ogston, A. Micrococcus Poisoning. J Anat Physiol 17, 24-58 (1882).
- 6. COWAN, S.T., SHAW, C. & WILLIAMS, R.E. Type strain for Staphylococcus aureus Rosenbach. *J Gen Microbiol* **10**, 174-176 (1954).
- 7. Rosenbach, F.J. *Mikro-organismen bei den Wund-Infections-Krankheiten des Menschen.* J.F. Bergmann: Wiesbaden, 1884.
- 8. van Belkum, A. *et al.* Reclassification of Staphylococcus aureus nasal carriage types. *J Infect Dis* **199**, 1820-1826 (2009).
- 9. Cheung, G.Y.C., Bae, J.S. & Otto, M. Pathogenicity and virulence of. *Virulence* **12**, 547-569 (2021).
- 10. Burian, M., Wolz, C. & Goerke, C. Regulatory adaptation of Staphylococcus aureus during nasal colonization of humans. *PLoS One* **5**, e10040 (2010).
- 11. Kuehnert, M.J. *et al.* Prevalence of Staphylococcus aureus nasal colonization in the United States, 2001-2002. *J Infect Dis* **193**, 172-179 (2006).
- 12. Wertheim, H.F. *et al.* Risk and outcome of nosocomial Staphylococcus aureus bacteraemia in nasal carriers versus non-carriers. *Lancet* **364**, 703-705 (2004).
- 13. Schechter-Perkins, E.M. *et al.* Prevalence and predictors of nasal and extranasal staphylococcal colonization in patients presenting to the emergency department. *Ann Emerg Med* **57**, 492-499 (2011).

- 14. Otto, M. Community-associated MRSA: what makes them special? *Int J Med Microbiol* **303**, 324-330 (2013).
- 15. David, M.Z. & Daum, R.S. Community-associated methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus: epidemiology and clinical consequences of an emerging epidemic. *Clin Microbiol Rev* 23, 616-687 (2010).
- 16. Morrison, M.A., Hageman, J.C. & Klevens, R.M. Case definition for communityassociated methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus. *J Hosp Infect* **62**, 241 (2006).
- 17. McDougal, L.K. *et al.* Pulsed-field gel electrophoresis typing of oxacillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus isolates from the United States: establishing a national database. *J Clin Microbiol* **41**, 5113-5120 (2003).
- 18. King, M.D. *et al.* Emergence of community-acquired methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus USA 300 clone as the predominant cause of skin and soft-tissue infections. *Ann Intern Med* **144**, 309-317 (2006).
- 19. Turner, N.A. *et al.* Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus: an overview of basic and clinical research. *Nat Rev Microbiol* **17**, 203-218 (2019).
- 20. Le, K.Y. & Otto, M. Quorum-sensing regulation in staphylococci-an overview. *Front Microbiol* **6**, 1174 (2015).
- 21. Jenul, C. & Horswill, A.R. Regulation of. *Microbiol Spectr* 7 (2019).
- 22. Foster, T.J., Geoghegan, J.A., Ganesh, V.K. & Höök, M. Adhesion, invasion and evasion: the many functions of the surface proteins of Staphylococcus aureus. *Nat Rev Microbiol* **12**, 49-62 (2014).
- 23. Foster, T.J. The MSCRAMM Family of Cell-Wall-Anchored Surface Proteins of Gram-Positive Cocci. *Trends Microbiol* **27**, 927-941 (2019).
- 24. Foster, T.J. Surface Proteins of *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Microbiol Spectr* **7** (2019).
- 25. Schneewind, O. & Missiakas, D. Sortases, Surface Proteins, and Their Roles in. *Microbiol Spectr* **7** (2019).
- 26. Herman, P. *et al.* The binding force of the staphylococcal adhesin SdrG is remarkably strong. *Mol Microbiol* **93**, 356-368 (2014).
- 27. Milles, L.F., Schulten, K., Gaub, H.E. & Bernardi, R.C. Molecular mechanism of extreme mechanostability in a pathogen adhesin. *Science* **359**, 1527-1533 (2018).

- 28. Sokurenko, E.V., Vogel, V. & Thomas, W.E. Catch-bond mechanism of force-enhanced adhesion: counterintuitive, elusive, but ... widespread? *Cell Host Microbe* **4**, 314-323 (2008).
- 29. Ganesh, V.K. *et al.* A structural model of the Staphylococcus aureus ClfA-fibrinogen interaction opens new avenues for the design of anti-staphylococcal therapeutics. *PLoS Pathog* **4**, e1000226 (2008).
- 30. Hammer, N.D. & Skaar, E.P. Molecular mechanisms of Staphylococcus aureus iron acquisition. *Annu Rev Microbiol* 65, 129-147 (2011).
- 31. Grigg, J.C., Ukpabi, G., Gaudin, C.F. & Murphy, M.E. Structural biology of heme binding in the Staphylococcus aureus Isd system. *J Inorg Biochem* **104**, 341-348 (2010).
- 32. Gruszka, D.T. *et al.* Cooperative folding of intrinsically disordered domains drives assembly of a strong elongated protein. *Nat Commun* **6**, 7271 (2015).
- 33. Skaar, E.P. & Schneewind, O. Iron-regulated surface determinants (Isd) of Staphylococcus aureus: stealing iron from heme. *Microbes Infect* **6**, 390-397 (2004).
- 34. Speziale, P. & Pietrocola, G. The Multivalent Role of Fibronectin-Binding Proteins A and B (FnBPA and FnBPB) of. *Front Microbiol* **11**, 2054 (2020).
- 35. Josse, J., Laurent, F. & Diot, A. Staphylococcal Adhesion and Host Cell Invasion: Fibronectin-Binding and Other Mechanisms. *Front Microbiol* **8**, 2433 (2017).
- 36. McDevitt, D., Francois, P., Vaudaux, P. & Foster, T.J. Molecular characterization of the clumping factor (fibrinogen receptor) of Staphylococcus aureus. *Mol Microbiol* **11**, 237-248 (1994).
- 37. McDevitt, D. *et al.* Characterization of the interaction between the Staphylococcus aureus clumping factor (ClfA) and fibrinogen. *Eur J Biochem* **247**, 416-424 (1997).
- 38. Deivanayagam, C.C. *et al.* A novel variant of the immunoglobulin fold in surface adhesins of Staphylococcus aureus: crystal structure of the fibrinogen-binding MSCRAMM, clumping factor A. *EMBO J* **21**, 6660-6672 (2002).
- 39. Flick, M.J. *et al.* Genetic elimination of the binding motif on fibrinogen for the S. aureus virulence factor ClfA improves host survival in septicemia. *Blood* **121**, 1783-1794 (2013).
- 40. McAdow, M. *et al.* Preventing Staphylococcus aureus sepsis through the inhibition of its agglutination in blood. *PLoS Pathog* **7**, e1002307 (2011).
- 41. Que, Y.A. *et al.* Fibrinogen and fibronectin binding cooperate for valve infection and invasion in Staphylococcus aureus experimental endocarditis. *J Exp Med* **201**, 1627-1635 (2005).

- 42. Moreillon, P. *et al.* Role of Staphylococcus aureus coagulase and clumping factor in pathogenesis of experimental endocarditis. *Infect Immun* **63**, 4738-4743 (1995).
- 43. Negrón, O. *et al.* Fibrin(ogen) engagement of S. aureus promotes the host antimicrobial response and suppression of microbe dissemination following peritoneal infection. *PLoS Pathog* **18**, e1010227 (2022).
- 44. Siboo, I.R., Cheung, A.L., Bayer, A.S. & Sullam, P.M. Clumping factor A mediates binding of Staphylococcus aureus to human platelets. *Infect Immun* **69**, 3120-3127 (2001).
- 45. O'Brien, L. *et al.* Multiple mechanisms for the activation of human platelet aggregation by Staphylococcus aureus: roles for the clumping factors ClfA and ClfB, the serine-aspartate repeat protein SdrE and protein A. *Mol Microbiol* **44**, 1033-1044 (2002).
- 46. Loughman, A. *et al.* Roles for fibrinogen, immunoglobulin and complement in platelet activation promoted by Staphylococcus aureus clumping factor A. *Mol Microbiol* **57**, 804-818 (2005).
- 47. McDonnell, C.J. *et al.* Inhibition of major integrin α. *J Thromb Haemost* **14**, 2536-2547 (2016).
- 48. Claes, J. *et al.* Clumping factor A, von Willebrand factor-binding protein and von Willebrand factor anchor Staphylococcus aureus to the vessel wall. *J Thromb Haemost* **15**, 1009-1019 (2017).
- 49. Cheng, A.G. *et al.* Genetic requirements for Staphylococcus aureus abscess formation and persistence in host tissues. *FASEB J* **23**, 3393-3404 (2009).
- 50. Josefsson, E., Hartford, O., O'Brien, L., Patti, J.M. & Foster, T. Protection against experimental Staphylococcus aureus arthritis by vaccination with clumping factor A, a novel virulence determinant. *J Infect Dis* **184**, 1572-1580 (2001).
- 51. Farnsworth, C.W. *et al.* Adaptive Upregulation of Clumping Factor A (ClfA) by Staphylococcus aureus in the Obese, Type 2 Diabetic Host Mediates Increased Virulence. *Infect Immun* **85** (2017).
- 52. Malachowa, N. *et al.* Contribution of Staphylococcus aureus Coagulases and Clumping Factor A to Abscess Formation in a Rabbit Model of Skin and Soft Tissue Infection. *PLoS One* **11**, e0158293 (2016).
- 53. Higgins, J., Loughman, A., van Kessel, K.P., van Strijp, J.A. & Foster, T.J. Clumping factor A of Staphylococcus aureus inhibits phagocytosis by human polymorphonuclear leucocytes. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* **258**, 290-296 (2006).

- 54. Hair, P.S. *et al.* Clumping factor A interaction with complement factor I increases C3b cleavage on the bacterial surface of Staphylococcus aureus and decreases complement-mediated phagocytosis. *Infect Immun* **78**, 1717-1727 (2010).
- 55. Hair, P.S., Ward, M.D., Semmes, O.J., Foster, T.J. & Cunnion, K.M. Staphylococcus aureus clumping factor A binds to complement regulator factor I and increases factor I cleavage of C3b. *J Infect Dis* **198**, 125-133 (2008).
- 56. Mao, X. *et al.* The N2N3 domains of ClfA, FnbpA and FnbpB in Staphylococcus aureus bind to human complement factor H, and their antibodies enhance the bactericidal capability of human blood. *J Biochem* 169, 543-553 (2021).
- 57. Ní Eidhin, D. *et al.* Clumping factor B (ClfB), a new surface-located fibrinogen-binding adhesin of Staphylococcus aureus. *Mol Microbiol* **30**, 245-257 (1998).
- 58. Perkins, S. *et al.* Structural organization of the fibrinogen-binding region of the clumping factor B MSCRAMM of Staphylococcus aureus. *J Biol Chem* **276**, 44721-44728 (2001).
- 59. McAleese, F.M., Walsh, E.J., Sieprawska, M., Potempa, J. & Foster, T.J. Loss of clumping factor B fibrinogen binding activity by Staphylococcus aureus involves cessation of transcription, shedding and cleavage by metalloprotease. *J Biol Chem* **276**, 29969-29978 (2001).
- 60. Walsh, E.J., Miajlovic, H., Gorkun, O.V. & Foster, T.J. Identification of the Staphylococcus aureus MSCRAMM clumping factor B (ClfB) binding site in the alphaC-domain of human fibrinogen. *Microbiology (Reading)* **154**, 550-558 (2008).
- 61. Miajlovic, H., Loughman, A., Brennan, M., Cox, D. & Foster, T.J. Both complement- and fibrinogen-dependent mechanisms contribute to platelet aggregation mediated by Staphylococcus aureus clumping factor B. *Infect Immun* **75**, 3335-3343 (2007).
- 62. Entenza, J.M. *et al.* Contribution of clumping factor B to pathogenesis of experimental endocarditis due to Staphylococcus aureus. *Infect Immun* **68**, 5443-5446 (2000).
- 63. Mulcahy, M.E. *et al.* Nasal colonisation by Staphylococcus aureus depends upon clumping factor B binding to the squamous epithelial cell envelope protein loricrin. *PLoS Pathog* **8**, e1003092 (2012).
- 64. Wertheim, H.F. *et al.* Key role for clumping factor B in Staphylococcus aureus nasal colonization of humans. *PLoS Med* **5**, e17 (2008).
- 65. Fleury, O.M. *et al.* Clumping Factor B Promotes Adherence of Staphylococcus aureus to Corneocytes in Atopic Dermatitis. *Infect Immun* **85** (2017).
- 66. Feuillie, C. *et al.* Adhesion of Staphylococcus aureus to Corneocytes from Atopic Dermatitis Patients Is Controlled by Natural Moisturizing Factor Levels. *mBio* **9** (2018).

- 67. Schaffer, A.C. *et al.* Immunization with Staphylococcus aureus clumping factor B, a major determinant in nasal carriage, reduces nasal colonization in a murine model. *Infect Immun* **74**, 2145-2153 (2006).
- 68. O'Brien, L.M., Walsh, E.J., Massey, R.C., Peacock, S.J. & Foster, T.J. Staphylococcus aureus clumping factor B (ClfB) promotes adherence to human type I cytokeratin 10: implications for nasal colonization. *Cell Microbiol* **4**, 759-770 (2002).
- 69. Walsh, E.J., O'Brien, L.M., Liang, X., Hook, M. & Foster, T.J. Clumping factor B, a fibrinogen-binding MSCRAMM (microbial surface components recognizing adhesive matrix molecules) adhesin of Staphylococcus aureus, also binds to the tail region of type I cytokeratin 10. *J Biol Chem* **279**, 50691-50699 (2004).
- 70. Haim, M. *et al.* Cytokeratin 8 interacts with clumping factor B: a new possible virulence factor target. *Microbiology (Reading)* **156**, 3710-3721 (2010).
- 71. Moll, R., Divo, M. & Langbein, L. The human keratins: biology and pathology. *Histochem Cell Biol* **129**, 705-733 (2008).
- 72. Lacey, K.A., Mulcahy, M.E., Towell, A.M., Geoghegan, J.A. & McLoughlin, R.M. Clumping factor B is an important virulence factor during Staphylococcus aureus skin infection and a promising vaccine target. *PLoS Pathog* **15**, e1007713 (2019).
- 73. Mosher, D.F. & Proctor, R.A. Binding and factor XIIIa-mediated cross-linking of a 27-kilodalton fragment of fibronectin to Staphylococcus aureus. *Science* **209**, 927-929 (1980).
- 74. Kuusela, P., Vartio, T., Vuento, M. & Myhre, E.B. Binding sites for streptococci and staphylococci in fibronectin. *Infect Immun* **45**, 433-436 (1984).
- 75. Fröman, G., Switalski, L.M., Speziale, P. & Höök, M. Isolation and characterization of a fibronectin receptor from Staphylococcus aureus. *J Biol Chem* **262**, 6564-6571 (1987).
- 76. Signäs, C. *et al.* Nucleotide sequence of the gene for a fibronectin-binding protein from Staphylococcus aureus: use of this peptide sequence in the synthesis of biologically active peptides. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **86**, 699-703 (1989).
- 77. Bozzini, S., Visai, L., Pignatti, P., Petersen, T.E. & Speziale, P. Multiple binding sites in fibronectin and the staphylococcal fibronectin receptor. *Eur J Biochem* **207**, 327-333 (1992).
- 78. Jönsson, K., Signäs, C., Müller, H.P. & Lindberg, M. Two different genes encode fibronectin binding proteins in Staphylococcus aureus. The complete nucleotide sequence and characterization of the second gene. *Eur J Biochem* **202**, 1041-1048 (1991).

- 79. Rice, K., Huesca, M., Vaz, D. & McGavin, M.J. Variance in fibronectin binding and fnb locus polymorphisms in Staphylococcus aureus: identification of antigenic variation in a fibronectin binding protein adhesin of the epidemic CMRSA-1 strain of methicillin-resistant S. aureus. *Infect Immun* **69**, 3791-3799 (2001).
- 80. Sinha, B. *et al.* Fibronectin-binding protein acts as Staphylococcus aureus invasin via fibronectin bridging to integrin alpha5beta1. *Cell Microbiol* **1**, 101-117 (1999).
- 81. Menzies, B.E. The role of fibronectin binding proteins in the pathogenesis of Staphylococcus aureus infections. *Curr Opin Infect Dis* **16**, 225-229 (2003).
- 82. Dziewanowska, K. *et al.* Fibronectin binding protein and host cell tyrosine kinase are required for internalization of Staphylococcus aureus by epithelial cells. *Infect Immun* **67**, 4673-4678 (1999).
- 83. Peacock, S.J., Foster, T.J., Cameron, B.J. & Berendt, A.R. Bacterial fibronectin-binding proteins and endothelial cell surface fibronectin mediate adherence of Staphylococcus aureus to resting human endothelial cells. *Microbiology (Reading)* **145 ( Pt 12)**, 3477-3486 (1999).
- 84. Hamill, R.J., Vann, J.M. & Proctor, R.A. Phagocytosis of Staphylococcus aureus by cultured bovine aortic endothelial cells: model for postadherence events in endovascular infections. *Infect Immun* **54**, 833-836 (1986).
- 85. Almeida, R.A., Matthews, K.R., Cifrian, E., Guidry, A.J. & Oliver, S.P. Staphylococcus aureus invasion of bovine mammary epithelial cells. *J Dairy Sci* **79**, 1021-1026 (1996).
- 86. Fowler, T. *et al.* Cellular invasion by Staphylococcus aureus involves a fibronectin bridge between the bacterial fibronectin-binding MSCRAMMs and host cell beta1 integrins. *Eur J Cell Biol* **79**, 672-679 (2000).
- 87. Kintarak, S., Whawell, S.A., Speight, P.M., Packer, S. & Nair, S.P. Internalization of Staphylococcus aureus by human keratinocytes. *Infect Immun* **72**, 5668-5675 (2004).
- 88. Kahl, B.C. *et al.* Staphylococcus aureus RN6390 replicates and induces apoptosis in a pulmonary epithelial cell line. *Infect Immun* **68**, 5385-5392 (2000).
- 89. Wang, J.H. *et al.* Involvement of phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase/Akt signaling pathway in  $\beta$ 1 integrin-mediated internalization of Staphylococcus aureus by alveolar epithelial cells. *J Microbiol* **51**, 644-650 (2013).
- 90. Vaudaux, P. *et al.* Increased expression of clumping factor and fibronectin-binding proteins by hemB mutants of Staphylococcus aureus expressing small colony variant phenotypes. *Infect Immun* **70**, 5428-5437 (2002).

- 91. Wann, E.R., Gurusiddappa, S. & Hook, M. The fibronectin-binding MSCRAMM FnbpA of Staphylococcus aureus is a bifunctional protein that also binds to fibrinogen. *J Biol Chem* **275**, 13863-13871 (2000).
- 92. Burke, F.M., Di Poto, A., Speziale, P. & Foster, T.J. The A domain of fibronectin-binding protein B of Staphylococcus aureus contains a novel fibronectin binding site. *FEBS J* **278**, 2359-2371 (2011).
- 93. Bingham, R.J. *et al.* Crystal structures of fibronectin-binding sites from Staphylococcus aureus FnBPA in complex with fibronectin domains. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **105**, 12254-12258 (2008).
- 94. Roche, F.M. *et al.* The N-terminal A domain of fibronectin-binding proteins A and B promotes adhesion of Staphylococcus aureus to elastin. *J Biol Chem* **279**, 38433-38440 (2004).
- 95. Keane, F.M. *et al.* Fibrinogen and elastin bind to the same region within the A domain of fibronectin binding protein A, an MSCRAMM of Staphylococcus aureus. *Mol Microbiol* **63**, 711-723 (2007).
- 96. Pietrocola, G. *et al.* Molecular Interactions of Human Plasminogen with Fibronectinbinding Protein B (FnBPB), a Fibrinogen/Fibronectin-binding Protein from Staphylococcus aureus. *J Biol Chem* **291**, 18148-18162 (2016).
- 97. Herman-Bausier, P., Pietrocola, G., Foster, T.J., Speziale, P. & Dufrêne, Y.F. Fibrinogen Activates the Capture of Human Plasminogen by Staphylococcal Fibronectin-Binding Proteins. *mBio* 8 (2017).
- 98. O'Neill, E. *et al.* A novel Staphylococcus aureus biofilm phenotype mediated by the fibronectin-binding proteins, FnBPA and FnBPB. *J Bacteriol* **190**, 3835-3850 (2008).
- 99. Geoghegan, J.A., Monk, I.R., O'Gara, J.P. & Foster, T.J. Subdomains N2N3 of fibronectin binding protein A mediate Staphylococcus aureus biofilm formation and adherence to fibrinogen using distinct mechanisms. *J Bacteriol* **195**, 2675-2683 (2013).
- 100. Herman-Bausier, P., El-Kirat-Chatel, S., Foster, T.J., Geoghegan, J.A. & Dufrêne, Y.F. Staphylococcus aureus Fibronectin-Binding Protein A Mediates Cell-Cell Adhesion through Low-Affinity Homophilic Bonds. *mBio* **6**, e00413-00415 (2015).
- 101. Pietrocola, G. *et al.* Fibronectin-binding protein B (FnBPB) from. *J Biol Chem* **294**, 3588-3602 (2019).
- 102. Morita, S., Tagai, C., Shiraishi, T., Miyaji, K. & Iwamuro, S. Differential mode of antimicrobial actions of arginine-rich and lysine-rich histones against Gram-positive Staphylococcus aureus. *Peptides* **48**, 75-82 (2013).

- 103. Kuypers, J.M. & Proctor, R.A. Reduced adherence to traumatized rat heart valves by a low-fibronectin-binding mutant of Staphylococcus aureus. *Infect Immun* **57**, 2306-2312 (1989).
- 104. Vergara-Irigaray, M. *et al.* Relevant role of fibronectin-binding proteins in Staphylococcus aureus biofilm-associated foreign-body infections. *Infect Immun* **77**, 3978-3991 (2009).
- 105. Arrecubieta, C. *et al.* The role of Staphylococcus aureus adhesins in the pathogenesis of ventricular assist device-related infections. *J Infect Dis* **193**, 1109-1119 (2006).
- 106. Lower, S.K. *et al.* Polymorphisms in fibronectin binding protein A of Staphylococcus aureus are associated with infection of cardiovascular devices. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **108**, 18372-18377 (2011).
- 107. Arrecubieta, C. *et al.* Vaccination with clumping factor A and fibronectin binding protein A to prevent Staphylococcus aureus infection of an aortic patch in mice. *J Infect Dis* **198**, 571-575 (2008).
- 108. Kwiecinski, J., Jin, T. & Josefsson, E. Surface proteins of Staphylococcus aureus play an important role in experimental skin infection. *APMIS* **122**, 1240-1250 (2014).
- 109. Tristan, A. *et al.* Use of multiplex PCR to identify Staphylococcus aureus adhesins involved in human hematogenous infections. *J Clin Microbiol* **41**, 4465-4467 (2003).
- 110. Josefsson, E. *et al.* Three new members of the serine-aspartate repeat protein multigene family of Staphylococcus aureus. *Microbiology (Reading)* **144 ( Pt 12)**, 3387-3395 (1998).
- 111. Peacock, S.J. *et al.* Virulent combinations of adhesin and toxin genes in natural populations of Staphylococcus aureus. *Infect Immun* **70**, 4987-4996 (2002).
- 112. Sabat, A. *et al.* Distribution of the serine-aspartate repeat protein-encoding sdr genes among nasal-carriage and invasive Staphylococcus aureus strains. *J Clin Microbiol* **44**, 1135-1138 (2006).
- 113. Barbu, E.M. *et al.* beta-Neurexin is a ligand for the Staphylococcus aureus MSCRAMM SdrC. *PLoS Pathog* **6**, e1000726 (2010).
- 114. Barbu, E.M., Mackenzie, C., Foster, T.J. & Höök, M. SdrC induces staphylococcal biofilm formation through a homophilic interaction. *Mol Microbiol* **94**, 172-185 (2014).
- 115. Feuillie, C. *et al.* Molecular interactions and inhibition of the staphylococcal biofilmforming protein SdrC. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **114**, 3738-3743 (2017).
- 116. Pi, Y., Chen, W. & Ji, Q. Structural Basis of. *Biochemistry* **59**, 1465-1469 (2020).

- 117. Corrigan, R.M., Miajlovic, H. & Foster, T.J. Surface proteins that promote adherence of Staphylococcus aureus to human desquamated nasal epithelial cells. *BMC Microbiol* **9**, 22 (2009).
- 118. Askarian, F. *et al.* The interaction between Staphylococcus aureus SdrD and desmoglein 1 is important for adhesion to host cells. *Sci Rep* **6**, 22134 (2016).
- 119. Berika, M. & Garrod, D. Desmosomal adhesion in vivo. *Cell Commun Adhes* **21**, 65-75 (2014).
- 120. Sitkiewicz, I., Babiak, I. & Hryniewicz, W. Characterization of transcription within sdr region of Staphylococcus aureus. *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek* **99**, 409-416 (2011).
- 121. Askarian, F. *et al.* Serine-Aspartate Repeat Protein D Increases Staphylococcus aureus Virulence and Survival in Blood. *Infect Immun* **85** (2017).
- 122. Trad, S. *et al.* DNA macroarray for identification and typing of Staphylococcus aureus isolates. *J Clin Microbiol* **42**, 2054-2064 (2004).
- 123. Sharp, J.A. *et al.* Staphylococcus aureus surface protein SdrE binds complement regulator factor H as an immune evasion tactic. *PLoS One* **7**, e38407 (2012).
- 124. Hair, P.S. *et al.* Complement regulator C4BP binds to Staphylococcus aureus surface proteins SdrE and Bbp inhibiting bacterial opsonization and killing. *Results Immunol* **3**, 114-121 (2013).
- 125. Stranger-Jones, Y.K., Bae, T. & Schneewind, O. Vaccine assembly from surface proteins of Staphylococcus aureus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **103**, 16942-16947 (2006).
- 126. Yacoub, A. *et al.* Purification of a bone sialoprotein-binding protein from Staphylococcus aureus. *Eur J Biochem* 222, 919-925 (1994).
- 127. Tung, H. *et al.* A bone sialoprotein-binding protein from Staphylococcus aureus: a member of the staphylococcal Sdr family. *Biochem J* **345** Pt **3**, 611-619 (2000).
- 128. Otsuka, T. *et al.* Key adhesin gene in community-acquired methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **346**, 1234-1244 (2006).
- 129. Persson, L., Johansson, C. & Rydén, C. Antibodies to Staphylococcus aureus bone sialoprotein-binding protein indicate infectious osteomyelitis. *Clin Vaccine Immunol* **16**, 949-952 (2009).
- 130. Vazquez, V. *et al.* Fibrinogen is a ligand for the Staphylococcus aureus microbial surface components recognizing adhesive matrix molecules (MSCRAMM) bone sialoproteinbinding protein (Bbp). *J Biol Chem* **286**, 29797-29805 (2011).

- 131. Taylor, J.M. & Heinrichs, D.E. Transferrin binding in Staphylococcus aureus: involvement of a cell wall-anchored protein. *Mol Microbiol* **43**, 1603-1614 (2002).
- 132. Mazmanian, S.K., Ton-That, H., Su, K. & Schneewind, O. An iron-regulated sortase anchors a class of surface protein during Staphylococcus aureus pathogenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **99**, 2293-2298 (2002).
- 133. Mazmanian, S.K. *et al.* Passage of heme-iron across the envelope of Staphylococcus aureus. *Science* **299**, 906-909 (2003).
- 134. Pishchany, G. *et al.* Specificity for human hemoglobin enhances Staphylococcus aureus infection. *Cell Host Microbe* **8**, 544-550 (2010).
- 135. Torres, V.J., Pishchany, G., Humayun, M., Schneewind, O. & Skaar, E.P. Staphylococcus aureus IsdB is a hemoglobin receptor required for heme iron utilization. *J Bacteriol* **188**, 8421-8429 (2006).
- 136. Alfeo, M.J. *et al.* Staphylococcus aureus iron-regulated surface determinant B (IsdB) protein interacts with von Willebrand factor and promotes adherence to endothelial cells. *Sci Rep* **11**, 22799 (2021).
- Miajlovic, H. *et al.* Direct interaction of iron-regulated surface determinant IsdB of Staphylococcus aureus with the GPIIb/IIIa receptor on platelets. *Microbiology (Reading)* 156, 920-928 (2010).
- 138. Zapotoczna, M., Jevnikar, Z., Miajlovic, H., Kos, J. & Foster, T.J. Iron-regulated surface determinant B (IsdB) promotes Staphylococcus aureus adherence to and internalization by non-phagocytic human cells. *Cell Microbiol* **15**, 1026-1041 (2013).
- 139. Mathelié-Guinlet, M. *et al.* Single-Molecule Analysis Demonstrates Stress-Enhanced Binding between. *Nano Lett* **20**, 8919-8925 (2020).
- 140. Pietrocola, G. *et al.* The iron-regulated surface determinant B (IsdB) protein from. *J Biol Chem* **295**, 10008-10022 (2020).
- 141. Zhang, L., Jacobsson, K., Vasi, J., Lindberg, M. & Frykberg, L. A second IgG-binding protein in Staphylococcus aureus. *Microbiology (Reading)* **144 ( Pt 4)**, 985-991 (1998).
- 142. Zhang, L., Jacobsson, K., Ström, K., Lindberg, M. & Frykberg, L. Staphylococcus aureus expresses a cell surface protein that binds both IgG and beta2-glycoprotein I. *Microbiology (Reading)* **145 ( Pt 1)**, 177-183 (1999).
- 143. Burman, J.D. *et al.* Interaction of human complement with Sbi, a staphylococcal immunoglobulin-binding protein: indications of a novel mechanism of complement evasion by Staphylococcus aureus. *J Biol Chem* **283**, 17579-17593 (2008).

- 144. Smith, E.J., Visai, L., Kerrigan, S.W., Speziale, P. & Foster, T.J. The Sbi protein is a multifunctional immune evasion factor of Staphylococcus aureus. *Infect Immun* **79**, 3801-3809 (2011).
- 145. Smith, E.J. *et al.* The immune evasion protein Sbi of Staphylococcus aureus occurs both extracellularly and anchored to the cell envelope by binding lipoteichoic acid. *Mol Microbiol* **83**, 789-804 (2012).
- 146. Jacobsson, K. & Frykberg, L. Cloning of ligand-binding domains of bacterial receptors by phage display. *Biotechniques* **18**, 878-885 (1995).
- 147. Atkins, K.L. *et al.* S. aureus IgG-binding proteins SpA and Sbi: host specificity and mechanisms of immune complex formation. *Mol Immunol* **45**, 1600-1611 (2008).
- 148. Zhang, L., Rosander, A., Jacobsson, K., Lindberg, M. & Frykberg, L. Expression of staphylococcal protein Sbi is induced by human IgG. *FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol* **28**, 211-218 (2000).
- 149. Gonzalez, C.D., Ledo, C., Giai, C., Garófalo, A. & Gómez, M.I. The Sbi Protein Contributes to Staphylococcus aureus Inflammatory Response during Systemic Infection. *PLoS One* **10**, e0131879 (2015).
- 150. Upadhyay, A. *et al.* Structure-function analysis of the C3 binding region of Staphylococcus aureus immune subversion protein Sbi. *J Biol Chem* **283**, 22113-22120 (2008).
- 151. Haupt, K. *et al.* The Staphylococcus aureus protein Sbi acts as a complement inhibitor and forms a tripartite complex with host complement Factor H and C3b. *PLoS Pathog* **4**, e1000250 (2008).
- 152. Koch, T.K. *et al.* Staphylococcus aureus proteins Sbi and Efb recruit human plasmin to degrade complement C3 and C3b. *PLoS One* **7**, e47638 (2012).
- 153. Zhao, F., Chong, A.S. & Montgomery, C.P. Importance of B Lymphocytes and the IgG-Binding Protein Sbi in Staphylococcus aureus Skin Infection. *Pathogens* **5** (2016).
- 154. Gonzalez, C.D. *et al.* The good side of inflammation: Staphylococcus aureus proteins SpA and Sbi contribute to proper abscess formation and wound healing during skin and soft tissue infections. *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis* **1865**, 2657-2670 (2019).
- 155. Al Kindi, A. *et al.* Staphylococcus aureus second immunoglobulin-binding protein drives atopic dermatitis via IL-33. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* **147**, 1354-1368.e1353 (2021).
- 156. Roche, F.M. *et al.* Characterization of novel LPXTG-containing proteins of Staphylococcus aureus identified from genome sequences. *Microbiology (Reading)* **149**, 643-654 (2003).

- 157. Savolainen, K. *et al.* Expression of pls, a gene closely associated with the mecA gene of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus, prevents bacterial adhesion in vitro. *Infect Immun* **69**, 3013-3020 (2001).
- 158. Sung, J.M., Lloyd, D.H. & Lindsay, J.A. Staphylococcus aureus host specificity: comparative genomics of human versus animal isolates by multi-strain microarray. *Microbiology (Reading)* **154**, 1949-1959 (2008).
- 159. Roche, F.M., Meehan, M. & Foster, T.J. The Staphylococcus aureus surface protein SasG and its homologues promote bacterial adherence to human desquamated nasal epithelial cells. *Microbiology (Reading)* **149**, 2759-2767 (2003).
- 160. Corrigan, R.M., Rigby, D., Handley, P. & Foster, T.J. The role of Staphylococcus aureus surface protein SasG in adherence and biofilm formation. *Microbiology (Reading)* **153**, 2435-2446 (2007).
- 161. Bateman, A., Holden, M.T. & Yeats, C. The G5 domain: a potential N-acetylglucosamine recognition domain involved in biofilm formation. *Bioinformatics* **21**, 1301-1303 (2005).
- 162. Conrady, D.G. *et al.* A zinc-dependent adhesion module is responsible for intercellular adhesion in staphylococcal biofilms. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **105**, 19456-19461 (2008).
- 163. Formosa-Dague, C., Speziale, P., Foster, T.J., Geoghegan, J.A. & Dufrêne, Y.F. Zincdependent mechanical properties of Staphylococcus aureus biofilm-forming surface protein SasG. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **113**, 410-415 (2016).
- 164. Geoghegan, J.A. *et al.* Role of surface protein SasG in biofilm formation by Staphylococcus aureus. *J Bacteriol* **192**, 5663-5673 (2010).
- 165. DeDent, A., Bae, T., Missiakas, D.M. & Schneewind, O. Signal peptides direct surface proteins to two distinct envelope locations of Staphylococcus aureus. *EMBO J* 27, 2656-2668 (2008).
- 166. Ythier, M. *et al.* Proteomic and transcriptomic profiling of Staphylococcus aureus surface LPXTG-proteins: correlation with agr genotypes and adherence phenotypes. *Mol Cell Proteomics* **11**, 1123-1139 (2012).
- 167. Smyth, D.S. *et al.* Molecular genetic typing reveals further insights into the diversity of animal-associated Staphylococcus aureus. *J Med Microbiol* **58**, 1343-1353 (2009).
- 168. Robinson, D.A. & Enright, M.C. Evolutionary models of the emergence of methicillinresistant Staphylococcus aureus. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* **47**, 3926-3934 (2003).
- 169. McCarthy, A.J. & Lindsay, J.A. Genetic variation in Staphylococcus aureus surface and immune evasion genes is lineage associated: implications for vaccine design and host-pathogen interactions. *BMC Microbiol* **10**, 173 (2010).

- 170. Ganesh, V.K. *et al.* Lessons from the Crystal Structure of the S. aureus Surface Protein Clumping Factor A in Complex With Tefibazumab, an Inhibiting Monoclonal Antibody. *EBioMedicine* **13**, 328-338 (2016).
- 171. Viljoen, A. *et al.* Staphylococcus aureus vWF-binding protein triggers a strong interaction between clumping factor A and host vWF. *Commun Biol* **4**, 453 (2021).
- 172. Pidwill, G.R., Gibson, J.F., Cole, J., Renshaw, S.A. & Foster, S.J. The Role of Macrophages in. *Front Immunol* **11**, 620339 (2020).
- 173. Ganesh, V.K. *et al.* Structural and biochemical characterization of Staphylococcus aureus clumping factor B/ligand interactions. *J Biol Chem* **286**, 25963-25972 (2011).
- 174. Ying, Y.T. et al. Annexin A2-Mediated Internalization of. Microorganisms 9 (2021).
- 175. Zhang, Y. *et al.* SdrE captures complement factor H's C-terminus via a novel 'close, dock, lock and latch' mechanism for complement evasion. *Biochem J* **474**, 1619-1631 (2017).
- 176. Hair, P.S. *et al.* Complement regulator C4BP binds to Staphylococcus aureus and decreases opsonization. *Mol Immunol* **50**, 253-261 (2012).
- 177. Zhang, X. *et al.* Crystal structures of Bbp from Staphylococcus aureus reveal the ligand binding mechanism with Fibrinogen α. *Protein Cell* **6**, 757-766 (2015).
- 178. Schwarz-Linek, U. *et al.* Pathogenic bacteria attach to human fibronectin through a tandem beta-zipper. *Nature* **423**, 177-181 (2003).
- 179. Buck, A.W. *et al.* Bonds between fibronectin and fibronectin-binding proteins on Staphylococcus aureus and Lactococcus lactis. *Langmuir* **26**, 10764-10770 (2010).
- 180. Heilmann, C. *et al.* Staphylococcus aureus fibronectin-binding protein (FnBP)-mediated adherence to platelets, and aggregation of platelets induced by FnBPA but not by FnBPB. *J Infect Dis* **190**, 321-329 (2004).
- 181. Symersky, J. *et al.* Structure of the collagen-binding domain from a Staphylococcus aureus adhesin. *Nat Struct Biol* **4**, 833-838 (1997).
- 182. Zong, Y. *et al.* A 'Collagen Hug' model for Staphylococcus aureus CNA binding to collagen. *EMBO J* 24, 4224-4236 (2005).
- 183. Kang, M. *et al.* Collagen-binding microbial surface components recognizing adhesive matrix molecule (MSCRAMM) of Gram-positive bacteria inhibit complement activation via the classical pathway. *J Biol Chem* **288**, 20520-20531 (2013).

- 184. Valotteau, C. *et al.* Single-Cell and Single-Molecule Analysis Unravels the Multifunctionality of the Staphylococcus aureus Collagen-Binding Protein Cna. ACS Nano 11, 2160-2170 (2017).
- 185. Lopes, J.D., dos Reis, M. & Brentani, R.R. Presence of laminin receptors in Staphylococcus aureus. *Science* 229, 275-277 (1985).
- 186. Vermeiren, C.L., Pluym, M., Mack, J., Heinrichs, D.E. & Stillman, M.J. Characterization of the heme binding properties of Staphylococcus aureus IsdA. *Biochemistry* **45**, 12867-12875 (2006).
- 187. Grigg, J.C., Vermeiren, C.L., Heinrichs, D.E. & Murphy, M.E. Haem recognition by a Staphylococcus aureus NEAT domain. *Mol Microbiol* **63**, 139-149 (2007).
- 188. Clarke, S.R. *et al.* Identification of in vivo-expressed antigens of Staphylococcus aureus and their use in vaccinations for protection against nasal carriage. *J Infect Dis* **193**, 1098-1108 (2006).
- 189. Clarke, S.R., Wiltshire, M.D. & Foster, S.J. IsdA of Staphylococcus aureus is a broad spectrum, iron-regulated adhesin. *Mol Microbiol* **51**, 1509-1519 (2004).
- 190. Clarke, S.R. *et al.* Iron-regulated surface determinant protein A mediates adhesion of Staphylococcus aureus to human corneocyte envelope proteins. *Infect Immun* 77, 2408-2416 (2009).
- 191. Clarke, S.R. & Foster, S.J. IsdA protects Staphylococcus aureus against the bactericidal protease activity of apolactoferrin. *Infect Immun* **76**, 1518-1526 (2008).
- 192. Clarke, S.R. *et al.* The Staphylococcus aureus surface protein IsdA mediates resistance to innate defenses of human skin. *Cell Host Microbe* **1**, 199-212 (2007).
- 193. Dryla, A. *et al.* High-affinity binding of the staphylococcal HarA protein to haptoglobin and hemoglobin involves a domain with an antiparallel eight-stranded beta-barrel fold. *J Bacteriol* **189**, 254-264 (2007).
- 194. Pishchany, G. *et al.* IsdB-dependent hemoglobin binding is required for acquisition of heme by Staphylococcus aureus. *J Infect Dis* **209**, 1764-1772 (2014).
- 195. Dryla, A., Gelbmann, D., von Gabain, A. & Nagy, E. Identification of a novel iron regulated staphylococcal surface protein with haptoglobin-haemoglobin binding activity. *Mol Microbiol* **49**, 37-53 (2003).
- 196. Pilpa, R.M. *et al.* Functionally distinct NEAT (NEAr Transporter) domains within the Staphylococcus aureus IsdH/HarA protein extract heme from methemoglobin. *J Biol Chem* **284**, 1166-1176 (2009).

- 197. Sæderup, K.L. *et al.* The Staphylococcus aureus Protein IsdH Inhibits Host Hemoglobin Scavenging to Promote Heme Acquisition by the Pathogen. *J Biol Chem* **291**, 23989-23998 (2016).
- 198. Pilpa, R.M. *et al.* Solution structure of the NEAT (NEAr Transporter) domain from IsdH/HarA: the human hemoglobin receptor in Staphylococcus aureus. *J Mol Biol* **360**, 435-447 (2006).
- 199. Dickson, C.F. *et al.* Structure of the hemoglobin-IsdH complex reveals the molecular basis of iron capture by Staphylococcus aureus. *J Biol Chem* **289**, 6728-6738 (2014).
- 200. Dickson, C.F., Jacques, D.A., Clubb, R.T., Guss, J.M. & Gell, D.A. The structure of haemoglobin bound to the haemoglobin receptor IsdH from Staphylococcus aureus shows disruption of the native α-globin haem pocket. *Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr* 71, 1295-1306 (2015).
- 201. Ellis-Guardiola, K. *et al.* The Staphylococcus aureus IsdH Receptor Forms a Dynamic Complex with Human Hemoglobin that Triggers Heme Release via Two Distinct Hot Spots. *J Mol Biol* **432**, 1064-1082 (2020).
- 202. Krishna Kumar, K. *et al.* Structural basis for hemoglobin capture by Staphylococcus aureus cell-surface protein, IsdH. *J Biol Chem* **286**, 38439-38447 (2011).
- 203. Spirig, T. *et al.* Staphylococcus aureus uses a novel multidomain receptor to break apart human hemoglobin and steal its heme. *J Biol Chem* **288**, 1065-1078 (2013).
- 204. Watanabe, M. *et al.* Structural basis for multimeric heme complexation through a specific protein-heme interaction: the case of the third neat domain of IsdH from Staphylococcus aureus. *J Biol Chem* **283**, 28649-28659 (2008).
- 205. Visai, L. *et al.* Immune evasion by Staphylococcus aureus conferred by iron-regulated surface determinant protein IsdH. *Microbiology (Reading)* **155**, 667-679 (2009).
- 206. Deisenhofer, J. Crystallographic refinement and atomic models of a human Fc fragment and its complex with fragment B of protein A from Staphylococcus aureus at 2.9- and 2.8- A resolution. *Biochemistry* **20**, 2361-2370 (1981).
- 207. Cedergren, L., Andersson, R., Jansson, B., Uhlén, M. & Nilsson, B. Mutational analysis of the interaction between staphylococcal protein A and human IgG1. *Protein Eng* **6**, 441-448 (1993).
- 208. Forsgren, A. & Sjöquist, J. "Protein A" from S. aureus. I. Pseudo-immune reaction with human gamma-globulin. *J Immunol* **97**, 822-827 (1966).
- 209. Moks, T. *et al.* Staphylococcal protein A consists of five IgG-binding domains. *Eur J Biochem* **156**, 637-643 (1986).

- 210. Sjodahl, J. Repetitive sequences in protein A from Staphylococcus aureus. Arrangement of five regions within the protein, four being highly homologous and Fc-binding. *Eur J Biochem* **73**, 343-351 (1977).
- 211. Jansson, B., Uhlén, M. & Nygren, P.A. All individual domains of staphylococcal protein A show Fab binding. *FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol* **20**, 69-78 (1998).
- 212. Peterson, P.K., Verhoef, J., Sabath, L.D. & Quie, P.G. Effect of protein A on staphylococcal opsonization. *Infect Immun* **15**, 760-764 (1977).
- 213. Harboe, M. & Fölling, I. Recognition of two distinct groups of human IgM and IgA based on different binding to staphylococci. *Scand J Immunol* **3**, 471-482 (1974).
- 214. Sasso, E.H., Silverman, G.J. & Mannik, M. Human IgA and IgG F(ab')2 that bind to staphylococcal protein A belong to the VHIII subgroup. *J Immunol* **147**, 1877-1883 (1991).
- 215. Graille, M. *et al.* Crystal structure of a Staphylococcus aureus protein A domain complexed with the Fab fragment of a human IgM antibody: structural basis for recognition of B-cell receptors and superantigen activity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **97**, 5399-5404 (2000).
- 216. Sasso, E.H., Silverman, G.J. & Mannik, M. Human IgM molecules that bind staphylococcal protein A contain VHIII H chains. *J Immunol* **142**, 2778-2783 (1989).
- 217. Sasano, M., Burton, D.R. & Silverman, G.J. Molecular selection of human antibodies with an unconventional bacterial B cell antigen. *J Immunol* **151**, 5822-5839 (1993).
- 218. Inganäs, M., Johansson, S.G. & Bennich, H.H. Interaction of human polyclonal IgE and IgG from different species with protein A from Staphylococcus aureus: demonstration of protein-A-reactive sites located in the Fab'2 fragment of human IgG. *Scand J Immunol* 12, 23-31 (1980).
- 219. Inganäs, M. Comparison of mechanisms of interaction between protein A from Staphylococcus aureus and human monoclonal IgG, IgA and IgM in relation to the classical FC gamma and the alternative F(ab')2 epsilon protein A interactions. *Scand J Immunol* 13, 343-352 (1981).
- 220. Roben, P.W., Salem, A.N. & Silverman, G.J. VH3 family antibodies bind domain D of staphylococcal protein A. *J Immunol* **154**, 6437-6445 (1995).
- 221. Hillson, J.L., Karr, N.S., Oppliger, I.R., Mannik, M. & Sasso, E.H. The structural basis of germline-encoded VH3 immunoglobulin binding to staphylococcal protein A. *J Exp Med* 178, 331-336 (1993).

- 222. Silverman, G.J., Sasano, M. & Wormsley, S.B. Age-associated changes in binding of human B lymphocytes to a VH3-restricted unconventional bacterial antigen. *J Immunol* **151**, 5840-5855 (1993).
- 223. Silverman, G.J. & Goodyear, C.S. Confounding B-cell defences: lessons from a staphylococcal superantigen. *Nat Rev Immunol* **6**, 465-475 (2006).
- 224. Goodyear, C.S. & Silverman, G.J. Staphylococcal toxin induced preferential and prolonged in vivo deletion of innate-like B lymphocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **101**, 11392-11397 (2004).
- 225. O'Seaghdha, M. *et al.* Staphylococcus aureus protein A binding to von Willebrand factor A1 domain is mediated by conserved IgG binding regions. *FEBS J* **273**, 4831-4841 (2006).
- 226. Hartleib, J. *et al.* Protein A is the von Willebrand factor binding protein on Staphylococcus aureus. *Blood* **96**, 2149-2156 (2000).
- 227. Herrmann, M. *et al.* Interaction of von Willebrand factor with Staphylococcus aureus. J Infect Dis **176**, 984-991 (1997).
- 228. Viela, F. *et al.* Binding of. *mBio* **10** (2019).
- 229. Pappelbaum, K.I. *et al.* Ultralarge von Willebrand factor fibers mediate luminal Staphylococcus aureus adhesion to an intact endothelial cell layer under shear stress. *Circulation* **128**, 50-59 (2013).
- 230. Pawar, P., Shin, P.K., Mousa, S.A., Ross, J.M. & Konstantopoulos, K. Fluid shear regulates the kinetics and receptor specificity of Staphylococcus aureus binding to activated platelets. *J Immunol* **173**, 1258-1265 (2004).
- 231. Pendas, S. et al. SpAD Biofunctionalized Cellulose Acetate Scaffolds Inhibit. J Funct Biomater 13 (2022).
- 232. Gómez, M.I. *et al.* Staphylococcus aureus protein A induces airway epithelial inflammatory responses by activating TNFR1. *Nat Med* **10**, 842-848 (2004).
- Gómez, M.I., O'Seaghdha, M., Magargee, M., Foster, T.J. & Prince, A.S. Staphylococcus aureus protein A activates TNFR1 signaling through conserved IgG binding domains. J Biol Chem 281, 20190-20196 (2006).
- 234. Gómez, M.I. *et al.* Bacterial induction of TNF-alpha converting enzyme expression and IL-6 receptor alpha shedding regulates airway inflammatory signaling. *J Immunol* **175**, 1930-1936 (2005).
- 235. Gómez, M.I., Seaghdha, M.O. & Prince, A.S. Staphylococcus aureus protein A activates TACE through EGFR-dependent signaling. *EMBO J* 26, 701-709 (2007).

- 236. Martin, F.J. *et al.* Staphylococcus aureus activates type I IFN signaling in mice and humans through the Xr repeated sequences of protein A. *J Clin Invest* **119**, 1931-1939 (2009).
- 237. Clark, E.A. *et al.* A structural basis for Staphylococcal complement subversion: X-ray structure of the complement-binding domain of Staphylococcus aureus protein Sbi in complex with ligand C3d. *Mol Immunol* **48**, 452-462 (2011).
- 238. Kuroda, M. *et al.* Staphylococcus aureus surface protein SasG contributes to intercellular autoaggregation of Staphylococcus aureus. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **377**, 1102-1106 (2008).
- 239. Hildén, P., Savolainen, K., Tyynelä, J., Vuento, M. & Kuusela, P. Purification and characterisation of a plasmin-sensitive surface protein of Staphylococcus aureus. *Eur J Biochem* **236**, 904-910 (1996).
- 240. Kuusela, P. *et al.* Rapid detection of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus strains not identified by slide agglutination tests. *J Clin Microbiol* **32**, 143-147 (1994).
- 241. Bleiziffer, I. *et al.* The Plasmin-Sensitive Protein Pls in Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) Is a Glycoprotein. *PLoS Pathog* **13**, e1006110 (2017).
- 242. Thammavongsa, V., Kern, J.W., Missiakas, D.M. & Schneewind, O. Staphylococcus aureus synthesizes adenosine to escape host immune responses. *J Exp Med* **206**, 2417-2427 (2009).
- 243. Thammavongsa, V., Schneewind, O. & Missiakas, D.M. Enzymatic properties of Staphylococcus aureus adenosine synthase (AdsA). *BMC Biochem* **12**, 56 (2011).
- 244. Pernet, E. *et al.* Staphylococcus aureus Adenosine Inhibits sPLA2-IIA-Mediated Host Killing in the Airways. *J Immunol* **194**, 5312-5319 (2015).
- 245. Deng, J. *et al.* Adenosine synthase A contributes to recurrent Staphylococcus aureus infection by dampening protective immunity. *EBioMedicine* **70**, 103505 (2021).
- 246. Thammavongsa, V., Missiakas, D.M. & Schneewind, O. Staphylococcus aureus degrades neutrophil extracellular traps to promote immune cell death. *Science* **342**, 863-866 (2013).
- 247. Winstel, V., Schneewind, O. & Missiakas, D. Staphylococcus aureus Exploits the Host Apoptotic Pathway To Persist during Infection. *mBio* **10** (2019).
- 248. Yang, Y.H. *et al.* Structural insights into SraP-mediated Staphylococcus aureus adhesion to host cells. *PLoS Pathog* **10**, e1004169 (2014).

- 249. Siboo, I.R., Chambers, H.F. & Sullam, P.M. Role of SraP, a Serine-Rich Surface Protein of Staphylococcus aureus, in binding to human platelets. *Infect Immun* **73**, 2273-2280 (2005).
- 250. Kukita, K. *et al.* Staphylococcus aureus SasA is responsible for binding to the salivary agglutinin gp340, derived from human saliva. *Infect Immun* **81**, 1870-1879 (2013).
- 251. Li, M. *et al.* MRSA epidemic linked to a quickly spreading colonization and virulence determinant. *Nat Med* **18**, 816-819 (2012).
- 252. Schroeder, K. *et al.* Molecular characterization of a novel Staphylococcus aureus surface protein (SasC) involved in cell aggregation and biofilm accumulation. *PLoS One* **4**, e7567 (2009).
- 253. Kenny, J.G. *et al.* The Staphylococcus aureus response to unsaturated long chain free fatty acids: survival mechanisms and virulence implications. *PLoS One* **4**, e4344 (2009).
- 254. Lei, M.G., Gupta, R.K. & Lee, C.Y. Proteomics of Staphylococcus aureus biofilm matrix in a rat model of orthopedic implant-associated infection. *PLoS One* **12**, e0187981 (2017).
- 255. Pizauro, L.J.L. *et al.* Genomic comparisons and phylogenetic analysis of mastitis-related staphylococci with a focus on adhesion, biofilm, and related regulatory genes. *Sci Rep* **11**, 17392 (2021).
- 256. Jenkins, A. *et al.* Differential expression and roles of Staphylococcus aureus virulence determinants during colonization and disease. *mBio* **6**, e02272-02214 (2015).
- 257. van Kessel, K.P., Bestebroer, J. & van Strijp, J.A. Neutrophil-Mediated Phagocytosis of Staphylococcus aureus. *Front Immunol* **5**, 467 (2014).
- 258. Sarma, J.V. & Ward, P.A. The complement system. Cell Tissue Res 343, 227-235 (2011).
- 259. Laarman, A.J. *et al.* Staphylococcus aureus metalloprotease aureolysin cleaves complement C3 to mediate immune evasion. *J Immunol* **186**, 6445-6453 (2011).
- 260. McGuinness, W.A., Kobayashi, S.D. & DeLeo, F.R. Evasion of Neutrophil Killing by Staphylococcus aureus. *Pathogens* **5** (2016).
- 261. Uribe-Querol, E. & Rosales, C. Phagocytosis: Our Current Understanding of a Universal Biological Process. *Front Immunol* **11**, 1066 (2020).
- Leseigneur, C., Lê-Bury, P., Pizarro-Cerdá, J. & Dussurget, O. Emerging Evasion Mechanisms of Macrophage Defenses by Pathogenic Bacteria. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol* 10, 577559 (2020).

- 263. Gresham, H.D. *et al.* Survival of Staphylococcus aureus inside neutrophils contributes to infection. *J Immunol* **164**, 3713-3722 (2000).
- 264. Nasser, A. *et al.* Staphylococcus aureus versus neutrophil: Scrutiny of ancient combat. *Microb Pathog* **131**, 259-269 (2019).
- 265. de Jong, N.W.M., van Kessel, K.P.M. & van Strijp, J.A.G. Immune Evasion by. *Microbiol Spectr* **7** (2019).
- 266. Monteith, A.J., Miller, J.M., Maxwell, C.N., Chazin, W.J. & Skaar, E.P. Neutrophil extracellular traps enhance macrophage killing of bacterial pathogens. *Sci Adv* 7, eabj2101 (2021).
- 267. Flannagan, R.S., Heit, B. & Heinrichs, D.E. Antimicrobial Mechanisms of Macrophages and the Immune Evasion Strategies of Staphylococcus aureus. *Pathogens* **4**, 826-868 (2015).
- 268. Cohen, T.S. *et al.* S. aureus Evades Macrophage Killing through NLRP3-Dependent Effects on Mitochondrial Trafficking. *Cell Rep* **22**, 2431-2441 (2018).
- 269. Flannagan, R.S., Heit, B. & Heinrichs, D.E. Intracellular replication of Staphylococcus aureus in mature phagolysosomes in macrophages precedes host cell death, and bacterial escape and dissemination. *Cell Microbiol* **18**, 514-535 (2016).
- 270. Cohen, T.S. *et al.* Staphylococcus aureus α toxin potentiates opportunistic bacterial lung infections. *Sci Transl Med* **8**, 329ra331 (2016).
- 271. Thurlow, L.R. *et al.* Staphylococcus aureus biofilms prevent macrophage phagocytosis and attenuate inflammation in vivo. *J Immunol* **186**, 6585-6596 (2011).
- 272. Grousd, J.A., Rich, H.E. & Alcorn, J.F. Host-Pathogen Interactions in Gram-Positive Bacterial Pneumonia. *Clin Microbiol Rev* **32** (2019).
- 273. HAUSMANN, W. & KARLISH, A.J. Staphylococcal pneumonia in adults. *Br Med J* **2**, 845-847 (1956).
- 274. Bradley, S.F. Staphylococcus aureus pneumonia: emergence of MRSA in the community. *Semin Respir Crit Care Med* **26**, 643-649 (2005).
- 275. Kaye, M.G., Fox, M.J., Bartlett, J.G., Braman, S.S. & Glassroth, J. The clinical spectrum of Staphylococcus aureus pulmonary infection. *Chest* **97**, 788-792 (1990).
- 276. Craven, D.E., Barber, T.W., Steger, K.A. & Montecalvo, M.A. Nosocomial pneumonia in the 1990s: update of epidemiology and risk factors. *Semin Respir Infect* 5, 157-172 (1990).

- 277. Jarvis, W.R. & Martone, W.J. Predominant pathogens in hospital infections. *J Antimicrob Chemother* **29 Suppl A**, 19-24 (1992).
- 278. Craven, D.E., Steger, K.A. & Barber, T.W. Preventing nosocomial pneumonia: state of the art and perspectives for the 1990s. *Am J Med* **91**, 44S-53S (1991).
- 279. Horan, T. *et al.* Pathogens causing nosocomial infections preliminary data from the national nosocomial infections surveillance system. *Antimicrobic Newsletter* **5**, 65-67 (1988).
- 280. Fagon, J.Y., Maillet, J.M. & Novara, A. Hospital-acquired pneumonia: methicillin resistance and intensive care unit admission. *Am J Med* **104**, 17S-23S (1998).
- 281. Spencer, R.C. Predominant pathogens found in the European Prevalence of Infection in Intensive Care Study. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis* **15**, 281-285 (1996).
- 282. González, C., Rubio, M., Romero-Vivas, J., González, M. & Picazo, J.J. Bacteremic pneumonia due to Staphylococcus aureus: A comparison of disease caused by methicillin-resistant and methicillin-susceptible organisms. *Clin Infect Dis* **29**, 1171-1177 (1999).
- 283. Trouillet, J.L. *et al.* Ventilator-associated pneumonia caused by potentially drug-resistant bacteria. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* **157**, 531-539 (1998).
- 284. Rello, J. *et al.* Ventilator-associated pneumonia by Staphylococcus aureus. Comparison of methicillin-resistant and methicillin-sensitive episodes. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* **150**, 1545-1549 (1994).
- 285. Rello, J. *et al.* Pneumonia caused by oxacillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus treated with glycopeptides. *Crit Care Med* **33**, 1983-1987 (2005).
- 286. Jernigan, J.A. *et al.* Control of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus at a university hospital: one decade later. *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol* **16**, 686-696 (1995).
- 287. Weber, D.J., Raasch, R. & Rutala, W.A. Nosocomial infections in the ICU: the growing importance of antibiotic-resistant pathogens. *Chest* **115**, 34S-41S (1999).
- System, N. National Nosocomial Infections Surveillance (NNIS) System Report, data summary from January 1992 through June 2003, issued August 2003. *Am J Infect Control* 31, 481-498 (2003).
- 289. Noskin, G.A. *et al.* The burden of Staphylococcus aureus infections on hospitals in the United States: an analysis of the 2000 and 2001 Nationwide Inpatient Sample Database. *Arch Intern Med* **165**, 1756-1761 (2005).

- 290. (CDC), C.f.D.C.a.P. Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus skin or soft tissue infections in a state prison--Mississippi, 2000. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep* **50**, 919-922 (2001).
- 291. (CDC), C.f.D.C.a.P. Outbreaks of community-associated methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus skin infections--Los Angeles County, California, 2002-2003. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep* **52**, 88 (2003).
- 292. Seybold, U. *et al.* Emergence of community-associated methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus USA300 genotype as a major cause of health care-associated blood stream infections. *Clin Infect Dis* **42**, 647-656 (2006).
- 293. Layton, M.C., Hierholzer, W.J. & Patterson, J.E. The evolving epidemiology of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus at a university hospital. *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol* **16**, 12-17 (1995).
- 294. Kowalski, T.J., Berbari, E.F. & Osmon, D.R. Epidemiology, treatment, and prevention of community-acquired methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus infections. *Mayo Clin Proc* **80**, 1201-1207; quiz 1208 (2005).
- 295. Francis, J.S. *et al.* Severe community-onset pneumonia in healthy adults caused by methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus carrying the Panton-Valentine leukocidin genes. *Clin Infect Dis* **40**, 100-107 (2005).
- 296. Micek, S.T., Dunne, M. & Kollef, M.H. Pleuropulmonary complications of Panton-Valentine leukocidin-positive community-acquired methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus: importance of treatment with antimicrobials inhibiting exotoxin production. *Chest* **128**, 2732-2738 (2005).
- 297. Gonzalez, B.E. *et al.* Pulmonary manifestations in children with invasive communityacquired Staphylococcus aureus infection. *Clin Infect Dis* **41**, 583-590 (2005).
- 298. Kollef, M.H. & Micek, S.T. Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus: a new community-acquired pathogen? *Curr Opin Infect Dis* **19**, 161-168 (2006).
- 299. File, T.M. Community-associated methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureas: not only a cause of skin infections, also a new cause of pneumonia. *Curr Opin Infect Dis* **18**, 123-124 (2005).
- 300. Frazee, B.W., Salz, T.O., Lambert, L. & Perdreau-Remington, F. Fatal communityassociated methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus pneumonia in an immunocompetent young adult. *Ann Emerg Med* **46**, 401-404 (2005).
- 301. Boussaud, V. *et al.* Life-threatening hemoptysis in adults with community-acquired pneumonia due to Panton-Valentine leukocidin-secreting Staphylococcus aureus. *Intensive Care Med* **29**, 1840-1843 (2003).

- 302. Peleg, A.Y. & Munckhof, W.J. Fatal necrotising pneumonia due to community-acquired methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA). *Med J Aust* **181**, 228-229 (2004).
- 303. Boyle-Vavra, S. & Daum, R.S. Community-acquired methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus: the role of Panton-Valentine leukocidin. *Lab Invest* **87**, 3-9 (2007).
- 304. Gillet, Y. *et al.* Association between Staphylococcus aureus strains carrying gene for Panton-Valentine leukocidin and highly lethal necrotising pneumonia in young immunocompetent patients. *Lancet* **359**, 753-759 (2002).
- 305. Lina, G. *et al.* Involvement of Panton-Valentine leukocidin-producing Staphylococcus aureus in primary skin infections and pneumonia. *Clin Infect Dis* **29**, 1128-1132 (1999).
- 306. Hidron, A.I., Low, C.E., Honig, E.G. & Blumberg, H.M. Emergence of communityacquired meticillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus strain USA300 as a cause of necrotising community-onset pneumonia. *Lancet Infect Dis* **9**, 384-392 (2009).
- 307. Karampela, I., Poulakou, G. & Dimopoulos, G. Community acquired methicillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus pneumonia: an update for the emergency and intensive care physician. *Minerva Anestesiol* **78**, 930-940 (2012).
- Gillet, Y. *et al.* Factors predicting mortality in necrotizing community-acquired pneumonia caused by Staphylococcus aureus containing Panton-Valentine leukocidin. *Clin Infect Dis* 45, 315-321 (2007).
- 309. Hageman, J.C. *et al.* Severe community-acquired pneumonia due to Staphylococcus aureus, 2003-04 influenza season. *Emerg Infect Dis* **12**, 894-899 (2006).
- 310. Rice, T.W. *et al.* Critical illness from 2009 pandemic influenza A virus and bacterial coinfection in the United States. *Crit Care Med* **40**, 1487-1498 (2012).
- 311. Vardakas, K.Z., Matthaiou, D.K. & Falagas, M.E. Incidence, characteristics and outcomes of patients with severe community acquired-MRSA pneumonia. *Eur Respir J* **34**, 1148-1158 (2009).
- 312. Vlaeminck, J. *et al.* Exploring Virulence Factors and Alternative Therapies against. *Toxins* (*Basel*) **12** (2020).
- 313. Pivard, M., Moreau, K. & Vandenesch, F. Staphylococcus aureus Arsenal To Conquer the Lower Respiratory Tract. *mSphere* **6** (2021).
- 314. Parker, D. & Prince, A. Immunopathogenesis of Staphylococcus aureus pulmonary infection. *Semin Immunopathol* **34**, 281-297 (2012).

- 315. Morgan, M.S. Diagnosis and treatment of Panton-Valentine leukocidin (PVL)-associated staphylococcal pneumonia. *Int J Antimicrob Agents* **30**, 289-296 (2007).
- 316. Baldwin, L.N. & Lowe, A.D. Panton-Valentine Leukocidin associated with community acquired methicillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus: a case report and review of interim guidelines. *Anaesthesia* **63**, 764-766 (2008).
- 317. Lo, W.T. & Wang, C.C. Panton-Valentine leukocidin in the pathogenesis of communityassociated methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus infection. *Pediatr Neonatol* **52**, 59-65 (2011).
- 318. Spaan, A.N. *et al.* The staphylococcal toxin Panton-Valentine Leukocidin targets human C5a receptors. *Cell Host Microbe* **13**, 584-594 (2013).
- 319. Genestier, A.L. *et al.* Staphylococcus aureus Panton-Valentine leukocidin directly targets mitochondria and induces Bax-independent apoptosis of human neutrophils. *J Clin Invest* **115**, 3117-3127 (2005).
- 320. Holzinger, D. *et al.* Staphylococcus aureus Panton-Valentine leukocidin induces an inflammatory response in human phagocytes via the NLRP3 inflammasome. *J Leukoc Biol* **92**, 1069-1081 (2012).
- 321. Chow, S.H. *et al.* Targeting NLRP3 and Staphylococcal pore-forming toxin receptors in human-induced pluripotent stem cell-derived macrophages. *J Leukoc Biol* **108**, 967-981 (2020).
- 322. Löffler, B. *et al.* Staphylococcus aureus panton-valentine leukocidin is a very potent cytotoxic factor for human neutrophils. *PLoS Pathog* **6**, e1000715 (2010).
- 323. Labandeira-Rey, M. *et al.* Staphylococcus aureus Panton-Valentine leukocidin causes necrotizing pneumonia. *Science* **315**, 1130-1133 (2007).
- 324. Bubeck Wardenburg, J., Palazzolo-Ballance, A.M., Otto, M., Schneewind, O. & DeLeo, F.R. Panton-Valentine leukocidin is not a virulence determinant in murine models of community-associated methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus disease. *J Infect Dis* 198, 1166-1170 (2008).
- 325. Montgomery, C.P. & Daum, R.S. Transcription of inflammatory genes in the lung after infection with community-associated methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus: a role for panton-valentine leukocidin? *Infect Immun* 77, 2159-2167 (2009).
- 326. Prince, A., Wang, H., Kitur, K. & Parker, D. Humanized Mice Exhibit Increased Susceptibility to Staphylococcus aureus Pneumonia. *J Infect Dis* **215**, 1386-1395 (2017).
- 327. Zivkovic, A. *et al.* TLR 2 and CD14 mediate innate immunity and lung inflammation to staphylococcal Panton-Valentine leukocidin in vivo. *J Immunol* **186**, 1608-1617 (2011).

- 328. Huang, J., Zhang, T., Zou, X., Wu, S. & Zhu, J. Panton-valentine leucocidin carrying Staphylococcus aureus causing necrotizing pneumonia inactivates the JAK/STAT signaling pathway and increases the expression of inflammatory cytokines. *Infect Genet Evol* **86**, 104582 (2020).
- 329. Shallcross, L.J., Fragaszy, E., Johnson, A.M. & Hayward, A.C. The role of the Panton-Valentine leucocidin toxin in staphylococcal disease: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Lancet Infect Dis* **13**, 43-54 (2013).
- 330. Peyrani, P. *et al.* Severity of disease and clinical outcomes in patients with hospitalacquired pneumonia due to methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus strains not influenced by the presence of the Panton-Valentine leukocidin gene. *Clin Infect Dis* **53**, 766-771 (2011).
- 331. Sharma-Kuinkel, B.K. *et al.* Presence of genes encoding panton-valentine leukocidin is not the primary determinant of outcome in patients with hospital-acquired pneumonia due to Staphylococcus aureus. *J Clin Microbiol* **50**, 848-856 (2012).
- 332. Montgomery, C.P. *et al.* Comparison of virulence in community-associated methicillinresistant Staphylococcus aureus pulsotypes USA300 and USA400 in a rat model of pneumonia. *J Infect Dis* **198**, 561-570 (2008).
- 333. Song, L. *et al.* Structure of staphylococcal alpha-hemolysin, a heptameric transmembrane pore. *Science* **274**, 1859-1866 (1996).
- 334. Wilke, G.A. & Bubeck Wardenburg, J. Role of a disintegrin and metalloprotease 10 in Staphylococcus aureus alpha-hemolysin-mediated cellular injury. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **107**, 13473-13478 (2010).
- 335. Inoshima, I. *et al.* A Staphylococcus aureus pore-forming toxin subverts the activity of ADAM10 to cause lethal infection in mice. *Nat Med* **17**, 1310-1314 (2011).
- 336. Yun, Y.S. *et al.* Effects of alpha-toxin of Staphylococcus aureus on the ciliary activity and ultrastructure of human nasal ciliated epithelial cells. *Laryngoscope* **109**, 2021-2024 (1999).
- 337. Rose, F. *et al.* Mediator generation and signaling events in alveolar epithelial cells attacked by S. aureus alpha-toxin. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* **282**, L207-214 (2002).
- 338. Ziesemer, S. *et al.* Staphylococcus aureus α-Toxin Induces Actin Filament Remodeling in Human Airway Epithelial Model Cells. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* **58**, 482-491 (2018).
- 339. Seeger, W. *et al.* Staphylococcal alpha-toxin-induced vascular leakage in isolated perfused rabbit lungs. *Lab Invest* **63**, 341-349 (1990).

- 340. McElroy, M.C. *et al.* Alpha-toxin damages the air-blood barrier of the lung in a rat model of Staphylococcus aureus-induced pneumonia. *Infect Immun* **67**, 5541-5544 (1999).
- 341. Hermann, I. *et al.* Staphylococcus aureus hemolysin A disrupts cell-matrix adhesions in human airway epithelial cells. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* **52**, 14-24 (2015).
- 342. Phillips, J.R., Tripp, T.J., Regelmann, W.E., Schlievert, P.M. & Wangensteen, O.D. Staphylococcal alpha-toxin causes increased tracheal epithelial permeability. *Pediatr Pulmonol* **41**, 1146-1152 (2006).
- 343. Hook, J.L. *et al.* Disruption of staphylococcal aggregation protects against lethal lung injury. *J Clin Invest* **128**, 1074-1086 (2018).
- 344. Bubeck Wardenburg, J., Bae, T., Otto, M., Deleo, F.R. & Schneewind, O. Poring over pores: alpha-hemolysin and Panton-Valentine leukocidin in Staphylococcus aureus pneumonia. *Nat Med* **13**, 1405-1406 (2007).
- 345. Bartlett, A.H., Foster, T.J., Hayashida, A. & Park, P.W. Alpha-toxin facilitates the generation of CXC chemokine gradients and stimulates neutrophil homing in Staphylococcus aureus pneumonia. *J Infect Dis* **198**, 1529-1535 (2008).
- 346. Kebaier, C. *et al.* Staphylococcus aureus α-hemolysin mediates virulence in a murine model of severe pneumonia through activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome. *J Infect Dis* 205, 807-817 (2012).
- 347. Becker, R.E., Berube, B.J., Sampedro, G.R., DeDent, A.C. & Bubeck Wardenburg, J. Tissue-specific patterning of host innate immune responses by Staphylococcus aureus αtoxin. J Innate Immun 6, 619-631 (2014).
- 348. Bubeck Wardenburg, J. & Schneewind, O. Vaccine protection against Staphylococcus aureus pneumonia. *J Exp Med* **205**, 287-294 (2008).
- 349. Ragle, B.E. & Bubeck Wardenburg, J. Anti-alpha-hemolysin monoclonal antibodies mediate protection against Staphylococcus aureus pneumonia. *Infect Immun* **77**, 2712-2718 (2009).
- 350. Adhikari, R.P. *et al.* Novel structurally designed vaccine for S. aureus α-hemolysin: protection against bacteremia and pneumonia. *PLoS One* **7**, e38567 (2012).
- 351. Hua, L. *et al.* Assessment of an anti-alpha-toxin monoclonal antibody for prevention and treatment of Staphylococcus aureus-induced pneumonia. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* **58**, 1108-1117 (2014).
- 352. Hua, L. *et al.* MEDI4893\* Promotes Survival and Extends the Antibiotic Treatment Window in a Staphylococcus aureus Immunocompromised Pneumonia Model. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* **59**, 4526-4532 (2015).

- 353. Craven, R.R. *et al.* Staphylococcus aureus alpha-hemolysin activates the NLRP3-inflammasome in human and mouse monocytic cells. *PLoS One* **4**, e7446 (2009).
- 354. Muñoz-Planillo, R., Franchi, L., Miller, L.S. & Núñez, G. A critical role for hemolysins and bacterial lipoproteins in Staphylococcus aureus-induced activation of the Nlrp3 inflammasome. *J Immunol* **183**, 3942-3948 (2009).
- 355. Wu, S. & Huang, J. Resveratrol alleviates. Exp Ther Med 14, 6099-6104 (2017).
- 356. Kitur, K. *et al.* Toxin-induced necroptosis is a major mechanism of Staphylococcus aureus lung damage. *PLoS Pathog* **11**, e1004820 (2015).
- 357. von Hoven, G., Qin, Q., Neukirch, C., Husmann, M. & Hellmann, N. Staphylococcus aureus α-toxin: small pore, large consequences. *Biol Chem* **400**, 1261-1276 (2019).
- 358. González-Juarbe, N. *et al.* Pore-Forming Toxins Induce Macrophage Necroptosis during Acute Bacterial Pneumonia. *PLoS Pathog* **11**, e1005337 (2015).
- 359. Ghimire, L. *et al.* NLRP6 negatively regulates pulmonary host defense in Gram-positive bacterial infection through modulating neutrophil recruitment and function. *PLoS Pathog* **14**, e1007308 (2018).
- 360. Kitur, K. *et al.* Necroptosis Promotes Staphylococcus aureus Clearance by Inhibiting Excessive Inflammatory Signaling. *Cell Rep* **16**, 2219-2230 (2016).
- 361. Gross, G.N., Rehm, S.R., Toews, G.B., Hart, D.A. & Pierce, A.K. Lung clearance of Staphylococcus aureus strains with differing protein A content: protein A effect on in vivo clearance. *Infect Immun* **21**, 7-9 (1978).
- 362. Hsieh, S., Goldstein, E., Lippert, W. & Margulies, L. Effect of protein A on the antistaphylococcal defence mechanisms of the murine lung. *J Infect Dis* **138**, 754-759 (1978).
- 363. Goerke, C. *et al.* Direct quantitative transcript analysis of the agr regulon of Staphylococcus aureus during human infection in comparison to the expression profile in vitro. *Infect Immun* **68**, 1304-1311 (2000).
- 364. Soong, G. *et al.* Staphylococcus aureus protein A mediates invasion across airway epithelial cells through activation of RhoA GTPase signaling and proteolytic activity. *J Biol Chem* **286**, 35891-35898 (2011).
- 365. Otto, M. Phenol-soluble modulins. Int J Med Microbiol 304, 164-169 (2014).
- 366. Li, M. *et al.* Evolution of virulence in epidemic community-associated methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **106**, 5883-5888 (2009).

- 367. Kretschmer, D. *et al.* Human formyl peptide receptor 2 senses highly pathogenic Staphylococcus aureus. *Cell Host Microbe* 7, 463-473 (2010).
- 368. Zhou, Y. *et al.* Inhibiting PSMα-induced neutrophil necroptosis protects mice with MRSA pneumonia by blocking the agr system. *Cell Death Dis* **9**, 362 (2018).
- 369. Bloes, D.A. *et al.* Phenol-Soluble Modulin Peptides Contribute to Influenza A Virus-Associated Staphylococcus aureus Pneumonia. *Infect Immun* **85** (2017).
- 370. Giese, B. *et al.* Expression of  $\delta$ -toxin by Staphylococcus aureus mediates escape from phago-endosomes of human epithelial and endothelial cells in the presence of  $\beta$ -toxin. *Cell Microbiol* **13**, 316-329 (2011).
- 371. Grosz, M. *et al.* Cytoplasmic replication of Staphylococcus aureus upon phagosomal escape triggered by phenol-soluble modulin α. *Cell Microbiol* **16**, 451-465 (2014).
- 372. Perret, M. *et al.* Cross-talk between Staphylococcus aureus leukocidins-intoxicated macrophages and lung epithelial cells triggers chemokine secretion in an inflammasome-dependent manner. *Cell Microbiol* **14**, 1019-1036 (2012).
- 373. DOERY, H.M., MAGNUSSON, B.J., CHEYNE, I.M. & SULASEKHARAM, J. A phospholipase in staphylococcal toxin which hydrolyses sphingomyelin. *Nature* **198**, 1091-1092 (1963).
- 374. Walev, I., Weller, U., Strauch, S., Foster, T. & Bhakdi, S. Selective killing of human monocytes and cytokine release provoked by sphingomyelinase (beta-toxin) of Staphylococcus aureus. *Infect Immun* **64**, 2974-2979 (1996).
- 375. Huseby, M. *et al.* Structure and biological activities of beta-toxin from Staphylococcus aureus. *J Bacteriol* **189**, 8719-8726 (2007).
- 376. Marshall, M.J., Bohach, G.A. & Boehm, D.F. Characterization of Staphylococcus aureus beta-toxin induced leukotoxicity. *J Nat Toxins* **9**, 125-138 (2000).
- 377. Kim, C.S. *et al.* Effects of beta-toxin of Staphylococcus aureus on ciliary activity of nasal epithelial cells. *Laryngoscope* **110**, 2085-2088 (2000).
- 378. Hayashida, A., Bartlett, A.H., Foster, T.J. & Park, P.W. Staphylococcus aureus beta-toxin induces lung injury through syndecan-1. *Am J Pathol* **174**, 509-518 (2009).
- 379. Li, Q., Park, P.W., Wilson, C.L. & Parks, W.C. Matrilysin shedding of syndecan-1 regulates chemokine mobilization and transepithelial efflux of neutrophils in acute lung injury. *Cell* **111**, 635-646 (2002).
- 380. Skaar, E.P., Humayun, M., Bae, T., DeBord, K.L. & Schneewind, O. Iron-source preference of Staphylococcus aureus infections. *Science* **305**, 1626-1628 (2004).
- 381. Ventura, C.L., Higdon, R., Kolker, E., Skerrett, S.J. & Rubens, C.E. Host airway proteins interact with Staphylococcus aureus during early pneumonia. *Infect Immun* **76**, 888-898 (2008).
- 382. Torres, V.J. *et al.* Staphylococcus aureus fur regulates the expression of virulence factors that contribute to the pathogenesis of pneumonia. *Infect Immun* **78**, 1618-1628 (2010).
- 383. DeMaria, T.F. & Kapral, F.A. Pulmonary infection of mice with Staphylococcus aureus. *Infect Immun* **21**, 114-123 (1978).
- 384. Mason, W.J. & Skaar, E.P. Assessing the contribution of heme-iron acquisition to Staphylococcus aureus pneumonia using computed tomography. *PLoS One* **4**, e6668 (2009).
- 385. Johnson, M. *et al.* Fur is required for the activation of virulence gene expression through the induction of the sae regulatory system in Staphylococcus aureus. *Int J Med Microbiol* **301**, 44-52 (2011).
- 386. Weidenmaier, C., Goerke, C. & Wolz, C. Staphylococcus aureus determinants for nasal colonization. *Trends Microbiol* **20**, 243-250 (2012).
- 387. Mulcahy, M.E. & McLoughlin, R.M. Host-Bacterial Crosstalk Determines Staphylococcus aureus Nasal Colonization. *Trends Microbiol* **24**, 872-886 (2016).
- 388. Bubeck Wardenburg, J., Patel, R.J. & Schneewind, O. Surface proteins and exotoxins are required for the pathogenesis of Staphylococcus aureus pneumonia. *Infect Immun* **75**, 1040-1044 (2007).
- 389. Wang, L. *et al.* Orientin mediates protection against MRSA-induced pneumonia by inhibiting Sortase A. *Virulence* **12**, 2149-2161 (2021).
- 390. Wang, L. *et al.* Eriodictyol as a Potential Candidate Inhibitor of Sortase A Protects Mice From Methicillin-Resistant. *Front Microbiol* **12**, 635710 (2021).
- 391. Wang, L. *et al.* Taxifolin, an Inhibitor of Sortase A, Interferes With the Adhesion of Methicillin-Resistant. *Front Microbiol* **12**, 686864 (2021).
- 392. Wang, X. *et al.* Scutellarin potentiates vancomycin against lethal pneumonia caused by methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus through dual inhibition of sortase A and caseinolytic peptidase P. *Biochem Pharmacol* **199**, 114982 (2022).

- 393. Sharma-Kuinkel, B.K. *et al.* Associations of pathogen-specific and host-specific characteristics with disease outcome in patients with. *Clin Transl Immunology* **8**, e01070 (2019).
- 394. Liu, Q. *et al.* Targeting surface protein SasX by active and passive vaccination to reduce Staphylococcus aureus colonization and infection. *Infect Immun* **83**, 2168-2174 (2015).
- 395. Yang, L. *et al.* Protective efficacy of the chimeric Staphylococcus aureus vaccine candidate IC in sepsis and pneumonia models. *Sci Rep* **6**, 20929 (2016).
- 396. Tkaczyk, C. *et al.* Targeting Alpha-toxin and ClfA with a Multimechanistic Monoclonal-Antibody-Based Approach for Prophylaxis of Serious Staphylococcus aureus Disease. *mBio* 7 (2016).
- 397. Prevaes, S.M. *et al.* Nasopharyngeal colonization elicits antibody responses to staphylococcal and pneumococcal proteins that are not associated with a reduced risk of subsequent carriage. *Infect Immun* **80**, 2186-2193 (2012).
- 398. Mongodin, E. *et al.* Fibronectin-binding proteins of Staphylococcus aureus are involved in adherence to human airway epithelium. *Infect Immun* **70**, 620-630 (2002).
- 399. McElroy, M.C., Cain, D.J., Tyrrell, C., Foster, T.J. & Haslett, C. Increased virulence of a fibronectin-binding protein mutant of Staphylococcus aureus in a rat model of pneumonia. *Infect Immun* **70**, 3865-3873 (2002).
- 400. Fahy, J.V. & Dickey, B.F. Airway mucus function and dysfunction. *N Engl J Med* **363**, 2233-2247 (2010).
- 401. Button, B. *et al.* A periciliary brush promotes the lung health by separating the mucus layer from airway epithelia. *Science* **337**, 937-941 (2012).
- 402. Roy, M.G. et al. Muc5b is required for airway defence. Nature 505, 412-416 (2014).
- 403. Wright, J.R. Immunoregulatory functions of surfactant proteins. *Nat Rev Immunol* **5**, 58-68 (2005).
- 404. Du, X. *et al.* Surfactant Proteins SP-A and SP-D Ameliorate Pneumonia Severity and Intestinal Injury in a Murine Model of Staphylococcus Aureus Pneumonia. *Shock* **46**, 164-172 (2016).
- 405. Veith, N.T. *et al.* Surfactant protein A mediates pulmonary clearance of Staphylococcus aureus. *Respir Res* **15**, 85 (2014).
- 406. Paharik, A.E. et al. The Spl Serine Proteases Modulate. mSphere 1 (2016).

- 407. Kantyka, T. *et al.* Staphylococcus aureus proteases degrade lung surfactant protein A potentially impairing innate immunity of the lung. *J Innate Immun* **5**, 251-260 (2013).
- 408. Lambrecht, B.N. Alveolar macrophage in the driver's seat. *Immunity* 24, 366-368 (2006).
- 409. Guth, A.M. *et al.* Lung environment determines unique phenotype of alveolar macrophages. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* **296**, L936-946 (2009).
- 410. Martin, F.J., Parker, D., Harfenist, B.S., Soong, G. & Prince, A. Participation of CD11c(+) leukocytes in methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus clearance from the lung. *Infect Immun* **79**, 1898-1904 (2011).
- 411. Robinson, K.M. *et al.* Influenza A virus exacerbates Staphylococcus aureus pneumonia in mice by attenuating antimicrobial peptide production. *J Infect Dis* **209**, 865-875 (2014).
- 412. Preu, L. *et al.* Initial Host Response to Bacteria in the Murine Lung Differs Between Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Staphylococcus aureus and Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Inflammation* **39**, 513-517 (2016).
- 413. Palecanda, A. *et al.* Role of the scavenger receptor MARCO in alveolar macrophage binding of unopsonized environmental particles. *J Exp Med* **189**, 1497-1506 (1999).
- 414. Arredouani, M.S. *et al.* MARCO is the major binding receptor for unopsonized particles and bacteria on human alveolar macrophages. *J Immunol* **175**, 6058-6064 (2005).
- 415. Blanchet, C., Jouvion, G., Fitting, C., Cavaillon, J.M. & Adib-Conquy, M. Protective or deleterious role of scavenger receptors SR-A and CD36 on host resistance to Staphylococcus aureus depends on the site of infection. *PLoS One* **9**, e87927 (2014).
- 416. Arredouani, M. *et al.* The scavenger receptor MARCO is required for lung defense against pneumococcal pneumonia and inhaled particles. *J Exp Med* **200**, 267-272 (2004).
- 417. Bidani, A. *et al.* Bactericidal activity of alveolar macrophages is suppressed by V-ATPase inhibition. *Lung* **178**, 91-104 (2000).
- 418. Liu, Z.Z. *et al.* STING Contributes to Host Defense Against. *Front Immunol* **12**, 636861 (2021).
- 419. Cohen, T.S. *et al.* S. aureus blocks efferocytosis of neutrophils by macrophages through the activity of its virulence factor alpha-toxin. *Sci Rep* **6**, 35466 (2016).
- 420. Lacoma, A. *et al.* Investigating intracellular persistence of Staphylococcus aureus within a murine alveolar macrophage cell line. *Virulence* **8**, 1761-1775 (2017).

- 421. Michailova, L. *et al.* Interaction of alveolar macrophages with Staphylococcus aureus and induction of microbial L-forms during infection in rats. *Int J Med Microbiol* **290**, 259-267 (2000).
- 422. Jubrail, J. *et al.* Inability to sustain intraphagolysosomal killing of Staphylococcus aureus predisposes to bacterial persistence in macrophages. *Cell Microbiol* **18**, 80-96 (2016).
- 423. Preston, J.A. *et al.* Alveolar Macrophage Apoptosis-associated Bacterial Killing Helps Prevent Murine Pneumonia. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* **200**, 84-97 (2019).
- 424. Neupane, A.S. *et al.* Patrolling Alveolar Macrophages Conceal Bacteria from the Immune System to Maintain Homeostasis. *Cell* **183**, 110-125.e111 (2020).
- 425. Yajjala, V.K. *et al.* Resistance to Acute Macrophage Killing Promotes Airway Fitness of Prevalent Community-Acquired Staphylococcus aureus Strains. *J Immunol* **196**, 4196-4203 (2016).
- 426. Craig, A., Mai, J., Cai, S. & Jeyaseelan, S. Neutrophil recruitment to the lungs during bacterial pneumonia. *Infect Immun* **77**, 568-575 (2009).
- 427. Robertson, C.M. *et al.* Neutrophil depletion causes a fatal defect in murine pulmonary Staphylococcus aureus clearance. *J Surg Res* **150**, 278-285 (2008).
- 428. Köhler, J. *et al.* NADPH-oxidase but not inducible nitric oxide synthase contributes to resistance in a murine Staphylococcus aureus Newman pneumonia model. *Microbes Infect* **13**, 914-922 (2011).
- 429. Ventura, C.L. *et al.* Staphylococcus aureus elicits marked alterations in the airway proteome during early pneumonia. *Infect Immun* **76**, 5862-5872 (2008).
- 430. Ge, C. *et al.* Neutrophils play an ongoing role in preventing bacterial pneumonia by blocking the dissemination of Staphylococcus aureus from the upper to the lower airways. *Immunol Cell Biol* **98**, 577-594 (2020).
- 431. Karzai, W. *et al.* G-CSF during Escherichia coli versus Staphylococcus aureus pneumonia in rats has fundamentally different and opposite effects. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* **159**, 1377-1382 (1999).
- 432. Leemans, J.C., Heikens, M., van Kessel, K.P., Florquin, S. & van der Poll, T. Lipoteichoic acid and peptidoglycan from Staphylococcus aureus synergistically induce neutrophil influx into the lungs of mice. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol* **10**, 950-953 (2003).
- 433. Paudel, S. *et al.* NLRC4 suppresses IL-17A-mediated neutrophil-dependent host defense through upregulation of IL-18 and induction of necroptosis during Gram-positive pneumonia. *Mucosal Immunol* **12**, 247-257 (2019).

- 434. Yamada, M. *et al.* Interferon-γ production by neutrophils during bacterial pneumonia in mice. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* **183**, 1391-1401 (2011).
- 435. Jacqueline, C. *et al.* Linezolid dampens neutrophil-mediated inflammation in methicillinresistant Staphylococcus aureus-induced pneumonia and protects the lung of associated damages. *J Infect Dis* **210**, 814-823 (2014).
- 436. Kapetanovic, R. *et al.* Contribution of NOD2 to lung inflammation during Staphylococcus aureus-induced pneumonia. *Microbes Infect* **12**, 759-767 (2010).
- 437. van der Meer, A.J. *et al.* Toll-like receptor 9 enhances bacterial clearance and limits lung consolidation in murine pneumonia caused by methicillin resistant. *Mol Med* **22**, 292-299 (2016).
- 438. Berends, E.T. *et al.* Nuclease expression by Staphylococcus aureus facilitates escape from neutrophil extracellular traps. *J Innate Immun* **2**, 576-586 (2010).
- 439. Tuffs, S.W. *et al.* The Staphylococcus aureus superantigen SEIX is a bifunctional toxin that inhibits neutrophil function. *PLoS Pathog* **13**, e1006461 (2017).
- 440. Hou, F. *et al.* ATP Facilitates Staphylococcal Enterotoxin O Induced Neutrophil IL-1β Secretion. *Front Immunol* **12**, 649235 (2021).
- 441. Kim, M.R. *et al.* Staphylococcus aureus-derived extracellular vesicles induce neutrophilic pulmonary inflammation via both Th1 and Th17 cell responses. *Allergy* **67**, 1271-1281 (2012).
- 442. Choi, S.J. *et al.* Active Immunization with Extracellular Vesicles Derived from Staphylococcus aureus Effectively Protects against Staphylococcal Lung Infections, Mainly via Th1 Cell-Mediated Immunity. *PLoS One* **10**, e0136021 (2015).
- 443. Krammer, F. et al. Influenza. Nat Rev Dis Primers 4, 3 (2018).
- 444. Lozano, R. *et al.* Global and regional mortality from 235 causes of death for 20 age groups in 1990 and 2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *Lancet* **380**, 2095-2128 (2012).
- 445. Prevention, C.f.D.C.a. 2014-2015 Estimated Influenza Illnesses, Medical Visits, Hospitalizations, and Deaths Averted by Vaccination in the United States.
- 446. Thompson, W.W. *et al.* Mortality associated with influenza and respiratory syncytial virus in the United States. *JAMA* **289**, 179-186 (2003).
- 447. Paules, C. & Subbarao, K. Influenza. *Lancet* **390**, 697-708 (2017).

- 448. Martin-Loeches, I. *et al.* Increased incidence of co-infection in critically ill patients with influenza. *Intensive Care Med* **43**, 48-58 (2017).
- 449. Chen, X. *et al.* Host Immune Response to Influenza A Virus Infection. *Front Immunol* **9**, 320 (2018).
- 450. Rothberg, M.B., Haessler, S.D. & Brown, R.B. Complications of viral influenza. *Am J Med* **121**, 258-264 (2008).
- 451. Klugman, K.P., Chien, Y.W. & Madhi, S.A. Pneumococcal pneumonia and influenza: a deadly combination. *Vaccine* **27** Suppl 3, C9-C14 (2009).
- 452. Morens, D.M., Taubenberger, J.K. & Fauci, A.S. Predominant role of bacterial pneumonia as a cause of death in pandemic influenza: implications for pandemic influenza preparedness. *J Infect Dis* **198**, 962-970 (2008).
- 453. Morens, D.M. & Fauci, A.S. The 1918 influenza pandemic: insights for the 21st century. *J Infect Dis* **195**, 1018-1028 (2007).
- 454. HERS, J.F., MASUREL, N. & MULDER, J. Bacteriology and histopathology of the respiratory tract and lungs in fatal Asian influenza. *Lancet* **2**, 1141-1143 (1958).
- 455. LOURIA, D.B., BLUMENFELD, H.L., ELLIS, J.T., KILBOURNE, E.D. & ROGERS, D.E. Studies on influenza in the pandemic of 1957-1958. II. Pulmonary complications of influenza. *J Clin Invest* **38**, 213-265 (1959).
- 456. OSEASOHN, R., ADELSON, L. & KAJI, M. Clinicopathologic study of thirty-three fatal cases of Asian influenza. *N Engl J Med* **260**, 509-518 (1959).
- 457. Schwarzmann, S.W., Adler, J.L., Sullivan, R.J. & Marine, W.M. Bacterial pneumonia during the Hong Kong influenza epidemic of 1968-1969. *Arch Intern Med* **127**, 1037-1041 (1971).
- 458. Lindsay, M.I., Herrmann, E.C., Morrow, G.W. & Brown, A.L. Hong Kong influenza: clinical, microbiologic, and pathologic features in 127 cases. *JAMA* **214**, 1825-1832 (1970).
- 459. Blyth, C.C. *et al.* The impact of bacterial and viral co-infection in severe influenza. *Influenza Other Respir Viruses* 7, 168-176 (2013).
- 460. Gill, J.R. *et al.* Pulmonary pathologic findings of fatal 2009 pandemic influenza A/H1N1 viral infections. *Arch Pathol Lab Med* **134**, 235-243 (2010).
- 461. Randolph, A.G. *et al.* Critically ill children during the 2009-2010 influenza pandemic in the United States. *Pediatrics* **128**, e1450-1458 (2011).

- 462. Shieh, W.J. *et al.* 2009 pandemic influenza A (H1N1): pathology and pathogenesis of 100 fatal cases in the United States. *Am J Pathol* **177**, 166-175 (2010).
- 463. Martín-Loeches, I. *et al.* Community-acquired respiratory coinfection in critically ill patients with pandemic 2009 influenza A(H1N1) virus. *Chest* **139**, 555-562 (2011).
- 464. Metersky, M.L., Masterton, R.G., Lode, H., File, T.M. & Babinchak, T. Epidemiology, microbiology, and treatment considerations for bacterial pneumonia complicating influenza. *Int J Infect Dis* **16**, e321-331 (2012).
- 465. Masiá, M. *et al.* Predictors of pneumococcal co-infection for patients with pandemic (H1N1) 2009. *Emerg Infect Dis* **17**, 1475-1478 (2011).
- 466. Paddock, C.D. *et al.* Myocardial injury and bacterial pneumonia contribute to the pathogenesis of fatal influenza B virus infection. *J Infect Dis* **205**, 895-905 (2012).
- 467. Cillóniz, C. *et al.* Bacterial co-infection with H1N1 infection in patients admitted with community acquired pneumonia. *J Infect* **65**, 223-230 (2012).
- 468. Falsey, A.R. *et al.* Bacterial complications of respiratory tract viral illness: a comprehensive evaluation. *J Infect Dis* **208**, 432-441 (2013).
- 469. TROTTER, Y. *et al.* Asian influenza in the United States, 1957-1958. *Am J Hyg* **70**, 34-50 (1959).
- 470. Chertow, D.S. & Memoli, M.J. Bacterial coinfection in influenza: a grand rounds review. *JAMA* **309**, 275-282 (2013).
- 471. Reiss-Mandel, A. & Regev-Yochay, G. Staphylococcus aureus and Streptococcus pneumoniae interaction and response to pneumococcal vaccination: Myth or reality? *Hum Vaccin Immunother* **12**, 351-357 (2016).
- 472. Grist, N.R. Pandemic influenza 1918. Br Med J 2, 1632-1633 (1979).
- 473. Sanders, C.J. *et al.* Compromised respiratory function in lethal influenza infection is characterized by the depletion of type I alveolar epithelial cells beyond threshold levels. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* **304**, L481-488 (2013).
- 474. Cardani, A., Boulton, A., Kim, T.S. & Braciale, T.J. Alveolar Macrophages Prevent Lethal Influenza Pneumonia By Inhibiting Infection Of Type-1 Alveolar Epithelial Cells. *PLoS Pathog* **13**, e1006140 (2017).
- 475. Teijaro, J.R. *et al.* Endothelial cells are central orchestrators of cytokine amplification during influenza virus infection. *Cell* **146**, 980-991 (2011).

- 476. Kalil, A.C. & Thomas, P.G. Influenza virus-related critical illness: pathophysiology and epidemiology. *Crit Care* 23, 258 (2019).
- 477. Kudva, A. *et al.* Influenza A inhibits Th17-mediated host defense against bacterial pneumonia in mice. *J Immunol* **186**, 1666-1674 (2011).
- 478. LeVine, A.M., Koeningsknecht, V. & Stark, J.M. Decreased pulmonary clearance of S. pneumoniae following influenza A infection in mice. *J Virol Methods* **94**, 173-186 (2001).
- 479. Shahangian, A. *et al.* Type I IFNs mediate development of postinfluenza bacterial pneumonia in mice. *J Clin Invest* **119**, 1910-1920 (2009).
- 480. Sun, K. & Metzger, D.W. Inhibition of pulmonary antibacterial defense by interferongamma during recovery from influenza infection. *Nat Med* **14**, 558-564 (2008).
- 481. Planet, P.J. *et al.* Lambda Interferon Restructures the Nasal Microbiome and Increases Susceptibility to Staphylococcus aureus Superinfection. *mBio* 7, e01939-01915 (2016).
- 482. Robinson, K.M., Kolls, J.K. & Alcorn, J.F. The immunology of influenza virus-associated bacterial pneumonia. *Curr Opin Immunol* **34**, 59-67 (2015).
- 483. Rynda-Apple, A., Robinson, K.M. & Alcorn, J.F. Influenza and Bacterial Superinfection: Illuminating the Immunologic Mechanisms of Disease. *Infect Immun* **83**, 3764-3770 (2015).
- 484. McCullers, J.A. The co-pathogenesis of influenza viruses with bacteria in the lung. *Nat Rev Microbiol* **12**, 252-262 (2014).
- 485. Bakaletz, L.O. Viral-bacterial co-infections in the respiratory tract. *Curr Opin Microbiol* **35**, 30-35 (2017).
- 486. Metzger, D.W. & Sun, K. Immune dysfunction and bacterial coinfections following influenza. *J Immunol* **191**, 2047-2052 (2013).
- 487. Kash, J.C. & Taubenberger, J.K. The role of viral, host, and secondary bacterial factors in influenza pathogenesis. *Am J Pathol* **185**, 1528-1536 (2015).
- 488. Ballinger, M.N. & Standiford, T.J. Postinfluenza bacterial pneumonia: host defenses gone awry. *J Interferon Cytokine Res* **30**, 643-652 (2010).
- 489. Paget, C. & Trottein, F. Mechanisms of Bacterial Superinfection Post-influenza: A Role for Unconventional T Cells. *Front Immunol* **10**, 336 (2019).
- 490. Siemens, N. *et al.* Port d'Entrée for Respiratory Infections Does the Influenza A Virus Pave the Way for Bacteria? *Front Microbiol* **8**, 2602 (2017).

- 491. Reddinger, R.M., Luke-Marshall, N.R., Hakansson, A.P. & Campagnari, A.A. Host Physiologic Changes Induced by Influenza A Virus Lead to Staphylococcus aureus Biofilm Dispersion and Transition from Asymptomatic Colonization to Invasive Disease. *mBio* 7 (2016).
- 492. Wang, C. *et al.* Influenza-Induced Priming and Leak of Human Lung Microvascular Endothelium upon Exposure to Staphylococcus aureus. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* **53**, 459-470 (2015).
- 493. McCullers, J.A. & Bartmess, K.C. Role of neuraminidase in lethal synergism between influenza virus and Streptococcus pneumoniae. *J Infect Dis* **187**, 1000-1009 (2003).
- 494. Rowe, H.M. *et al.* Direct interactions with influenza promote bacterial adherence during respiratory infections. *Nat Microbiol* **4**, 1328-1336 (2019).
- 495. Passariello, C. *et al.* Viral hemagglutinin is involved in promoting the internalisation of Staphylococcus aureus into human pneumocytes during influenza A H1N1 virus infection. *Int J Med Microbiol* **301**, 97-104 (2011).
- 496. Passariello, C. *et al.* Rhinoviruses promote internalisation of Staphylococcus aureus into non-fully permissive cultured pneumocytes. *Microbes Infect* **8**, 758-766 (2006).
- 497. Morgene, M.F. *et al.* Staphylococcus aureus colonization and non-influenza respiratory viruses: Interactions and synergism mechanisms. *Virulence* **9**, 1354-1363 (2018).
- 498. Deinhardt-Emmer, S. *et al.* Pneumonia: Preceding Influenza Infection Paves the Way for Low-Virulent Strains. *Toxins (Basel)* **11** (2019).
- 499. Ghoneim, H.E., Thomas, P.G. & McCullers, J.A. Depletion of alveolar macrophages during influenza infection facilitates bacterial superinfections. *J Immunol* **191**, 1250-1259 (2013).
- 500. Damjanovic, D., Lai, R., Jeyanathan, M., Hogaboam, C.M. & Xing, Z. Marked improvement of severe lung immunopathology by influenza-associated pneumococcal superinfection requires the control of both bacterial replication and host immune responses. *Am J Pathol* **183**, 868-880 (2013).
- 501. Subramaniam, R. *et al.* Protecting against post-influenza bacterial pneumonia by increasing phagocyte recruitment and ROS production. *J Infect Dis* **209**, 1827-1836 (2014).
- 502. Sun, K. & Metzger, D.W. Influenza infection suppresses NADPH oxidase-dependent phagocytic bacterial clearance and enhances susceptibility to secondary methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus infection. *J Immunol* **192**, 3301-3307 (2014).
- 503. Didierlaurent, A. *et al.* Sustained desensitization to bacterial Toll-like receptor ligands after resolution of respiratory influenza infection. *J Exp Med* **205**, 323-329 (2008).

- 504. Martínez-Colón, G.J. *et al.* Influenza-induced immune suppression to methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus is mediated by TLR9. *PLoS Pathog* **15**, e1007560 (2019).
- 505. Narasaraju, T. *et al.* Excessive neutrophils and neutrophil extracellular traps contribute to acute lung injury of influenza pneumonitis. *Am J Pathol* **179**, 199-210 (2011).
- 506. Arimori, Y. *et al.* Type I interferon limits influenza virus-induced acute lung injury by regulation of excessive inflammation in mice. *Antiviral Res* **99**, 230-237 (2013).
- 507. Jewell, N.A. *et al.* Lambda interferon is the predominant interferon induced by influenza A virus infection in vivo. *J Virol* **84**, 11515-11522 (2010).
- 508. Hang, d.T. *et al.* Differential effect of prior influenza infection on alveolar macrophage phagocytosis of Staphylococcus aureus and Escherichia coli: involvement of interferon-gamma production. *Microbiol Immunol* **55**, 751-759 (2011).
- 509. Greenlee-Wacker, M.C. & Nauseef, W.M. IFN-γ targets macrophage-mediated immune responses toward. *J Leukoc Biol* **101**, 751-758 (2017).
- 510. Li, W., Moltedo, B. & Moran, T.M. Type I interferon induction during influenza virus infection increases susceptibility to secondary Streptococcus pneumoniae infection by negative regulation of  $\gamma\delta$  T cells. *J Virol* **86**, 12304-12312 (2012).
- 511. Small, C.L. *et al.* Influenza infection leads to increased susceptibility to subsequent bacterial superinfection by impairing NK cell responses in the lung. *J Immunol* **184**, 2048-2056 (2010).
- 512. Rynda-Apple, A. *et al.* Regulation of IFN-γ by IL-13 dictates susceptibility to secondary postinfluenza MRSA pneumonia. *Eur J Immunol* **44**, 3263-3272 (2014).
- 513. Curtis, M.M. & Way, S.S. Interleukin-17 in host defence against bacterial, mycobacterial and fungal pathogens. *Immunology* **126**, 177-185 (2009).
- 514. Robinson, K.M. *et al.* Influenza A exacerbates Staphylococcus aureus pneumonia by attenuating IL-1β production in mice. *J Immunol* **191**, 5153-5159 (2013).
- 515. Ivanov, S. *et al.* Interleukin-22 reduces lung inflammation during influenza A virus infection and protects against secondary bacterial infection. *J Virol* **87**, 6911-6924 (2013).
- 516. Van Maele, L. *et al.* Activation of Type 3 innate lymphoid cells and interleukin 22 secretion in the lungs during Streptococcus pneumoniae infection. *J Infect Dis* **210**, 493-503 (2014).
- 517. Lee, B.Y. *et al.* The economic burden of community-associated methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (CA-MRSA). *Clin Microbiol Infect* **19**, 528-536 (2013).

- 518. Foster, T.J. Surface Proteins of. *Microbiol Spectr* 7 (2019).
- 519. Williams, B.G., Gouws, E., Boschi-Pinto, C., Bryce, J. & Dye, C. Estimates of world-wide distribution of child deaths from acute respiratory infections. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases* **2**, 25-32 (2002).
- 520. Tadros, M. *et al.* Epidemiology and outcome of pneumonia caused by methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) in Canadian hospitals. *PLoS One* **8**, e75171 (2013).
- 521. Lewis, S.S. *et al.* Epidemiology of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus pneumonia in community hospitals. *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol* **35**, 1452-1457 (2014).
- 522. File, T.M., Bartlett, J.G., Ramirez, J.A. & Bond, S. Treatment of community-acquired pneumonia in adults who require hospitalization. *UpToDate*; 2018.
- 523. Chertow, D.S. & Memoli, M.J. Bacterial Coinfection in Influenza: A Grand Rounds Review. *JAMA* **309**, 275-282 (2013).
- 524. Chien, Y., Klugman, K.P. & Morens, D.M. Bacterial Pathogens and Death during the 1918 Influenza Pandemic. *N Engl J Med* **361** (2009).
- 525. Gawronski, J.D., Wong, S.M., Giannoukos, G., Ward, D.V. & Akerley, B.J. Tracking insertion mutants within libraries by deep sequencing and a genome-wide screen for Haemophilus genes required in the lung. *PNAS* **106**, 16422-16427 (2009).
- 526. Wong, S.M., Bernuli, M., Shen, H. & Akerley, B.J. Genome-wide fitness profiling reveals adapations required by Haemophilus in coinfection with influenza A virus in the murine lung. *PNAS* **110**, 15413-15418 (2013).
- 527. Lee, M.H. *et al.* A postinfluenza model of Staphylococcus aureus pneumonia. *J Infect Dis* **201**, 508-515 (2010).
- 528. Borgogna, T.R. *et al.* Secondary Bacterial Pneumonia by Staphylococcus aureus following Influenza A Infection Is SaeR/S Dependent. *J Infect Dis* (2018).
- 529. van Opijnen, T. & Camilli, A. Transposon insertion sequencing: a new tool for systemslevel analysis of microorganisms. *Nat Rev Microbiol* **11**, 435-442 (2013).
- 530. Grosser, M.R. *et al.* Genetic requirements for Staphylococcus aureus nitric oxide resistance and virulence. *PLoS Pathogens* 14, e1006907 (2018).
- 531. Matthews, A.J., Rowe, H.M., Rosch, J.W. & Camilli, A. A Tn-seq Screen of Streptococcus pneumoniae Uncovers DNA Repair as the Major Pathway for Desiccation Tolerance and Transmission. *Infect Immun* **89**, e0071320 (2021).

- 532. Vitale, A. *et al.* Identification of Genes Required for Resistance to Peptidomimetic Antibiotics by Transposon Sequencing. *Front Microbiol* **11**, 1681 (2020).
- 533. Eichelberger, K.R. *et al.* Tn-Seq Analysis Identifies Genes Important for Yersinia pestis Adherence during Primary Pneumonic Plague. *mSphere* **5** (2020).
- 534. Kwon, Y.M., Ricke, S.C. & Mandal, R.K. Transposon sequencing: methods and expanding applications. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* **100**, 31-43 (2016).
- 535. Chen, Y.Y. *et al.* Bacterial factors required for Streptococcus pneumoniae coinfection with influenza A virus. *J Biomed Sci* **28**, 60 (2021).
- 536. Gawronski, J.D., Wong, S.M., Giannoukos, G., Ward, D.V. & Akerley, B.J. Tracking insertion mutants within libraries by deep sequencing and a genome-wide screen for Haemophilus genes required in the lung. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **106**, 16422-16427 (2009).
- 537. Braciale, T.J. Immunologic recognition of influenza virus-infected cells. I. Generation of a virus-strain specific and a cross-reactive subpopulation of cytotoxic T cells in the response to type A influenza viruses of different subtypes. *Cell Immunol* **33**, 423-436 (1977).
- 538. van Opijnen, T., Lazinski, D.W. & Camilli, A. Genome-Wide Fitness and Genetic Interactions Determined by Tn-seq, a High-Throughput Massively Parallel Sequencing Method for Microorganisms. *Curr Protoc Mol Biol* **106**, 7.16.11-24 (2014).
- 539. Barquist, L., Boinett, C.J. & Cain, A.K. Approaches to querying bacterial genomes with transposon-insertion sequencing. *RNA Biol* **10**, 1161-1169 (2013).
- 540. Kim, G.L. *et al.* Growth and Stress Tolerance Comprise Independent Metabolic Strategies Critical for Staphylococcus aureus Infection. *mBio* **12**, e0081421 (2021).
- 541. Paczosa, M.K. *et al.* Transposon Mutagenesis Screen of Klebsiella pneumoniae Identifies Multiple Genes Important for Resisting Antimicrobial Activities of Neutrophils in Mice. *Infect Immun* **88** (2020).
- 542. Wang, N., Ozer, E.A., Mandel, M.J. & Hauser, A.R. Genome-wide identification of Acinetobacter baumannii genes necessary for persistence in the lung. *mBio* 5, e01163-01114 (2014).
- 543. Turner, K.H., Wessel, A.K., Palmer, G.C., Murray, J.L. & Whiteley, M. Essential genome of Pseudomonas aeruginosa in cystic fibrosis sputum. *Proc Natl Acad Sci US A* **112**, 4110-4115 (2015).
- 544. Bachman, M.A. *et al.* Genome-Wide Identification of Klebsiella pneumoniae Fitness Genes during Lung Infection. *mBio* **6**, e00775 (2015).

- 545. Cameron, D.R., Shan, Y., Zalis, E.A., Isabella, V. & Lewis, K. A Genetic Determinant of Persister Cell Formation in Bacterial Pathogens. *J Bacteriol* **200** (2018).
- 546. Kim, G.L. *et al.* Effect of decreased BCAA synthesis through disruption of ilvC gene on the virulence of Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Arch Pharm Res* **40**, 921-932 (2017).
- 547. Piet, J.R. *et al.* Streptococcus pneumoniae arginine synthesis genes promote growth and virulence in pneumococcal meningitis. *J Infect Dis* **209**, 1781-1791 (2014).
- 548. Guo, Q. *et al.* Identification of a small molecule that simultaneously suppresses virulence and antibiotic resistance of Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Sci Rep* **6**, 19141 (2016).
- 549. Ritter, J.B., Wahl, A.S., Freund, S., Genzel, Y. & Reichl, U. Metabolic effects of influenza virus infection in cultured animal cells: Intra- and extracellular metabolite profiling. *BMC Syst Biol* **4**, 61 (2010).
- 550. Paget, J. *et al.* Global mortality associated with seasonal influenza epidemics: New burden estimates and predictors from the GLaMOR Project. *J Glob Health* **9**, 020421 (2019).
- 551. Prevention, C.f.D.C.a. Estimated Flu-Related Illnesses, Medical visits, Hospitalizations, and Deaths in the United States 2018–2019 Flu Season. 2021 [cited 12/6/2021]Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/flu/about/burden/2018-2019.html
- 552. Voiriot, G. *et al.* Viral-bacterial coinfection affects the presentation and alters the prognosis of severe community-acquired pneumonia. *Crit Care* **20**, 375 (2016).
- 553. Rozencwajg, S. *et al.* Co-infection with influenza-associated acute respiratory distress syndrome requiring extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Int J Antimicrob Agents* **51**, 427-433 (2018).
- 554. Lee, E.H. *et al.* Fatalities associated with the 2009 H1N1 influenza A virus in New York city. *Clin Infect Dis* **50**, 1498-1504 (2010).
- 555. (CDC), C.f.D.C.a.P. Bacterial coinfections in lung tissue specimens from fatal cases of 2009 pandemic influenza A (H1N1) United States, May-August 2009. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep* 58, 1071-1074 (2009).
- 556. Prevention, C.f.D.C.a. Severe coinfection with seasonal influenza A (H3N2) virus and Staphylococcus aureus--Maryland, February-March 2012. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep* **61**, 289-291 (2012).
- 557. Shah, N.S. *et al.* Bacterial and viral co-infections complicating severe influenza: Incidence and impact among 507 U.S. patients, 2013-14. *J Clin Virol* **80**, 12-19 (2016).

- 558. Teng, F. *et al.* Community-acquired bacterial co-infection predicts severity and mortality in influenza-associated pneumonia admitted patients. *J Infect Chemother* **25**, 129-136 (2019).
- 559. Randolph, A.G. *et al.* Vancomycin Monotherapy May Be Insufficient to Treat Methicillinresistant Staphylococcus aureus Coinfection in Children With Influenza-related Critical Illness. *Clin Infect Dis* **68**, 365-372 (2019).
- 560. McDanel, J.S. *et al.* Increased Mortality Rates Associated with Staphylococcus aureus and Influenza Co-infection, Maryland and Iowa, USA(1). *Emerg Infect Dis* **22**, 1253-1256 (2016).
- 561. Shirey, K.A. *et al.* Influenza "Trains" the Host for Enhanced Susceptibility to Secondary Bacterial Infection. *mBio* **10** (2019).
- 562. Schneewind, O. & Missiakas, D. Sec-secretion and sortase-mediated anchoring of proteins in Gram-positive bacteria. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1843**, 1687-1697 (2014).
- 563. Yang, Y. *et al.* Monoclonal Antibody Targeting Staphylococcus aureus Surface Protein A (SasA) Protect Against Staphylococcus aureus Sepsis and Peritonitis in Mice. *PLoS One* 11, e0149460 (2016).
- 564. Rivas, J.M., Speziale, P., Patti, J.M. & Höök, M. MSCRAMM--targeted vaccines and immunotherapy for staphylococcal infection. *Curr Opin Drug Discov Devel* **7**, 223-227 (2004).
- 565. Fey, P.D. *et al.* A genetic resource for rapid and comprehensive phenotype screening of nonessential Staphylococcus aureus genes. *mBio* **4**, e00537-00512 (2013).
- 566. Becker, K.A. *et al.* Staphylococcus aureus Alpha-Toxin Disrupts Endothelial-Cell Tight Junctions via Acid Sphingomyelinase and Ceramide. *Infect Immun* **86** (2018).
- 567. Liang, X. & Ji, Y. Alpha-toxin interferes with integrin-mediated adhesion and internalization of Staphylococcus aureus by epithelial cells. *Cell Microbiol* **8**, 1656-1668 (2006).
- 568. Foster, T.J. The remarkably multifunctional fibronectin binding proteins of Staphylococcus aureus. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis* **35**, 1923-1931 (2016).
- 569. Lacey, K.A. *et al.* The Staphylococcus aureus Cell Wall-Anchored Protein Clumping Factor A Is an Important T Cell Antigen. *Infect Immun* **85** (2017).
- 570. Mortaz, E., Alipoor, S.D., Adcock, I.M., Mumby, S. & Koenderman, L. Update on Neutrophil Function in Severe Inflammation. *Front Immunol* 9, 2171 (2018).

- 571. Domenech, M., Ramos-Sevillano, E., García, E., Moscoso, M. & Yuste, J. Biofilm formation avoids complement immunity and phagocytosis of Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Infect Immun* **81**, 2606-2615 (2013).
- 572. Collaborators, G.L.R.I. Estimates of the global, regional, and national morbidity, mortality, and aetiologies of lower respiratory infections in 195 countries, 1990-2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *Lancet Infect Dis* **18**, 1191-1210 (2018).
- 573. Ramirez, J.A. *et al.* Adults Hospitalized With Pneumonia in the United States: Incidence, Epidemiology, and Mortality. *Clin Infect Dis* **65**, 1806-1812 (2017).
- 574. Aliberti, S., Dela Cruz, C.S., Amati, F., Sotgiu, G. & Restrepo, M.I. Community-acquired pneumonia. *Lancet* **398**, 906-919 (2021).
- 575. Aliberti, S., Dela Cruz, C.S., Sotgiu, G. & Restrepo, M.I. Pneumonia is a neglected problem: it is now time to act. *Lancet Respir Med* 7, 10-11 (2019).
- 576. Meyer, N.J., Gattinoni, L. & Calfee, C.S. Acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Lancet* **398**, 622-637 (2021).
- 577. Yende, S. *et al.* Inflammatory markers at hospital discharge predict subsequent mortality after pneumonia and sepsis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* **177**, 1242-1247 (2008).
- 578. Pichon, M., Micaelo, M., Rasoanandrasana, S. & Menn, A.M. Molecular characterization of. *Infect Dis (Lond)* 53, 811-819 (2021).
- 579. Beck-Schimmer, B. *et al.* Alveolar macrophages regulate neutrophil recruitment in endotoxin-induced lung injury. *Respir Res* 6, 61 (2005).
- 580. Price, P.J. *et al.* Complement component C5 recruits neutrophils in the absence of C3 during respiratory infection with modified vaccinia virus Ankara. *J Immunol* **194**, 1164-1168 (2015).
- 581. Shuster, D.E., Kehrli, M.E., Rainard, P. & Paape, M. Complement fragment C5a and inflammatory cytokines in neutrophil recruitment during intramammary infection with Escherichia coli. *Infect Immun* **65**, 3286-3292 (1997).
- 582. Gopal, R. *et al.* STAT2 Signaling Regulates Macrophage Phenotype During Influenza and Bacterial Super-Infection. *Front Immunol* **9**, 2151 (2018).
- 583. Cohen, T.S. & Prince, A.S. Activation of inflammasome signaling mediates pathology of acute P. aeruginosa pneumonia. *J Clin Invest* **123**, 1630-1637 (2013).

- 584. Pires, S. & Parker, D. IL-1β activation in response to Staphylococcus aureus lung infection requires inflammasome-dependent and independent mechanisms. *Eur J Immunol* **48**, 1707-1716 (2018).
- 585. Lee, W.L. & Downey, G.P. Neutrophil activation and acute lung injury. *Curr Opin Crit Care* 7, 1-7 (2001).
- 586. Shamri, R., Xenakis, J.J. & Spencer, L.A. Eosinophils in innate immunity: an evolving story. *Cell Tissue Res* **343**, 57-83 (2011).
- 587. Krishack, P.A. *et al.* IL-33-mediated Eosinophilia Protects against Acute Lung Injury. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* **64**, 569-578 (2021).
- 588. Krishack, P.A. *et al.* Protection against Staphylococcus aureus bacteremia-induced mortality depends on ILC2s and eosinophils. *JCI Insight* **4** (2019).
- 589. Greenberg, J.A. *et al.* Distinct T-helper cell responses to Staphylococcus aureus bacteremia reflect immunologic comorbidities and correlate with mortality. *Crit Care* **22**, 107 (2018).
- 590. Wang, X., Eagen, W.J. & Lee, J.C. Orchestration of human macrophage NLRP3 inflammasome activation by. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **117**, 3174-3184 (2020).
- 591. Ramsey, K.M. *et al.* Tn-Seq reveals hidden complexity in the utilization of host-derived glutathione in Francisella tularensis. *PLoS Pathog* **16**, e1008566 (2020).
- 592. Sternon, J.F. *et al.* Transposon Sequencing of Brucella abortus Uncovers Essential Genes for Growth. *Infect Immun* **86** (2018).
- 593. Langereis, J.D. & Weiser, J.N. Shielding of a lipooligosaccharide IgM epitope allows evasion of neutrophil-mediated killing of an invasive strain of nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae. *mBio* **5**, e01478-01414 (2014).
- 594. Valentino, M.D. *et al.* Genes Contributing to Staphylococcus aureus Fitness in Abscessand Infection-Related Ecologies. *mBio* **5**, e01729-01714 (2014).
- 595. Sun, F. *et al.* Aureusimines in Staphylococcus aureus are not involved in virulence. *PLoS One* **5**, e15703 (2010).
- 596. Goncheva, M.I. *et al.* Stress-induced inactivation of the Staphylococcus aureus purine biosynthesis repressor leads to hypervirulence. *Nat Commun* **10**, 775 (2019).
- 597. Lopez-Castejon, G. & Brough, D. Understanding the mechanism of IL-1β secretion. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* 22, 189-195 (2011).